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Vipanchika

(An evening with Music, Dance and More!)

13th August 2015, 7 pm

Performing Artists:

CS Sankar G.

CS Jyothi Savithri

CS Rajiv K.

Kalabhavan Renish (DJ Ren)

Harisree Syama

Saxon

Prasannan

Muralikrishna

Santulan - Mindful body

(Yoga for Professionals)

14th August 2015, 7 am

CS Jayan K. (M.SC Yoga)

Please give your names on 13th August

Arrive at the venue at sharp 7 am,

suitably attired (tracksuit and t-shirt)

Concept development and design - Souvenir Committee

Technical coordination - ICSI Officials

Creative contribution - Sayyid Bahaudheen S.V.

Print coordination - CS Vivek Kumar T.G.

Designed at - LAYART Communications

Printed at - RCM Press

16th National Conference of Practising Company Secretaries

Kochi – Kerala 13th and 14th August, 2015

Souvenir cum Backgrounder
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CS Jackson David C, FCS, CFP
Email :jacksondc@gmail.com

IS IT DIFFICULT TO EASE UP?

Introduction

A rank of 142 among 189 nations. Not at all flattering. This is where India currently stands as per the

latest (2015) ‘ease of doing business’ ranking done by the World Bank Group.

Even though the real world experience of doing business may not be fully captured by any ranking

system, a close scrutiny of the methodology adopted by the World Bank study shows it is quite

scientific. A higher ranking highlights a good governance atmosphere, which while having the

necessary checks and measures, is not too stifling for the business community. Also, the ranking has

direct impact on foreign investments in a Country, since global investors assign significant weightage

to the recent ease of doing business ranking while deciding on jurisdictions to invest in.

Due to these important factors, improving the rankings of India in this is a priority we should

urgently strive for. Yet, there are several hurdles to cross before India can come up in the ranking

substantially. Is improving the ease of doing business really a difficult task?

A brief scrutiny of the ranking methodology

A study of the ranking methodology will give insights to the areas in which we should focus on for

immediate improvement. The ranking is based on 31 indicators classified under the following 10

topics:

Starting a business

Dealing with construction permits

Getting electricity

Registering property

Getting credit

Protecting minority investors

Paying taxes

Trading across borders

Enforcing contracts

Resolving insolvency.

Doing Business also measures labour market regulation, which is not included in any of the aggregate

measures.

The indicators are classified in to two types. Those of the first type measure the complexity and cost

of regulatory processes—assessing the efficiency with which a local entrepreneur can complete a

common transaction, such as incorporating a company or getting an electricity connection, while
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complying with all relevant rules and regulations. Those of the second type measure the strength of

legal institutions. In both these examples, a higher score is assigned for features providing stronger

protections of minority investors or secured creditors.

To make the data comparable across economies, the indicators are based on standardised case

scenarios with specific assumptions about the enterprise - generally a domestic limited liability

company operating in the largest business city. In 11 large economies with more than 100 million

inhabitants (including India), data are now also collected for the second largest business city. In the

case of India the cities coming under the study are Delhi and Mumbai.

The ranking is based on the ‘distance to frontier’ score, which represents the best performance

observed on each of the Doing Business indicators across all economies since 2005.

India’s Present Position

Scores achieved by India in the different topics for the latest data (2015) compared with previous year

(2014) are as follows. A higher score shows a better performance with 0 being the least and 100 being

the best.

TOPIC
SCORE

2015

SCORE

2014
Change

Rank in

the

category

Starting a Business 68.42 65.54 2.88 158

Dealing with Construction

Permits

30.89 29.70 1.19 184

Getting Electricity 63.06 62.55 0.51 137

Registering Property 60.40 60.40 No

change

121

Getting Credit 65.00 65.00 No

change

36

Protecting Minority Investors 72.50 65.83 6.67 7

Paying Taxes 55.53 55.64 (0.11) 156

Trading Across Borders 65.47 64.89 0.58 126

Enforcing Contracts 25.81 25.81 No

change

186

Resolving Insolvency 32.60 32.43 0.17 137

Analysis of Indicators

Among the better indicators for India, it may be noted that ‘Protecting Minority Investors’ stands first

with a marked improvement in score and a high ranking of 7. The minority shareholder friendly

measures adopted by the Companies Act, 2013 including key disclosures on related party

transactions have played a role in this high ranking.
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On a lighter note, it can be seen that ‘Protecting Minority Investors’ is one of the few areas in which the

perfect frontier score is achieved by none of the countries – In other words, this is one area where

even advanced countries lag which helped us score better in this count.

Even though there is no improvement over previous year, the ranking on ‘getting credit’ is also

comparatively better. The reason for this could be that on the two sub parameters considered ie.

Legal right of borrowers and lenders; and having a good credit information system, India scores well.

Again, delays or hassles in execution of legal rights are not considered in this indicator, which in fact

could have helped our better rankings.

It needs to be carefully noted that the lowest scores are in the fields of ‘enforcing contracts’, ‘dealing with

construction permits’ and ‘resolving insolvency’. Of these, ‘enforcing contracts’ and ‘resolving insolvency’

are in the legal area and the need for an urgent reform in our painfully slow judicial system is

evident. In the case of ‘enforcing contracts’, according to data collected for the World Bank study,

contract enforcement takes 1420 days, costs 39.6% of the value of the claim and requires 46

procedures which is an abysmal situation compared to most countries. Resolving insolvency takes 4.3

years on average and costs 9.0% of the debtor’s estate, with the most likely outcome being that the

company will be sold as piecemeal sale. The average recovery rate is 25.7 cents on the dollar.

In both these areas a quick fix may not be possible, though some firm steps can be initiated.

Proceeding with urgent legal reforms and having a good insolvency legal framework in place should

be on top of the agenda.

‘Construction permits’ is an equally complex area. The very low ranking can be only improved by

bettering the governance practices of both state governments as well as local bodies on these counts.

A more mature legal framework followed by transparent procedures aided by technology is required

in this regard. The Central Government will have to work closely with State Governments to make

this difficult transition.

‘Starting Business’ has improved in India by a fair margin in the last decade, but when compared with

global benchmarks, we are still found wanting. Ease of incorporation has improved, but getting

necessary registrations on labour and tax authorities still lags. These areas need vast improvement.

Streamlining of labour and tax compliance requirements under various statutes is definitely the only

desirable way forward.

Electricity is a huge problem facing the nation today. Despite a quantum jump in electricity

produced, the country today faces an issue of shortages primarily attributable to the bad financial

situation of most State Electricity Boards. This is one area where implementation of reforms is sure to

face political challenges. A better score in the ‘Getting Electricity’ indicator will also demand better

and more transparent procedures followed by the State Electricity Boards for all purposes, including

new connections.
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‘Paying Taxes ’ is an area where India can improve significantly with comparative ease. Multiple taxes,

along with complex tax laws and hassles in actual filing of returns and payment of taxes are the key

indicators covered under this topic. GST, if and when implemented would go a long way in

improving this parameter. Online filing and payment systems recently introduced for most taxes

should be made universal and simpler. Similar is the case of Registration of Property, where

transparency and technology can ease a lot of bottle necks. Procedural simplification can follow these

basic steps.

The ‘Trading Across Borders’ topic mainly covers procedural hassles for imports and exports. Better

facilities at ports and continuing with major customs reforms can ensure better performance in this

count. The successful private participation in key areas can definitely help improve matters.

The ranking does not measure many key areas like security, macroeconomic stability, corruption, the

skills of the labour force, the underlying strength of institutions, or the quality of infrastructure

services (other than services related to trading across borders and getting electricity). Nor does it

focus on regulations specific to foreign investment. Still all these factors have strong interconnections

with the measured parameters and ignoring these issues will be at our own peril.

Conclusion

It is evident that there are no shortcuts towards making a conducive environment for business. Legal

reforms and procedural improvements should be simultaneously pursued for creating the desired

results. It should be borne in mind that our peers are also improving as time goes by and any

incremental changes may not result in vastly improved rankings.

Care should also be taken that as procedures and requirements are simplified, the essentials of our

democracy and governance measures are also kept intact. A conducive atmosphere only for the

business community, while not providing adequate opportunities and potential to all class of citizens

could be suicidal in the longer run.

A ray of hope can be seen as the Central Government, now fully aware of the gravity of the situation

is initiating major steps to improve the Country’s rankings. A concerted effort in the key areas

highlighted above can go a long way in dramatically improving our position in the coming years.

Data source :

1. “Doing Business – Going Beyond Efficiency – Economy Profile 2015 – India”, published by The World Bank

Group

2. “Distance to Frontier and Ease of Business Ranking, 2015” - published by The World Bank Group

3. “Distance to Frontier and Ease of Business Ranking, 2014” - published by The World Bank Group
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N.L. Bhatia, FCS Bhaskar Upadhyay, ACS

Practicing Company Secretary Practicing Company Secretary

NL Bhatia & Associates NL Bhatia & Associates

Practicing Company Secretaries Practicing Company Secretaries

Past Chairman WIRC, 1992 Mumbai

Mumbai

CRITICAL ISSUES IN SECRETARIAL AUDIT

I. Introduction:

The concept of secretarial Audit has been introduced for the first time under the Companies Act,

2013. Secretarial audit is mandatory for all

The Listed Company

Every public Company having a Paid up capital of Rs. 50Crores or More OR

Every public Company having a turnover of Rs. 250crores or more.

II. Scope of Secretarial Audit:

The secretarial Audit is a process to check compliance with the provisions of various laws, rules,

regulations, procedures, maintenance of books, records etc, by an Independent Professional to ensure

that the Company has complied with the legal and procedural requirements and also followed due

processes. It is essentially a mechanism to monitor compliance to the requirements of stated laws and

processes.

The secretarial Audit is both an opportunity as well as challenge for the practicing members.

III. Objectives:

The scope of Secretarial Audit is to assure owners, creditors, public, Government, regulators and

foreign investors that the affairs of the Company are carried out in accordance with the laws, rules,
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regulations applicable to the Company and the memorandum and articles of association and

agreements regulating the decisions making process.

IV. Secretarial Audit and Practicing Company Secretary (PCS):

India is the only country in the world to prescribe mandatory Secretarial Audit for listed and

specified companies. Secretarial Audit provides a significant new role for the Company Secretaries

and Central Government has reposed tremendous trust and confidence. At the same time it casts a

huge responsibility on the PCS and the corporate management to set a benchmark for a good

corporate administration and governance acceptable not only to Indian Investors but also to the

International Business community.

ICSI has provided timely help in bringing out Guidance Notes for practicing members. The first

Guidance Note was issued in June 2014. The Institute came out with detailed Guidance Note in

March 2015. The second Guidance Note came out with detailed Industry Specific Laws and Board

processes. However, at the field level there are many critical issues and debatable points. Some of

them are presented in this article.

(1) Management Representation Letter (MRL):

The Guidance Note stipulates that Management Representation Letter should be signed by two

directors. In practice company management feels that it should be signed by the Company Secretary

and that would be sufficient compliance. In some cases it is signed by Company Secretary and one

Director. It is understood that when the Management Representation Letter is signed by two

Directors it gets weighted importance and taken seriously by the management. This issue needs to be

clarified as to how strictly the practicing member has to comply with this Guidance Note. If the MRL

is signed by Company Secretary or Company Secretary and Director will it be reckoned as sufficient

compliance?

(2) Another issue which came up was relating to the show cause notices received by the

Company under various laws. As a matter of fact large manufacturing and marketing companies

having local and global presence receive show cause notices on one or the other matter. Such matters

may be trivial or important. Many of such show cause notices are sorted out and replied by the local

officers spread over the country. Therefore, if the Company gives MRL stating that the Company has

not received any MATERIAL show cause notices which may affect the business operations of the

Company; it should be taken as sufficient compliance.

(3) Item no 15 of the Specimen MRL, stipulates as under:

“There is no pending litigation and claims other than reported in the balance sheet by way of contingent

liability”
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As a matter of fact, Companies have many pending litigation other than reported under the

contingent liability in the balance sheet. Whether, the company management should give details of all

pending litigation which is quite big and not available at the Corporate Head Offices and includes

various matters pending before other regulators, consumer courts, Authorities and Tribunals .

(4) Guidance Note has also provided Annexure-A to MR-3:

While Annexure-A is very important, it is necessary that the Institute takes up this matter with MCA

to include the contents of Annexure-A into MR-3. It may be mentioned that Auditors Report brings

out the responsibility of the Management and Auditor distinctly in the Auditors Report. In the

absence of such composite MR-3, many Secretarial Audit Reports published in the Annual Report do

not contain Annexure-A.

Sub- Section 2 of Section 204 of the Companies Act, 2013 states that:

“It shall be the duty of the company to give all assistance and facilities to the company secretary in

practice, for auditing the secretarial and related records of the company”

Further, the provisions of section 143- Dealing with Powers and duties of auditors and auditing

standards stipulates that the provision of this section shall mutatis mutandis apply to the company

secretary in practice conducting secretarial audit under section 204. Thus, powers of secretarial

auditor are at par with the Statutory Auditors. However, the appointment of Secretarial Auditors is

made by the Board of Directors. Therefore, a question arises that while the report of the Secretarial

Auditor is made to the members of the Company, but his appointment is made by the Board of

Directors of the Company and therefore, in this regards it not at par with the Statutory Auditor. The

institute may like to take up this matter with the Ministry of Corporate Affairs. As stated above, sub-

section 14 of section 143 applies mutandis-mutandis to secretarial audit. Sub-Section 12 of section 143

requires the auditor to report to the Central Government if he has a reason to believe that an offence

involving fraud is or has been committed against the Company by officers or employees of the

company.

Fortunately, this provision has been divided into two categories by the Companies Amendment Act,

2015. As per the amendment, the Central Government shall prescribe a limit upto which the fraud is

required to be reported to the Audit Committee or to the Board and if it exceeds the specified limit

then it will be reported to the Central Government. Further, if the Fraud Committed is within the

specified limit and not reported to the Central Government, the same will be disclosed in the Board

report. This is a very difficult assignment particularly for secretarial auditor who would be dealing

with compliances of non-financial matters. However if he comes to know of any fraud it is his

bounded duty to report to the relevant authority.
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(5) Applicable Laws:

MR-3 also prescribes that the auditor should mention other laws as may be applicable specifically to

the Company. In this regard there are two views . One view is that only those Acts be mentioned

which are “Industry Specific”. On the other hand, the view is that all laws applicable to the Company

should be mentioned in the Secretarial Audit Report. In one instance one Auditor has mentioned only

two laws which are Industry specific. In another case, lists of more than 150 Acts have been

mentioned. Thus, there is need for clarification in this matter if the view is that all applicable laws

including Industry specific laws are to be mentioned then the Institute should also provide the check

list for all the laws which are applicable to the corporate world.

(6) Decisions at the Board Meeting and General meeting:

MR-3 also prescribes to mention:

“Majority decision is carried through while the dissenting members’ views are captured and recorded as

part of the minutes.”

There is one view that seems that above stipulation is placed immediately after the Board Meeting

details like Notice, agenda and detailed notes on agenda the decision is only in respect of the passing

of the resolution at the Board meeting.

Another view is that it covers both the Board Meetings and the General meetings.

(7) Delayed Filing of Forms:

In the Guidance Note, it is mentioned that delayed filing of forms with ROC is to be commented

adversely. However, as per the Ministry of Corporate Affairs delayed filing of forms with additional

fees is not considered as default. The number of forms to be filed on the MCA portal has considerably

increased under the Companies Act, 2013. Further, during the first year of implementation there has

been delayed filings by the Companies inadvertently and also due to interpretational issues. It is

necessary that the Institute clarifies this point at the earliest.

V. Conclusion:

At present divergent views prevail in reporting the Secretarial Audit Report. Each Auditor has his

own view in the matter. It is, therefore, important that a survey of all Audit Reports issued so far by

practicing members be made and a Standard Guidelines be issued to the members.

This will help not only in improving the quality of the Audit Report but also standardize the

reporting system akin to statutory audit report.
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EMERGING AREAS OF PRACTICE

(SHARPENING THE SKILLS ON OPINION WRITING AND

THE ART OF RIGHT INTERPRETATION OF APPLICABLE LAWS)

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Prof R Balakrishnan* - FCS – Pune

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1. Preliminary

The issue of formation of National Company Law Tribunal was pending in the Supreme Court for a

long time since the Madras Bar council had earlier challenged the provision relating to the

appointment process, eligibility and powers of the (proposed formation) of the National Company

Law Tribunal members in the Companies Act 2013, arguing that the norms violated an Apex Court

ruling of 2010 on “formation of body.

Recently – in May 2015, the Supreme Court has approved the formation of National Company Law

Tribunal (NCLT) which was pending with the Supreme Court upholding the constitutional validity

of the NCLT, clearing the way for a significant reform in the framework for resolving corporate

insolvency.

Currently, there are 4 different bodies which are dealing on the company related issues.

— Company Law Board (CLB)

— Official Liquidator (OL)

— Board for Industrial & Financial Reconstruction (BIFR), and

— Appellate Authority for Industrial and Financial Reconstruction (AAIFR).

With the formation of the proposed NCLT, these four different bodies will subsume and all company

law related matters would b dealt under a single body i.e. NCLT and for any appeals by the National

Company Law Appellate Tribunal (NCLAT). With the formation of NCLT, days to come, the

Government would be able to bring the proposed bankruptcy code which will have NCLT as its main

component.

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

* The first and only Indian to win the award of “Company Secretary of the year Corporate – Highly

Commended” (the runner up award) of Company Secretary of the year 2007 from the Institute of

Chartered Secretaries and Administrators (ICSA) of London
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2. Great Opportunities for practicing professionals upon NCLT formation

The formation of NCLT would throw open a vast area for practicing professional for providing

opinions on all company law related matters and even as well for other laws too, providing

consultancy and representing the corporate in NCLT and conducting and arguing out the cases for

the corporate. For practicing in NCLT, the practicing company secretary (PCS) need not be a member

of the bar council and as a PCS, the company secretary would be in a position to represent and argue

out the cases. Therefore, it is very important for practicing company secretaries to enhance, develop

their skills in the area of interpretation of laws – accurately, correctly according to the applicable

provisions of the act, read with relevant rules and judicial pronouncements.

3. We shall examine the following with the above background

When NCLT / NCLAT is established, one side there is going to be tremendous opportunities for the

practicing company secretaries while on the other hand, the professionals may have to get equipped

to encash the opportunities with the required skills to handle the matter at NCLT / NCLAT .

The practicing company secretary professional would be in a position to deal with all matters in

NCLT / NCLAT like that of lawyers / advocates without being a law graduate and enrolling

themselves in the bar council by virtue of the expertise knowledge they possess in the company law

matters. As said earlier, all the company law matters would be dealt under one roof i.e. NCLT /

NCLAT which are being dealt by different authorities today such as Company Law Board, Official

Liquidator, Board for Industrial & Financial Reconstruction, Appellate Authority for Industrial and

Financial Reconstruction any by various High Courts.

This is altogether a new area – emerging opportunities – one has to get sharpen their skills to deal

with the matters at NCLT / NCLAT – acquire good drafting skills for making petition, written

statement, rejoinder which would call for a good drafting skills with facts of the case and the facts of

law along with required prayers sought from the authorities.

Secondly, interpretation of the applicable act itself would be called for with reference to applicable

laws, rules, and regulations along with decided case laws by judiciary on the subject and any

precedents etc.

Many a times, the organizations (client) may like to have an written opinion from the expert

professional – not only on company law – but also on other applicable laws – the professionals have

to get equipped to the art of “opinion writing” so that – the companies could take decision based on

such opinion and the professionals would be asked to render service.
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We shall examine the following in this article:-

A. Emerging (new) areas of practice

B. Writing skills (court documents)

C. interpretation of Law / opinion writing

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

A. Emerging (new) areas of practice

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

A.1 Areas open for company secretary (as an expert)

The Companies Act 2013 in its definition – vide section 2 (38) spells out that an “expert” includes an

engineer a valuer, a chartered accountant, a company secretary, a cost accountant and any other

person who has the power or authority to issue a certificate in pursuance of any law for the time

being in force.

Since the company secretary has been recognized by the Companies Act 2013 as being an expert, the

company secretary could do many things in his capacity as an expert including opinion writing, not

only on company law related issues but also all other applicable laws for a company to which a

practicing company secretary is rendering service.

Being an expert and also coupled with professional knowledge in corporate laws, company secretary

professionals in whole time practice would be in a position:-

- to advise on matters to be stated in prospectus

- advise on matters of amalgamations / mergers / demerger / reverse merger / compromise and

arrangements and any reorganization etc.

- Further, the PCS could also be able to act as a mediator & conciliator

- assist in liquidation process

- render professional assistance on various company administration matters.

Let us briefly look into the specific areas which are newly opening up for the practicing company

secretaries who are in whole time practice under National Company Law Tribunal (NLCT) and

National Company Law Appellate Tribunal NCLAT .

A.2 Scheme of restructuring / compromise and arrangement

After the establishment of National Company Law Tribunal, the newer area of practice would open

up for the practicing people could be listed as under:-

- advising and also assisting to various corporate / companies on the issue of

merger

amalgamation

demerger
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reverse merger

compromise and

other arrangements of restructuring

The practicing company secretary could get involved right from the conceptual stage of any scheme

of arrangement or compromise till its implementation i.e. till the completion stage. The work

involved for any such scheme would consist of rendering services in

(a) preparing scheme(s) itself

(b) appearing before NCLT/NCLAT for approval of the scheme(s) and

(c) finally the various post (approval) merger formalities followed by

(d) required compliance with various regulating bodies

A.3 In relation to sick companies

In this case the very first step is

- the timely detection of sick company itself and

- the practicing company secretary could identify the sickness of the company as per the provisions

defining the sick companies under the act and

- then arrange to place the matter before the board of directors of the company

- so that the board of directors could take further necessary action i.e.

- making reference to the Tribunal for revival and rehabilitation of the Company.

A.3.1 Making reference of Sick Industrial Company to NCLT

In this case also – i.e. for making reference to the National Company Law Tribunal the practicing

company secretary could render assistance and advise the sick company in making reference to the

Tribunal.

Further, the practicing professional could

- prepare a scheme of rehabilitation

- seeking various approvals from the Tribunal as may be called for or required.

As per the provisions of the act the reference relating to sick industrial company is required to be

made to the NCLT within a period of 180 days from the date on which the board of directors of the

company or the Central Government, Reserve Bank of India or State Government or a Public

Financial Institution or a State level institution or a Scheduled Bank as the case may be, come to know

of the relevant fact giving rise to causes of such reference or within 60 days of final adoption of

accounts whichever is earlier.
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A.4 Company secretaries could be Administrator / Receiver

As per the provisions of section 258 of the Companies Act, 2013, an interim / company administrator

can be appointed by the Tribunal from the data bank maintained by the central government in case of

Revival/ Rehabilitation of a company consisting of names of company secretary and other

professionals.

Since Company Secretary is one such expert professional, the company secretary could act as receiver

of the company.

A.5 Company secretaries to be a Liquidator

For the purpose of winding up of a company by the Tribunal, the Tribunal at the time of passing of

the order of winding shall appoint an official liquidator or liquidator from the panel maintained by

the central government for this purpose consisting the names of chartered accountants, advocates,

company secretaries, cost accountants or firms or bodies corporate having such chartered

accountants, advocates, company secretaries, cost accountants and such other professionals as may be

notified by the Central Government or from a firm or a body corporate of persons having a

combination of such professionals as may be prescribed and having at least ten years’ experience in

company matters. The section 275(1) and (2) spells out this in the Companies Act, 2013.

By virtue of the expertise and having proficiency in company law related matters, the practicing

company secretary could act as an official liquidator as the practicing company secretary is one of the

professional whose name is maintained for the appointment of official liquidator by the central

government in its panel.

It may be further noted that the new Companies Act 2013, the earlier position allowing only

government officers to act as Official Liquidators has been done away with.

A.6 Professional assistance to Company Liquidator (for CS young starters)

The Company Liquidator may, with the sanction of the National Company Law Tribunal, appoint

one or more professionals including company secretaries to assist him in the performance of his

duties and functions under the Companies Act, 2013 as provided under section 291 and it is a good

opportunity for the young (starter) practicing company secretary professional who are in practice as

an additional area of practice.

5.6 Work relating to reduction of capital

Section 66 of the Companies Act 2013 permits that subject to confirmation by the National Company

Law Tribunal (NCLT), a company limited by shares or a company limited by guarantee and having a

share capital may if so authorized by its memorandum and articles of association of by passing a

special resolution by the members in the general meeting could reduce its share capital. Practicing

professionals i.e., e company secretaries in whole time practice would be able to represent cases of

reduction of capital before the NCLT which is another added area opened to them for practice.
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5.7 Company secretaries could be appointed as Registered Valuer

As per sub-section (1) of section 247, where a valuation is required to be made in respect of any

property, stocks, shares, debentures, securities or goodwill or any other assets (herein referred to as

the assets) or net worth of a company or its liabilities under the provision of this Act, it shall be

valued by a person having such qualifications and experience and registered as a valuer in such

manner, on such terms and conditions as may be prescribed and appointed by the audit committee or

in its absence by the Board of Directors of that company.

Further valuation is required to be done for various other transactions such as:-

- further issue of shares {sec 62(1)(c)},

- for valuing assets involved in arrangement of non cash transactions involving Directors

[section 192(2)],

- for valuing whereas, property and assets of the company under a scheme of corporate debt

restructuring {sec 230(2)(c)(V)},

- under a scheme of compromise/arrangement, along with the notice of creditors/shareholders

meeting, a copy of valuation report, if any shall be accompanied {sec 230(3)},

- the report of the expert with regard to valuation, if any would be circulated for meeting of

creditors/members {sec 232(2)(d)},

- where under a scheme of compromise/arrangement the transferor company is a listed

company and the transferee company is an unlisted company, for exit opportunity to the

shareholders of transferor company, valuation may be required to be made by the Tribunal

{sec 232(3)(h)},

- for valuing equity shares held by minority shareholders {sec 236(2)},

- for preparing valuation report in respect of shares and assets to arrive at the reserve price for

company administrator {sec 260(2)(c)},

- for valuing assets for submission of report by liquidator {sec 281(1)},

- for report on the assets of the company for preparation of declaration of solvency under

voluntary winding up {sec 305(2)(d)},

- for valuing the interest of any dissenting member of the transferor company who did not vote

in favour of the special resolution, as may be required by the company liquidator {sec

319(3)(d)},

- further issues of share capital (section 62),

- non cash transactions involving directors (section 192),

- compromise or arrangement (section 230),

- purchasing of minority shares (section 236).

Being an expert recognized under 2(38), the practicing company secretary could act as a registered

valuer and this is yet another avenue provided in the Companies Act, 2013 .
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5.8. Company secretaries to be an “Arbitrator”

Company Secretaries in whole time practice are not only legal experts in corporate laws but they are

also having superior knowledge in respect of commercial understanding. Practicing company

secretaries have an edge in the sense that they understand the underlying commercial transaction or

the legal framework in a more effective manner since company secretaries are exposed to various

facets of law and the management, they can formulate a better strategy in arbitral proceedings while

advising the client.

Thus company secretaries in practice can act as strategist and authorized representative in arbitral

proceedings since they are now recognized as an expert. The only precaution the company secretaries

need to take is that they should develop thorough knowledge about the Civil Procedure Code, 1908

and Indian Evidence Act, 1872 as many a times the proceedings are conducted in accordance with

these laws though it is not compulsory as per the Act. However, given the competence of the

company secretaries it is not a difficult task.

5.9 Company secretary could act Technical Members of NCLT

Among other qualifications, practice as a company secretary for at least fifteen years, (15 years) or

being a person of proven ability, integrity and standing having special knowledge and experience, of

not less than fifteen years, in law, industrial finance, industrial management or administration,

industrial reconstruction, investment, accountancy, labour matters, or such other disciplines relate d

to management, conduct of affairs, revival, rehabilitation and winding up of companies is a

qualification for appointment as technical member of the National Company Law Tribunal.(Section

409 of the Companies Act, 2013).

5.10 Appearance before NCLAT

As discussed in the beginning paragraph of this article, the company secretary in whole time practice

has been authorized to appear before National Company Law Appellate Tribunal for all matters

concerning the appeals against the order passed by the NCLT.

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

B. Writing skills – court documents

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

B.1 Certain pre-requisite for appearance before NCLT / NCLAT

Although there are ample opportunities are available for the practicing company secretaries for

rendering services at NCLT and NCLAT – the practicing company secretaries for this purpose have

to get well equipped with legal drafting abilities which are required at the Tribunals, legal frame

work pertaining to the appearances before various Tribunals/quasi judicial bodies and the basic

understanding of the principles of pleadings.
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The practicing secretaries need to get their practical orientation and develop necessary acumenship in

drafting legal documents and their submission to the Tribunals. Needless to mention, the command

over English needs to be excellent, drafting skills as per legal requirement would be called for and

above all, presenting the facts to the Tribunal and pleading the matter would only lead to the success

in the profession.

B 2 The art of understanding the provisions rightly - advising company/clients

In year 2004, the service tax was made applicable for the first time, on payment for intellectual

property (defined under section 55a) services (royalty payments) and this is one of the item covered

in a notification issued by the Government granting certain exemption. As we are all aware, royalty

payment is generally made to overseas collaborator / parent company on intellectual property

services received under automatic route based on the technology transfer on an ongoing basis.

To cite an real life example, on the service tax matter, when royalty payments were brought under

the service tax net in the year 2004 a notification No. 18 / 2004 was issued by the Deputy Secretary to

the Government of India on 10th September 2004 which states to the effect the Central Government

exempts that portion of the value of taxable services which are defined in certain sub-classes of

section 65 (105) of the Finance Act from the whole of the service tax leviable thereon under section 66

of the said act, which is received by the service provider from the customer, client or person as the

case may be, prior to the 10th day of September 2004.

Companies were remitting payment for intellectual property (defined under section 55a) services

(royalty payments) and this is also covered under the notification of 18/2004. Generally payments are

made on a quarterly basis on IPR services by companies. The payment was covering the period for

July to September 2004 (quarter of 3 months). Question has been raised by a company whether the

service tax is payable only from 10th September 2004 or for the entire period of 3 months (covering the

period 1st July to 30th September 2004) on IPR services received at that time.

On a plain reading of the notification, it does appears to one’s mind that the company is liable to pay

service tax only from and after 10th September 2004 i.e. for only 20 days (10th September to 30th

September) of that quarter, as Intellectual property services were made taxable only with effect from

10th September 2004. However, it might be well be that the service tax authorities may try and content

that since the payment of royalty is made by the company on the end of the quarter (i.e. 30/9/2004).

Question arises here, whether service tax payable only for 20 days or for the entire quarter.

B.2.1 The suggested right approach (for advising client)

In this situation, the right approach could be as under:-

i. The client should be advised while making payment of service tax, the company could clarify

to the department that the company is paying the same under the provisions of Rule 2(d) (iv)
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of Service Tax Rules, which lays down the provisions regarding the person liable to pay

service tax when the service provider is party outside India.

ii. The company should be advised to obtain from overseas service provider two invoices, one

covering the period from the beginning of the quarter till 9th of September 2004, and the other

for the period from 10th September 2004 till the end of the quarter. The company could submit

to the service tax authorities’ relevant invoice pertaining to the period 10 th September

onwards. However, should the company be called upon to furnish the invoice for the period

prior to 10th September, the company should have no hesitation in submitting the same.

The above opinion / advice would be perfectly in order since the notification in question provides the

exemption and the company is required to pay service tax only with effect from 10th September 2004.

As pointed out in the earlier para, the service department might come back and try and content that

since the payment of royalty is made by the company on the end of the quarter (i.e. 30/9/2004). In

view of this possibility, it is better to advise the client company, advising them to consult their

auditors and consider whether advisable, by way of abundant caution to make a suitable provision in

the books of accounts of the company, in case a stand along the above lines is taken by the service tax

authorities.

Should such an event take place, as a practicing professional, you should advise the company to

resist and you should be in a position to provide necessary assistance in representing the case.

Therefore, while advising the client company, one has to very clear about the provisions, also clear to

have the necessary documentation to prove the point and also to advise the client for required action

at their end – in this case advising them to have provision in accounts.

B.3 Familiarity with the court procedures / legal phrases

One has to get familiar with the court procedures (Since NCLT / NCALT both are covered under the

C.PC and Cr.PC codes with prescribed rules for their functioning) right from filing a petition till the

disposal.

There are various stages involved in dealing with NCLT / NCLAT such as – filing a petition with the

registrar – any modification / changes required – rectification done immediately / at the earliest –

getting the registration number – making a written statement – filing re-joinder, seeking time

extension – adjudicating procedure, pleading before the Honourable Judge – getting order of the

court – certified copy – compliance procedure thereafter etc.

B.4 legal phrases – its meaning – usage at appropriate places

The practicing company secretaries who plan to practice in NCLT / NCLAT need to know difference

between may and shall (“may” may be treated “shall” but “shall” shall not be treated “may”), “ipso-

facto” – meaning by this fact alone or because of this matter alone, “tenable” meaning acceptable in
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law, “quasi” meaning almost similar to – for example “quasi criminal” means almost equal to

criminal, “jurisprudence” meaning law relating to particular matter, “mensrea” meaning guilty mind

(mensrea is very vital in criminal cases), “suo moto” – meaning on its own, “non-est” meaning non-

existing thing or what is not in existence, “de-nova” meaning completely new ( many times the court

passes an order stating de-novo adjudication – meaning that the case is to be heard as a fresh right

from beginning all over again), sine-quo-non” meaning most essential thing and such other various

legal phrases in law – which obviously would be used / practiced at NCLT / NCLAT.

Similarly certain phrases like “ reason to believe Vs reason to suspect: - one has to be familiar for this

purpose, it is better to read various case laws so that the concept understanding is clear on this, which

would be much help while presenting and pleading the case in front of the authorities. Similarly

difference between “discovery Vs detection” – in this case, discovery is made by the assessee whereas

detection is done by the assessing officer (one would come across on this in income tax related

issues). Another important legal phrase is “to quash” – meaning the process of cancelling the

proceeding of assessing authorities by judicial authorities and one has to be familiar with the

quashing of proceedings, causes / reasoning etc. Out of ten grounds, even nine grounds are proved to

be wrong – quashing cannot be done since the tenth one is remaining and hence one has to muster

the art on this.

Many such legal phrases would be understood as one goes along and the practicing company

secretaries need to sharpen their skills, if one has to come successful practice in NCLT / NCALT. To

cite some more legal phrases would be – locus standi, suspended animus, sub-judice, impediment,

sine-di, as-interm, defacto, ad-hoc, de-jure, modus-operandi, nexus, onus probandi, ratio-decidendi,

caveat emptor and in personam etc.

B.5 Presenting / arguing the matter in front of the judiciary

Needless to mention, one has to have the clear cut facts rightly understood, with sequence, present

the facts which are relevant to case, with reference to the applicable provisions of law, rules, and

regulations – finally seeking the prayer. If the other party has the counter argument, one has to be

prepared to answer the same then and there and make the point strongly in favour of the case which

is being represented. Fluency, flow of clear communication would call for at these situations.

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

C. Interpretation of Law / opinion writing

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

C.1 Opinion writing – a brief

If one has to ask a question as to what is an opinion, the answer we would get is that a opinion is a

written statement given by court or by a judicial officer or by an expert as to the legality (or illegality)

of an action, condition or intent. Leaving aside the court and the judicial officer, the other person who

could give an opinion is an “Expert”.

95



C.2 Company Secretary is an “Expert” as defined by the Companies Act 2013

The definition of “expert” is spelled out in the Companies Act 2013 – in section 2 (38) stating that an

“expert” includes an engineer a valuer, a chartered accountant, a company secretary, a cost

accountant and any other person who has the power or authority to issue a certificate in pursuance of

any law for the time being in force.

Since the practicing company secretary has been recognized by the Companies Act 2013 as being an

expert, the practicing company secretary could do many things in his capacity as stated earlier and as

an expert the practicing company secretary could provide opinion in writing, not only on company

law related issues but also all other applicable laws for a company to which a practicing company

secretary is rendering service.

Being an expert and also coupled with professional knowledge in corporate laws, the practicing

company secretary professionals in whole time practice would be in a position to excel in the area of

proving opinion on all corporate laws – which is going to be a big leaf for practicing company

secretaries as enormous laws are applicable in a corporate and many matters, an expert opinion is

sought.

C.3 Brief – the way opinions are written

Generally, the companies would put up their points on an issue and provide the facts and seek for an

opinion say – applicability of law on a particular issue or otherwise etc. If necessary, a personal

discussion might be required to understand the issue – if the communication sent by the company is

not very clear or call for more information or certain clarifications are required or even certain more

facts are required to be known.

Then the application of the mind of the professional in the respective law and its applicability with

reference to the facts provided by the company and the situation in which the company is placed and

operated. There could be certain exemption notifications given by the authorities which is also taken

to account and as well decided case laws on this issue.

While providing opinion, the professional could also enclose the copy of necessary notification,

decided case laws etc along with the opinion.

C.4 Interpretation of law

We shall go through few cases of interpretation of law, since , one has to be very clear about the

applicability of law or otherwise, correct interpretation of applicable laws with reference to the

provisions of the acts and rules while providing opinion. Further one has to also keep track of the

latest judgments relating to interpretation since the judicial judgments acts as precedence for the

judiciary to follow them and delivering the orders. Let us go through each of the above by taking

examples so that we are better in understanding the concept.
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C.5 Scope of opinion providing by practicing company secretaries

Under the Companies Act, 2013 the role of the company secretary has been considerably widened

inasmuch as now he is not only responsible for the compliances under the Company law but also in

respect of compliances under all other applicable laws. The practicing professionals would have a

very wider role in assisting the corporate for determination of applicable law i.e. whether a particular

law is applicable or otherwise. This is very very important as much as, any court trying any case

would have jurisdiction over the matter – if jurisdiction is not there, the case get dismissed. Similarly,

one has to be sure about the applicability of a particular law. Let us look at an example on this

C.6 Applicability of law – an example

Let us take a situation of an organization that wants to be in food space and would like to employ

around 40 employees with use of power and their activities are mainly on research and development

(R & D) activities. Since the company is planning to operate for R & D activities, question arises,

should they be requiring a factory lincense to operate or they need shop and establishment licence.

Of course, the organization would be requiring the necessary permit from Municipal corporation

permit, necessary permit or approval from fire department and clearance from pollution department

would also be required.

The ambiguity is relating to - whether to obtain factory licence or shop and establishment licence for

carrying out the R & D operations. The crux of the matter is the application of mind on the

applicability of the act or otherwise, few might say that a factory licence would be required since

operation is carried out with the help of power employing around 40 employees and it is a factory

operation while some might argue, not to have factory licence since this organization is not

manufacturing anything and shop and establishment licence would do? What is the right answer or

solution for this – whether or not factory licence required?

One has to go through the requirement / conditions to be fulfilled for getting the factory licence. Let

us examine the same. Let us examine the section 2 (m) of the Factories Act 1948 on this in order to get

an answer where the definition is given for factory.

C.6.1 Definition of factory - section 2(m) of Factories Act 1948

The above section prescribes as to what "factory" means in terms of man power, with or without aid

of power and it further says “manufacturing process is carried on“. Manufacturing process is also

defined in section 2 (k) of Factories Act 1948 spelling out five categories of process.

If one analyze the definition very carefully one would come to an conclusion that although the

definition defining the manufacturing process is so wide and it includes almost all activities of

making, altering, repairing, ornamenting, finishing, packing, oiling, washing, cleaning, breaking up,

demolishing or otherwise treating or adopting any article or substance with a view to its use, sale,
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transport, delivery or disposal etc. the activities relating to research and development (R & D) is not

finding a place in the definition of manufacturing process.

Each of the subsections of section 2(m) in relation to the operation of R & D activities are answered

negatively and hence one could correctly interpret and come to a conclusion that the factory licence is

not applicable for R & D activities.

The unit may have to go for shop and establishment licence and have its operations.

C.6.2 Further confirmation on this by a decided case law

One could even further get it confirmed by looking into a relevant decided case law on this matter.

There is a decided case law from Calcutta High Court and the case law is ESIC v. Duncan Gleneagles

Hospital Ltd. and Anr. 2005(3)CHN116, [2005(106)FLR1029], (2005)IIILLJ174Cal. In this case the

definition of manufacturing process was gone into details by the judiciary and the judiciary delivered

a judgment that any test and research activities would not amount to manufacture. One could go

through the case law and understand the process of manufacturing and the decision given by the

judiciary.

There is also another recent decided case law on this matter which is 2015 LLR 659 Punjab & Haryana

High Court – CRM No. M-41413/2013 ( ) & M) D/-21.2.2015 in Rajesh Saigal Vs State of Haryana and

others – confirming that R & D activities would not come under the purview of Factories Act 1948.

C.7 Another case of interpretation under Industrial Disputes Act 1948

Let us consider a typical case law on interpretation under the provisions of Industrial Disputes Act

1947.

In one of the manufacturing unit, the employer decided to implement voluntary retirement scheme

and upon launching the scheme 100% employees have opted for the same. Thereafter the board of

directors decided to close down the unit and accordingly intimated to the concerned authorities

about the closure and surrendered the factory licence for cancellation.

The real question to be examined here is whether the company has done a right thing or the closure is

violative of section 25FFA of the Industrial Dispu tes Act 1947 since the closure notice is required to be

served to the appropriate government by giving 60 days notice. The issue also could arise that the

Labour department could raise an issue invoking the Section 25FFA of the Industrial Disputes Act.

1947 contenting that the company has committed a breach of Section 25FFA of The Industrial

Disputes Act, 1947 and can threaten to prosecute the Company and its Directors for breach of the said

Section under the provisions of Law?

To examine whether the company has done the right thing or otherwise, we need to examine the

provisions contained in the section and interpret correctly to get a right answer
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C.7.1 Provision under Industrial Disputes Act 1947

Relevant Section is reproduced below

Section 25FFA (1 ) of the Industrial Disputes Act, inter alia, reads as under:

a. Sec. 25FFA (i) An employer who intends to close down an undertaking shall serve, at least

sixty days before the date on which the intended closure is to become effective a notice, in the

prescribed manner on the appropriate Government stating clearly the reasons for the intended

closure of the undertaking:

Provided that nothing in this section shall apply to:

an undertaking in which:-

(i) less than fifty workmen are employed, or

(ii) less than fifty workmen were employed on an average per working day in the preceding

twelve months,

(iii) an undertaking set up for the construction of buildings, bridges, roads, canals, dams or for

other construction work of project.

It will be observed that the proviso to the said section states that the section will not apply to an

undertaking in which less than fifty workmen are employed or less than fifty workmen were

employed on an average per working day in the preceding twelve months.

The word “or” between sub-Clause (i) and sub-clause (ii) of clause (a) of the proviso is very relevant

in deciding this issue. Because of the existence of the conjunction “or” in between Sub Clause (i) and

(ii) of Clause (a) the Section imposed by the each of the said two Sub Clauses are mutually exclusive

and therefore, if any one of the two conditions is fulfilled, that the Section shall not apply to the

concerned undertaking and as a result the question of the employer being liable to give a 60 days

notice prior to the date of closure of the concerned authority under Sub Clause (i) of the said Section

would not arise.

C.7.2 Company has done the right thing or otherwise

In the light of the above, let us examine the facts and circumstances of the case.

On the date on which the Board of Directors have taken a decision to declare “closure” of the unit,

less than fifty workmen were employed (virtually no employee since the entire work force is relieved

upon acceptance of VRS) and since clause (a) (i) of the proviso applies the question of intimation to

the appropriate Government under subsection (i) does not arise at all. Clause (a) (ii) of the proviso in

the circumstances would not be applicable and therefore Section 25FFA is not at all attracted in the

facts of the case. Therefore, the company has not committed any breach or offense under the Sections

25FFA of the Industrial Disputes Act, 1947 . In case, the Labour department raises an issue contenting
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that the breach of section 25FFA which is liable for punishment under Section 30A which provides

that an employer who closes down any undertaking without complying with the provision of section

25FFA shall be punishable with imprisonment for a term which may extend to six months, or with

fine which may extend to five thousand rupees or with both, the company should take up the

foregoing contention before the Labour department and get the matter settled.

Many a times, the lower authorities don't accept the contention and they would like to persist their

stand. If such a situation arises, the company have to move the matter by filing a Writ Petition in the

High Court against the lower authority restraining them from taking proceedings under the

Industrial Disputes Act, 1947 for alleged breach of the section 25FFA of the ID Act, 1947.

Since the interpretation skill is an very important skills and especially when practicing professional

are representing the corporate in NCLT, they need to be very clear on the “facts of law” apar t from

the “facts of the case”. Professional need to develop the right interpretation skills in order to render

services in compliance with applicable laws.

C.7.3 Practically what had happened (for the information of readers)

The enterprise had closed down the unit without giving the notice by virtue of the above

interpretation. Subsequently there was an issue raised by the relevant regulatory authorities and the

issue was resolved since the interpretation done by the company was accepted as correct. Once all the

employees have taken voluntary retirement there remain no workmen with a result, it was falling

under the proviso what has been discussed above.

C.8 Keeping track of latest judgment - (spirit of law rather than letter)

A judgment of Bombay High Court decided on 23rd August 2011 in the case of Naina D Kamani v

Janson Engineering & Trading (p) Ltd 2011 has gone into the wider interpretation of the law relating

to section 313 of the Companies Act 1956 (in the current Companies Act 2013, the relevant section is

161) dealing with the vacation of alternate director. Let us look into the details.

The plain reading of section 313 shows that that specific requirement is not made. For the alternate

Director to cease to be a Director, the actual attendance at board meeting of the director appointing

him is not contemplated under the section. Consequently, the return to the State by the original

director would suffice though the director does not commence attending board meetings held after

his return.

However, the court in this case the court has further to examine as to what would be the extent and

quality of such return has to be seen for the purpose of deciding the vacation of the office of the

alternate director. The court observed that the section 313 of the Companies Act, 1956 enables the

alternate director to hold office for the period that the original director appointed him would have

held such office and to vacate that office when the original director appointing him returns to the
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State. The alternate director is essentially appointed during the absence of the original director

appointing him from the State in which the meetings of the board are ordinarily held.

In this particular case the original director returned to India for a short period. During that period the

alternate director and original director have met when the signature of original director came to be

obtained on a separate paper showing his agreement thereon. The original director has thereafter left

India for abroad. The court observed that the provision in section 313 of the Companies Act, 1956

with regard to the absence of the original director from the State in which the meetings of the board

are ordinarily held until the original director returns to the State in which the meetings of the board

are ordinarily held as set out in sub sections 1 & 2 thereof respectively would show not only a

temporary return, but an intention to stay in that State so as to able him to transact the business of the

Company in the State where board meetings are ordinarily held. If an original director merely comes

to the State and leaves India again he would not be able to transact business. Hence the alternate

Director would require to continue until the original director appointing him would have continued.

In this case it would be permanently or until the original director resigns or is removed is as director

or otherwise vacates office under section 283 of the Companies Act.

C.8.1 Wider interpretation and conclusion by the Court

What precisely the section contemplates by the term "the original Director returns to the State", must

be read as contemplating only such return which would have some amount of permanence. The

Director must return to carry on the business. He must return for a length of time. The intent of the

Director must be not to make his visit merely temporary when he does not partake in the

management of the Company and when he intends to go abroad again. It should therefore, be the

intention to return to India and the State in which the Board Meetings are ordinarily held (i.e. where

the registered office is generally situate) not for a temporary period e.g. on a holiday or on vacation. It

will imply the intention akin to the intention required to be domiciled in the State. Therefore, when

the original Director returned to India and the State in which the board meetings were held to carry

on his business in India that the alternate Director would vacate his office under Section 313 (2) of the

Companies Act, 1956.

This is altogether a new dimension and this judgment of Bombay High court has departed from the

settled law so far on this subject. By and large, the companies have been following consistently, th e

vacation of the alternate director, upon the return of the original director to the state. This case law

has given a very wide or wider interpretation for the vacation stating that it is not merely enough for

the original director to return to the state but he should be in a position to participate the company’s

board meeting- i.e. - the return to the State by the original director would suffice though the director

does not commence attending board meetings held after his return.

The company secretary in any case needs to be an expert in his professional capacity for all the

corporate laws and he should be in a position to interpret the statue correctly – of course, he could

consult expert in the field whenever he is in doubt. Also, he is expected to constantly keep updating
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the relevant laws applicable to the organization where he is serving in case of employment or rending

service in case of practice. The company secretary also needs to keep the latest decisions of the

judiciary on the relevant subjects since the judicial decisions are forming precedents while deciding

the issues whenever they arise.

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

14. Conclusion

Considering the vast and enormous opportunities emerging by setting up of the National Company

Law Tribunal and Appellate National Company Law Tribunal the Practicing Company Secretaries

should get their competencies set with very high standards right from understanding the

applicability of provisions / acts / rules at a given situation, correctly interpreting the law to the

advantages of their clients to whom they render service in compliance with applicable laws while

providing value added services in assisting the Tribunal for speedy disposal / dispensation of justice

in all relevant matters such as scheme of restructuring, merger, amalgamation, compromise and

arrangement, revival and rehabilitation of sick companies and winding up of companies etc.

Opinion writing would be one area which would emerge largely for practicing company secretaries

and one has to develop of an art of opinion writing, right interpretation of the provisions / definitions

and also provide a clear, unambiguous opinion spelling out the procedural issues which are to be

followed.

Needless to mention that the practicing companies secretaries need to improve upon their skills

relating to drafting the documents, petitions, submissions, joinder, rejoinder for the requirements of

the Tribunals and also get familiarized with the pleading skills so that they could be very competent

to be successful in the added new area of practice. Understanding the court procedures would be

essential for representing the clients in judiciary.

Finally we could sum up and say that the role of company secretaries in the corporate world is going

to be manifold and phenomenal and let us sharpen our skills with continuous improvement keeping

in face with the amendments from time to time and try our best to “deliver first time right” and prove

our metal in excelling the areas of governance and compliance.
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Abstract

The establishment, growth, and evolution of the contemporary internal auditing profession is closely

integrated with the history of The Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA), an organization established in

the United States in 1941. The significance of both external and internal auditing arise from the need

to keep a close eye on record-keeping errors, asset misappropriation, and fraud within business and

non business organizations. With the passage of time and phenomenal growth in business activities,

especially in corporate houses where it is of utmost importance to foster governance for protecting

the interests of stakeholders, auditing both internal and external needs to be at its zenith.

However, this article focuses upon internal audit and various key facets associated with it, especially

how it plays a pivotal role in curbing malpractices or bringing to the fore the wrongdoings or fault

lines that carries the potential of becoming an irreparable fissure.

Through this article, the various types of internal audits but not limited to the following will be

discussed: a) Performance (Value for Money) Audit; IT Audits; Fina ncial Audits; Compliance Audits;

Governance Audits; Operational Audits; and Continuous Audits. The purpose is to comprehend as to

how various mentioned approaches of internal audit plays a pivotal role in ensuring complete

governance.

Keywords: Genesis; Types of Internal Audits; Companies Act, 2013; The Future; New Vista for

Company Secretaries
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Prologue- Genesis of Internal Audit

The need for both internal and external audit cannot be ignored. As they are catalyst of independent

verification to assuage record-keeping errors, asset misappropriation, and fraud within business and

non-business organizations. The roots of auditing, in general, are instinctively described by historian

Richard Brown (1905, quoted in Mautz & Sharaf, 1961) as follows: “The origin of auditing goes back

to times scarcely less remote than that of accounting…Whenever the advance of civilization brought

about the necessity of one man being intrusted to some extent with the property of another, the

advisability of some kind of check upon the fidelity of the former would become apparent.”

As far back as 4000 B.C., historians believe, formal record-keeping systems were first instituted by

organized businesses and governments in the Near East to dispel their concerns about correctly

accounting for receipts and disbursements and collecting taxes. Similar developments took place with

respect to the Zhao dynasty in China (1122 – 256 B.C.). The requisite for and cues of audits can be

traced back to public finance systems in Babylonia, Greece, the Roman Empire, the City States of

Italy, etc., all of which developed a detailed system of checks and counterchecks. Specifically, the se

governments were worried about incompetent officials prone to committing bookkeeping errors and

inaccuracies as well as corrupt officials who were encouraged to perpetrate fraud whenever the

opportunity surfaced. Even the Bible (referring to the period between 1800 B.C. and A.D. 95) explains

the basic raison d'être for instituting controls rather straightforwardly: “if employees have an

opportunity to steal they may take advantage of it.” The Bible also contains examples of internal controls,

like, the dangers of dual custody of assets, the need for competent and honest employees, limited

access, and segregation of duties (O’Reilly et al., 1998). The emergence of double-entry book keeping

in circa 1494 A.D. can also be directly traced to the critical requirement for exerting stewardship and

control.

Within a span of a couple of centuries, the European systems of bookkeeping and auditing were

introduced into the United States. As the size, scope and complexities of the business activities

enhanced, an urgent need for a different internal assurance function that would check the accounting

information used for formulating decisions by management emerged. Management required some

methods/means of evaluating not only the efficiency of work performed for the business but also the

rectitude of its human capital. Around the turn of the 20th century, the setting up of a formal internal

audit function to which these responsibilities could be delegated was observed as the logical answer.

As the time flied, the internal audit function became responsible for careful collection and

interpretive reporting of selected business realities to assist management in keeping track of critical

business developments, activities, and results from diverse and voluminous transactions (Mautz,

1964). Companies in the railroad, defence, and retail industries had long recognized the importance

of internal audit services, going far beyond financial statement auditing and devoted to furnishing

reliable operating reports containing non-financial information, like, quantities of parts in short

supply, sticking to the schedules, and quality of the product (Whittington & Pany, 1998). Similarly,

the U.S. General Accounting Office (GAO) and several State Auditors’ Offices, for example, the State

of Ohio Auditors’ Office, have traditionally employed large numbers of internal auditors.
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Meaning & Value

The Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA, 1999a) defined internal auditing as:

An independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an

organization’s performance. It helps an organization accomplish its objectives by bringing a

systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management,

control, and governance processes.

This definition signifies that internal audit has undergone a paradigm shift from an emphasis on

accountability about the past to improving future outcomes to help auditees operate more effectively

and efficiently (Nagy and Cenker, 2002; Stern, 1994; Goodwin, 2004). Since, the definition equally

serves both the private and the public sectors (Goodwin, 2004), it is used in this study as a basis to

analyse public sector internal audit effectiveness.

Internal audit is effective if it meets the intended outcome it is supposed to bring about. Sawyer

(1995) states, “… internal auditor's job is not done until defects are corrected and remain corrected.”

Van Gansberghe (2005) explains that internal audit effectiveness in the public sector should be

evaluated by the extent to which it contributes to the demonstration of effective and efficient service

delivery, as this drives the demand for impr oved internal audit services. Based on the results of a

consultative forum that focused on improving public sector internal auditVan Gansberghe (2005)

identified perceptions and ownership; organization and governance framework; legislation;

improved professionalism; conceptual framework; and also resources as factors influencing internal

audit effectiveness. Effective internal audit undertakes an independent evaluation of financial and

operating information and of systems and procedures, to provide useful recommendations for

improvements as necessary.

The effectiveness of internal audit greatly contributes to the effectiveness of each auditee in particular

and the organization at large (Dittenhofer, 2001).Dittenhofer (2001) has also observed that if internal

audit quality is maintained, it will contribute to the appropriateness of procedures and operations of

the auditee, and thereby internal audit contributes to effectiveness of the auditee and the organization

as a whole. Using agency theory, Xiangdong(1997) explained the role that internal audit plays in an

economy and points out that internal audit has an advantage over external audit in obtaining

information quickly and finding problems at an earlier stage; and Spraakman (1997), applying the

theory of transaction cost economics, demonstrated how internal audit recommendations are

important to the management of government organizations.

Without an iota of doubt it can be said that today’s organizations witness economic catastrophe of

great proportions. In view of this, management, boards of directors and leaders throughout the

organization are taking fresh looks at virtually all facets of the business to evaluate how to accelerate

productivity, processes and systems. They have started to think differently in order to find out ways

as to how to operate their businesses successfully and maintain plans for long-term growth in today’s

unique business environment.
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Internal auditing professionals not only must understand these challenges and their organization’s

key objectives, but also ensure that amid the many organization wide changes taking place on almost

a daily basis, key controls and processes are sufficiently addressing these changes and the new risks

that emerge, and are functioning as intended. Internal audit plays a crucial role in assisting

companies successfully “manage the change” by providing assurances that with every new process,

procedure and initiative, any significant new risks that emerge are identified, monitored and

managed effectively, so th at the enterprise is protected on an ongoing basis and to a level that

satisfies management and the board.

Types of Internal Audits

Before pouncing upon the various approaches of internal audits, it is imperative to comprehend the

concept of internal control and other relevant concepts, as various approaches of internal audit may

have their origins from these topics . Internal control is under the Board of Director’s responsibility.

Internal control function is required to ensure the efficiency and profitability of operations, the

dependability of information, and adhering to rules and regulations. It is a part of day-to-day

management and company administration. A critical component of this internal control is the

‘Internal Audit’, which generally operates as a distinct unit under the CEO and report its

observations to the Board of Directors. The internal audit assist the management in directing

operations by inspecting and assessing the efficiency of business operations, risk management and

internal control, and by producing information and recommendations to step up efficiency. The

internal audit also inspects the processes of business operations and financial reporting.

In current business environment where business organizations are exposed to various forms of risks,

especially systematic ones, internal audit can go a long way in managing risks. Since risk

management is an essential but complex process of scientific approach to risk research, and areas of

risk research being multiple, it can be categorized in the sub-areas of scientific research.

Experts opine that establishing and monitoring of internal audit systems are the obligation of the

entity that retained a key manifestation of the concept of modern management theory & practice and

responsibility (Mircea Boulescu, 2004). With reference to the private sector, internal audit activities

encompasses all economic activity, each of them individually or collectively, may be the weak link i n

the chain that affect the performance of procedural goals in an efficient entity. For the public sector,

internal audit concentrates upon, what has influence on the proper administration of public revenues

and expenditures (Dan Mavrodin, 2008). Thus, risk identification is the first and most important

stage of risk management process, it consists in identifying potential hazards that exist within the

entity.

Having a brief discussion on internal control, the crucial component of internal control, i.e. internal

audit and risk management, the ensuing discussion now focuses upon the kinds of internal audit

which enables the organization to plug wastages and curb malpractices. The following types of

internal audit will be discussed: a) Financial Audit and b) Operational Audit.
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Financial Audit

In the last decade, both internal control and internal audit have gained paramount importance. In a

study conducted by Isa Tak, Ana Morariu and Ay han Guney and published in a research paper

titled, “The Importance of the Financial Audit Perception in the Internal Control Structure to prevent the

Financial Crisis: Evidence from Romania” tries to provide survey evidence of the internal control if its

needed, if it can prevent frauds and if it can improve financial report quality. The objective of th e

financial reporting is defined in the IFRS 2011 booklet as follows: The objective of general purpose

financial reporting is to provide financial information about the reporting entity that is useful in making

decisions about providing resources to the entity and in assessing whether the management and the governing

board of that entity have made efficient and effective use of the resources provided (Bruce, Danie, Tapiwa &

Raymond, 2011). The significance of precise financial reporting has been expressed by several

academicians and standard setters. Accuracy in financial reporting should be ensconced in business

process, as for ensuring effective and efficient utilization of resources the financial reports must

provide the correct picture of the company.

Accounting scandals, like, Enron in 2001, WorldCom in 2002, Qwest Communications, Adelphia,

Global Crossing, Nortel, Parmalat that appeared in the beginning of the 21st century has increased the

magnitude of complexity of the financial world and pulled to the nebulous atmosphere. After these

forms of financial catastrophes, flashes have been busted on the external auditors but the significance

of the internal audit has been well accepted by the academicians that it should not be ignored.

Talking about financial audit without mentioning about financial statements has no relevance.

Companies produce financial statements that provide information about their financial position and

performance. This information is referred and used by a wide range of stakeholders, e.g.

shareholders, banks, suppliers, customers, investors etc in formulating economic and other important

decisions.

The financial statements prepared by corporate houses are audited by external auditors and it

provide respite to the stakeholders, as they are assured of a neutral verification of accounts by an

outside agency. But the external auditor scrutinizes or checks the final product but what about the

work-in-progress, i.e. the preparation of financial statements, the accounting items covered, methods

embraced for determining the value of various accounting items that gets final berth in Trading,

Profit & Loss Account, Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement. For example, whether depreciation is

properly charged? whether fixed assets are recorded at proper values? whether expenses have been

inflated or revenues have been understated in order to show less profits for evading taxes or

providing false information on profits as a window dressing and so on an so forth. So, right from

checking financial loopholes, prevention of concealment of material facts, to ensuring compliance

with accounting standards while recording various financial items all comes under the purview of

financial audit.

While companies of varying sizes generate financial statements, the number of stakeholders

interested in them would generally be larger for public companies and mammoth private companies,
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due to the number of individuals, businesses and organizations that interact with and are affected by

them. Also, public companies’ financial statements are typically available to big number of users. In

most jurisdictions, for public companies, there are additional requirements to comply with while

preparing financial statements.

In addition, the changing economic and legal has substantial implications for a company’s operations

and financial reporting, and changes in the business, economy and laws and regulations normally

enhance the degree of risks affecting the business and calls for adequate response and disclosure in

the financial statements. This in turn affects the way an audit is carried out, since the auditing needs

to be scaled to address increased risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. So the

huge responsibility lies on the shoulders of internal audit team. They have to be well versed with

advanced accounting knowledge and various mercantile laws that may have a direct or an indirect

influence on financial activities of the organization.

Since accounting is the backbone of a business process, as it provides rails on which the train of

financial activities runs, it is essential to understand ‘Basic Internal Accounting Audit’. The following

points are of relevance in this regard:

a) Creating an Accounting Audit Trail : An accounting audit trail is the paper and electronic sources

that document the history of a business's transactions. Audit trails are used to trace a business's

financial data from the general ledger to the source of the transaction/funds. A robust audit trail

provides a complete chronological list documenting the steps taken to commence and complete

transactions. Now, the internal auditors should try to find out that whether the existing accounting

practices enable them to track the complete process of a financial transaction with documentation. If

not, then accounting processes must be strengthened in order to create an adequate accounting audit

trail. To create an accounting audit trail accounting software can be employed.

b) Reviewing your company’s existing record keeping policies : It is important that all financial

information is stored in reliable, secured and in an organized manner. . All relevant information, such

as bank statements, cancelled checks, and cash register tapes should be stored at least through the

end of each reporting period. If this information is stored properly then it will be easily accessible for

resolving any issues or discrepancies.

c) Examining the process by which financial documents are currently provided to the accounting

department: The primary step in accounting audit comprises of collecting financial documents, like,

invoices, receipts and bank statements, and handing them off to the accountant or accounting

department for processing. In case, this process moves at snail’s pace then the accounting records will

suffer and credibility will be lost.

d) Creating a system for monitoring company’s internal controls : Internal controls are those

provisions that help to protect against fraud, theft, and other internal accounting issues. Accounting

duties to the employees should be assigned judiciously. For in stance, it is advisable not to allow the

same person to both handle cash and do the bookkeeping, as this makes it easier to explain away
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missing cash. Further, the following safety measures should be implemented: i) Safes should be

locked when not in use, and company software and computers should be password protected and ii)

Use of camera systems as they are advantageous for monitoring the execution of internal controls at

retail businesses.

e) The Accounting and Tax Laws : For tax purposes, it is mandatory to maintain comprehensive

accounting records. If accounting records have been kept in compliance with law, then it creates no

problem during external audit.

Operational Audit

It involves a review of operating processes from the perspective of determining the effectiveness and

efficiency of such practices in attainment of the stated objectives. For instance, a business may

perform an operational audit of manufacturing practices to conduct gap analysis to enable process

improvements.

In other words, an operational audit process is the series of steps an auditor takes to assess the

operational activities of a given company or other organization. The process is very much alike to the

processes for other kinds of audits, like, financial audit, but the operational audit process is a much

more in-depth review of the business. It generally does not concentrate on a single department or

project, since each department plays a role in the overall operational process and is interlinked.

The objective of the operational audit process is to ascertain whether the internal controls of the

business, like, policies and procedures, are adequate to produce an optimum level of efficiency and

effectiveness. This is important for businesses, because absence of efficiency and effectiveness

typically translates to lower sales and enhanced operational costs, which sometimes imply the

inability of the business to compete in the industry.

The need for operational audit has emerged due to the insufficiency of traditional sources of

information for an effective management of the company where the management is at a distance

from actual operations due to levels of delegation of responsibility, segregating it from actualities in

the organization. To be precise, operational auditing arose from the need of managers responsible for

areas beyond their direct observation to be fully, objectively and currently informed regarding

conditions prevailing in the units under control.

Operational audit is considered as a specialized management information tool to fill the void that

traditional information sources fail to fill. The reason being conventional source of management

information are departmental managers, routine performance report, internal audit reports, and

periodic special investigation and survey. It is observed that these traditional sources fail to provide

information for the best direction of the departments all of whose activities does not come under the

ambit of direct observation of managers. In view of this, operational auditing has filled an important

vacuum, i.e. it has provided the management with inexpensive, continuous and objective appraisal of

activities, operations and controls to inform the management about accomplishment of standards

and, if otherwise, to inform the management what has gone awry and how it happened. Also, it
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enlightens the management about probable menaces, limitations and opportunities that may be of

substantial value to the management. Thus to sum up, the operational audit is undertaken to address

the following:

a) Identify poor work practices in order to improve them.

b) Verify that employees implement operations in conformity with instructions and regulations,

which guarantees attaining the desired effectiveness and efficiency.

c) Assist in the evaluation of quality control processes embraced by the organization.

d) Evaluate implementation processes in the organization.

How it Goes?

During pre-audit, the auditor meets with managers, explains the audit process and collates basic

information regarding the company to ascertain concerns and risks. After this, the auditor interacts

with key managers to check the components of the audit and the associated concerns. Next, the

auditor meets with those in control of high-risk areas and figures out and documents their objectives

and control activities. The auditor sends the documentation to the managers for confirmation and

discusses controls not in place. Then after, the auditor designs and prepares testing procedures for

each key control. He reviews the plans with managers and carries out the tests, documenting and

discussing all results and improvement proposals, followed by preparation of an audit report and

conducting of meeting with the management to understand the ways and means to address the issues

detected. At the end, final report is generated and follow-up is done.

To elaborate further, for executing operational audit in an effective manner, the following points

needs to be taken into account (a brief description of them is provided below, please refer Exhibit 1):

a) Select procedures or departments whose operations are to be audited:

This step is considered the fundamental stage in which the procedures or departments whose

operations are to be audited are chosen, which substantially affects all subsequent steps of the

auditing process. This is achieved by using the following parameters:

The audit added value:It refers to the impact that will result from improving the implementation

of the process whose operations are to be audited, noting that priority will be given to the

procedures or departments that never have been audited.

Impact: Priority is given to the processes or departments that have the highest impact on

economy, efficiency or effectiveness.

Risk: The risks associated with the implementation of procedures in conformity with the

stated or specified criteria and regulations are analyzed. The more they are associated with

the public interest, the more important is the auditing process.
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b) Determine audit objectives: In this step, the objectives of operational audit are decided. It must be

noted that framing the operational audit objectives significantly affects the nature of the audit and the

outcomes that will be obtained using this process. Elements to be considered when deciding the

objectives of operational audit are: Procedures and departments to be audited; Reason, i.e. the driving

reasons of operational audit and Impact, i.e. outcomes expected from operational audit.

c) Selection of audit team and determine the schedule: No team can perform well, if any of its

member’s rectitude is questioned. In view of this, it is essential that every member of the operational

audit team possess the following qualities: Objectivity and impartiality; Maintain the confidentiality

of information; Honesty and integrity; Ability to work as part of a team; Ability to assume

responsibility and form decisions and Experience in operational audit. Having formed a team which

possess the mentioned qualities and potential to conquer ‘Alps’, without further loss of time, the

schedule of operational audit should be chalked out. It comprises of the following:

Audit Schedule- When audit will happen? Which checklist? Lead Auditor/Owner

Audit Preparation- Agenda created, Audit team assigned and Schedule confirmed

Audit Execution- Audit performed, Findings recorded, Identify risks, Severity, Management/Peer

review

Audit Reporting- Track progress, Trending & Analytics and Risk Management/Analytics

Follow Up/Closure- Track resolutions, Perform follow up and Schedule next audit.

d) Define the operations to be audited: In this stage, the audit team reviews all documents pertaining

to the operation to be audited. This may cover the following:

Procedure manual.

Instructions concerning the operations that will be audited.

Regulations, legislation, policies and guidelines embraced by the government department.

Process flowcharts.

Forms used and the instructions on how to fill them out.

Performance indicators.

The government department’s strategic plans and operational goals.

Reports on plans and priorities.

Previous audit reports prepared by other auditors.

e) Determine audit scope : At this stage, the following questions demands answers:

Which departments are engaged in the operation to be audited?

Who are responsible for implementing the processes and operations to be audited?

What powers does the auditor have? How accessible is the information?

Are the temporal or spatial determinants to implement the operations?
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f) Preparation of audit checklist: The auditor must prepare the audit checklist based on the

documents he has reviewed, which are pertinent to the scope of work specified. The checklist is a set

of items that must be verified for conformity to the procedures and yardsticks set forth in the

documents. The auditor uses this checklist during the audit process. It should be noted that the

checklist must be encoded by serial numbers to maintain the reliability of information and document

data for quick access.

At this stage, the auditor must uses the audit checklist form to document all the queries through

which to audit the implementation process and its conformity to the procedures and criteria. The

auditor should also:

Identify the sources and code of the document on which the inquiry is made.

Procure the information and objective evidence needed.

g) Inform workforce to be audited: The department management informs the employees involved in

the process implementation of the date of audit process: the scope of audit and the person to be

audited. Employees must be given an apposite amount of time prior to auditing in order to prepare

the records and files needed.

h) Implement auditing: The audit process is divided into two parts:

(i) Monitor the work- The auditor observes the performance of staff and assess the magnitude to which

they conform to the sequence of operations and how they deal with customers. In the process, he

writes down notes to prepare a report of nonconformity cases, if any.

(ii) Audit by interviewing human capital and reviewing the documents: Prior to auditing, the auditor must

explain to the workforce concerned how auditing is to be performed. Then use the audit checklist to

ask the employee/employees concerned the required questions and write down their answers in

detail along with any notes. As well as auditing all the files and records that contain the previous

forms, reports and documents on the implementation of the procedure, in order to check that

operations are being executed as per the procedures and yardsticks specified.

i) Preparation of the audit summary report: Upon the conclusion of the auditing process, the auditor

prepares the audit report and sends it along with the checklist and nonconformity report (if any) to

the department management, which in turn approve the report and pass it on to the managers

concerned in order to initiate requisite corrective and preventive actions.

When preparing the report, it is essential to ensure that the report contains all the needed

information, including: Audit objectives; Scope of work, Action steps, including the time needed,

professional standards and policies adopted; Audit results, including points of nonconformity;

Summary of experts’ views and management comments (if any). They must include all opinions,

whether positive or negative and Any confidential or sensitive information that has been removed.
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j) Follow up: Within a reasonable time period after implementing corrective and preventive actions,

the audit process should be repeated to make sure that it achieves its objectives and that

implementation conforms to the procedure and parameters laid down.

The Future of Internal Audit & Greener Pasture for Company Secretaries

In January 2012, Ernst & Young commissioned Forbes Insights to carry out a global survey about the

evolving role of internal audit. Respondents comprised of chief audit executives (CAEs), C-suite

executives and board members representing organizations with global revenues of $500 million or

more and spanning 26 industry sectors.

In the survey, 75% of respondents believe robust risk managemen t exerts a positive impact on their

long-term earnings performance. An equal number believe that their internal audit function has a

positive impact on their overall risk management endeavours. And yet, 80% of respondents

acknowledged that their internal audit function has room for improvement. Of these respondents,

70% believe that the improvements should be undertaken within the next 24 months.

So, from the brief description of the mentioned survey result, it can be confidently said that internal

audit is going to stay and will capture the top slot in organizations. For several years, internal audit

departments served as business and operational consultants to their organization, adding value

enterprise wide. But with the passage of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and other laws and regulations, the

focus of internal audit has moved away from business and operational issues and toward financial

controls. To be perceived as valuable business advisers, however, internal audit departments need to

conquer challenges pertaining to governance, staffing, operations, and quality to align their

contributions to the organization’s strategic objectives.

Risk assessments and risk management are becoming more complex, and more important, to

organizations. External market forces, economic volatility, and regulatory expectations have

prompted executive management and audit committees to be more concerned about identifying and

managing risks that could undermine strategic and operational objectives.

In view of this, there is a need and an opportunity for the internal audit function to take more of a

leadership role in assisting organizations for addressing critical strategic risk management issues. To

elevate the importance in the organization, internal audit needs to emphasize on three basic

attributes: a) Acquire the technical skills to audit the organization’s biggest risks. This can be

achieved by hiring auditors with the appropriate experience and education, using outside resources,

or both, b) Maintain a thorough understanding of the organization’s industry and the risks the

organization faces. This should include knowledge of the competitive landscape, the primary market

drivers, and applicable regulations and c) Use technology and software tools that can render internal

audit’s skills and knowledge more effective.

Further, the Indian Companies Act, 2013, have placed high importance on the concept of internal

audit. The theory of internal audit was not present in Indian Companies Act, 1956, but, was parked in

Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003 (CARO). But Indian Companies Act, 2013 contains an
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express provision about internal audit recognizing the usefulness of such an audit in terms of better

internal control and corporate governance.

The concept of internal audit is covered by Section 138 of Indian Companies Act, 2013. The section

states that such class or classes of companies as may be prescribed shall be required to appoint an

internal auditor, who shall either be a chartered accountant or a cost accountant, or such other

professional as may be decided by the Board to conduct internal audit of the functions and activities

of the company.

Further, it is also stated that the Central Government may, by rules, prescribe the manner and the

intervals in which the internal audit shall be conducted and reported to the Board. At this juncture, it

is also important to discuss about Internal Audit provisions in Companies (Accounts) Rules 2014-

Rule13.

Applicability (Rule 13 (1)):

The following class of companies shall be required to appoint an internal auditor or a firm of internal

auditors, namely:-

(a) every listed company;

(b) every unlisted public company having-

(i) paid up share capital of fifty crore rupees or more during the preceding financial year; or

(ii)turnover of two hundred crore rupees or more during the preceding financial year; or

(iii) outstanding loans or borrowings from banks or public financial institutions exceeding one

hundred crore rupees or more at any point of time during the preceding financial year;

(iv) outstanding deposits of twenty five crore rupees or more at any point of time during the

preceding financial year; and

(c) every private company having-

(i) turnover of two hundred crore rupees or more during the preceding financial year; or

(ii) outstanding loans or borrowings from banks or public financial institutions exceeding one

hundred crore rupees or more at any point of time during the preceding financial year.

According to the Section 138 of Companies Act, 2013, the internal auditor shall be either Chartered

Accountant or Cost Accountant or such other professional as may be decided by the board. Further,

such internal auditor may or may not be an employee of the company (Explanation to Rule 13 of

Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014). Thus, an employee of company may also be appointed by Board

as internal auditor. Now, it’s a blessing for Company Secretaries, as the words, ‘other professional ’

provide avenue for Company Secretaries to step into the shoes of internal auditor also. Another key

insertion in Companies Act, 2013 that have broaden the scope of internal auditor and probably
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Company Secretaries, is Section 139, as it states that statutory auditor appointed under the mentioned

section is not eligible to provide the service of internal audit whether provided directly or indirectly

to the company or its holding company or subsidiary company, as provided in Section 144 of the

Companies Act, 2013.

Therefore, paramount challenges and opportunities are waiting for Governance Professionals.

Business complexities are on the rise, so are the probabilities of malpractices, frauds, scams etc. As

Key Managerial Personnel, Company Secretaries can now expand their wings and scale stellar

heights in the firmament of internal audit. Since they are like a bridge between board and

stakeholders of the company, and having access to critical processes, policies and procedures of the

organization, they can be a fulcrum of internal audit, by monitoring financial and operational matters

through the microscope of corporate governance.

Conclusion

Simply observing a business organization, one may not understand what is going behind the walls

and sometimes the heights of these walls are so high that for a stakeholder it may be beyond his

capacity to explore the real facts. For instance, for an investor who is not conversant with the theory

of Fundamental Analysis, may not be in a position to analyze the financial statements of the company

over a period of time, in respect of its liquidity and solvency. Similarly, everyone cannot be expected

to be a connoisseur in judging a business with reference to its production efficiency, turnover, qua lity

of human capital and their performance, whether processes instituted are playing a crucial role in

attaining cost effectiveness or enhancing profitability etc.

A stakeholder, especially investors who can afford to be hapless, if they are assured that there is a

team that constantly keep vigil over the activities of the organization, which is always alert and will

not waste a moment in bringing deviations to the notice of the management, will take all necessary

measures to ensure that his wealth is intact and the company is not indulged in activities which are

kept cryptic from the investors, and so on and so forth.

No doubt external audit is a control mechanism but to ensure as to how control systems are

functioning and is there any collapse or chance of failure in control system, internal audit is the

answer. Further, internal auditors work within businesses and organizations to monitor and assess

how well risks are managed, the business is being governed and internal processes are functioning.

Thus, they have the duty to advise management on how to improve systems and processes. Finally,

internal audit is a cornerstone of robust governance, it bridges the gap between management and the

board, assess the ethical climate and the effectiveness and efficacy of operations, and serves as an

organization’s safety net for compliance with rules, regulations , and overall best business practices.
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Exhibit 1

Steps involved in Operational Audit

Source: Operational Audit Best Practices (US AID)
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COMPANY SECRETARY

GROWING POTENTIAL IN TODAY’S BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT!

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
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The world has come closer with trade and businesses crossing national boundaries.

The requirement of conducive environment for smooth operation of business has become all the more

critical and the need of the day!

In such times a strong foundation of legal systems is a must for businesses to function without any

apprehensions and hitches.

The business world has begun to identify and associate the role of a Company Secretary be it

employment or practice with not only Company Law but also the entire gamut of corporate laws.

It encompasses laws relating to direct, indirect taxes, land laws, law pertaining to commercial

contracts, Intellectual Property Law, Cyber Law, Environment Laws, Labour Laws amongst many

others.

The laws mentioned above are not new but the active involvement of Company Secretaries in the

implementation of these laws is rather recent. In some laws Company Secretaries do not dabble but

there is still lot of scope for us to venture in provided the statues are amended to that extent.

Company Secretaries by profession are not allowed to appear in the Court of Law to present cases.

However, Company Secretaries now have a permission to appear before the Company Law Board to

present cases falling under Company Law. Company Secretaries with their expertise on Company

Law and a little fine tuning of presentation skills and methods for representing cases, have a big

opportunity to widen the scope of their activities.

Labour Laws:

India has a multitude of restrictive labour laws and these have been found to adversely affect

economic performance of manufacturing firms. The impact of trade liberalization on the domestic

manufacturing sector to a great extent depends on labour laws. The more flexible labour laws are the

better it will enable India to compete in global markets.

Shri Shankar Aggarwal, Secretary, Labour and Employment, Gov ernment of India in the 104th

International Labour Conference in Geneva stated that the emphasis of the government is on quality

and effectiveness of the labour inspection system rather than mere numbers. We want to bring in an

efficient system of compliance for labour legislation with the help of information technology. He said
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that Government of India has taken a major good governance initiative to avoid malpractices in

labour inspections. He reiterated that the rights of the inspection authority have not been curtailed at

all. The phrase 'end of Inspector Raj' does not mean 'end of inspection system' but ending

malpractices and arbitrariness in the current inspection system.

Prime Minister Narendra Modi has launched several initiatives, including a single-window labour

compliance process for industries and friendlier provident fund facilities. He also unveiled the new

inspection scheme that is expected to end the so-called Inspector Raj. Labour inspectors will no

longer have the powers to decide on the premises that they would survey. Instead, a computerized

system will randomly, based on data and objective criteria, identify the companies to be inspected

(something similar to what is done during random scrutiny of income tax returns). Further, the

inspectors will have to upload their inspection reports within 72 hours and can’t modify them

thereafter.

The Government has launched the Shram Suvidha web portal to facilitate a single window for

compliance in labour laws. The portal is one among the five schemes which were inaugurated in

October, 2014 under a labour reform programme called ‘Pandit Deendayal Upadhyaya Shramev

Jayate Karyakram’, by Prime Minister Narendra Modi. This programme is a part of the government’s

call for ‘Minimum Government and Maximum Governance’ in order to bring about greater

transparency and speed in the system.

The most important advantage of the portal is online registration of units and filing of self-certified

single online returns. This will help to identify each and every unit with its unique number and

would help to reduce the compliance burden on the industries, especially small and medium sized

enterprises. The filing of a single consolidated online return, rather than filing separate returns for

various labour compliances reduces a large amount of burden for the employer. Company Secretaries

with their knowledge and expertise in the field of labour laws will be in a position to contribute in the

preparation and filing of the returns.

The Company Secretary can also deliver on compliance work on the following fronts under Labour

Laws:

- Submission of returns on a regular basis.

- Maintenance of appropriate records with regard to employees of the establishment under

various labour legislations.

- Preparation of master compliance report covering within its ambit the entire set of labour

laws for a better grip on implementation of the applicable statutes.

The preparation of such a compliance report will reflect the picture in totality and will identify gaps.

It will help set up an internal control system which will rectify the gaps to ensure regular and timely

compliance of the laws.
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Cyber Laws:

Another impact as a result of globalization is the threat of cyber crime. The reason why cyber crime is

critical is because cyber crime does not involve physical presence at the scene of crime, a basic

assumption in criminal law. The new methods of transactions and trades that have emerged with the

new technologies are so different from old methods that the old checks and balances are no longer

relevant in their respect. While embracing these methods, organisation needs to take this into

consideration and make provisions against misuse.

The regulatory compliances under Indian Companies Act 2013 have been given a new meaning. The

increased cyber obligations under the 2013 Act now require the companies to comply with techno

legal requirements in India. These include cyber law due diligence, cyber security due diligence, e-

discovery compliances, cyber forensics, etc. Even the cyber security obligations of law firms in

India has significantly increased and various stakeholders, including companies and law firms, must

keep in mind the international legal issues of cyber security.

Under the new Act the responsibilities of board of directors have been enhanced to a great extent.

The Board now would be required to attach to statements laid before a company in general meeting a

report about various compliances under the Companies Act 2013. These include cyber law, cyber

security, e -discovery, cyber forensics and many more such techno legal compliance obligations on the

part of directors. Further, they must also prove that they had devised proper systems to ensure

compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws and that such systems were adequate and

operating effectively. Now this would require techno legal expertise as cyber law and cyber security

issues are not easy to manage.

With the requirement for stringent compliances under Cyber Laws, its need for audit and checks in

the system is all the more important. Information systems auditing is not similar to traditional

auditing. To conduct the process of information systems auditing, knowledge of the following is

required:

- traditional auditing,

- computer science,

- behavioral science

- information system management

The essence of a systems audit lies not only in covering the audit of reported items but also the

aspects of choice of technology, use and risk of the technology without which the true picture will not

be reflected and the purpose of the audit will not be served. All of this is finely wrapped inside a

legal framework as a result of which a person with only technical knowhow cannot undertake such

an activity. A person with sound knowledge of the legal implications needs to be support the cause.

120



The Compliance Officer of the organisation plays a pivotal role in this movement. He is well

equipped with appropriate knowledge and ideas essential to introduce the checks and balances

within the organisation. He can also contribute significantly in the training and orientation of

employees towards achieving this end. These training programmes are crucial from the point of view

of implementing the checks and balances that have been defined. Because it is after all the

‘employees’ that build the organisation!

Environment Laws:

Abiding by the law of the land is mandatory. There is a general desire in the corporate world to meet

the requirements of the law and not fall prey to any litigation. But very few make an attempt to

understand the essence and spirit of the statute and to extract and implement it. After all it is the

Company Secretary who needs to propagate this philosophy and try to inculcate it in his

organisation.

India is the seventh largest country in the world by geographical area and 65% of its population is

under the age of 30. Over the next five to ten years, India is expected to experience aggressive

growth by some estimates. While this growth seems high compared to many countries, India will

require a high growth rate to ensure the livelihood of its population. The huge population burden

also brings with it a whole spectrum of social issues that have environmental implications.

There are seventeen categories of industries been identified under the Environment Laws to be highly

polluting industries: aluminium, cement copper, distillery, fertilizers, iron & steel, etc to name a few.

The number of companies under these categories that have installed pollution controls to those who

are in default is greater. What is a matter of concern is that many of the companies which now have

installed pollution controls were initially found in violation of environmental requirements. This

again drives us to the same thought that the basic instinct is ‘not to follow the law’.

Public Interest Litigation has had a profound effect on the development of environmental law in

India. These PILs have given the judiciary enormous scope for intervening in environmental matters.

Indian courts have been categorical in their adoption of the values of sustainable development and

the “precautionary principle,” which asserts that a lack of scientific certainty should not be used as a

reason for postponing measures to prevent environmental degradation where there are threats of

serious and irreversible damage if the action is not taken.

Applicable environmental laws concerning the cleanup of contaminated property follow the polluter

pays principle and impose liability on property owners and operators. The penalties imposed have

included site closure and recovery of the cost of remediation from the responsible companies. This

liability typically extends to individuals who have operational control, executive powers, or

individual or joint ownership of assets. Since a board of directors has executive powers, statutory

liability extends to all board members who are declared as Directors of the Company with the
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Registrar of Companies. Liability may also extend to senior officials who are not board members if

they fulfill the above criteria.

The liabilities under Environment Laws are rather stringent. They not only sap the revenues of the

company in the form of penalties but also tarnish the image of the company in the global market. An

increasing desire of Indian companies to meet world class standards has caused established

companies in India to undertake regulatory compliance and sustainability initiatives as a means of

improving their global brand and reputation. Foreign investment has resulted in heightened scrutiny

of current and historic environmental liabilities associated with property transactions in India.

The desire to attain this status would necessitate a regime of self – regulation in organisations.

Company Secretaries can render their valuable knowledge and ideas towards attainment of these

objectives. Compliance could be ensured under the Environmental laws through internal audits and

detailed checklists stating disclosure and measures under different environmental laws.

The noose is tightening around the neck of the Indian companies trying to make their mark in the

global market with an increasing demand towards compliance of the law in letter and in spirit. The

Company Secretaries have a great responsibility to steer the ship in the direction of self-regulation by

interpreting the true sense of the law.
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TOOLS OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE UNDER THE COMPANIES

ACT, 2013

The business system is regulated by various rules, regulations, processes, customs and practices. The

entity (whether a company / partnership / LLP or any other form of business organization) is under

obligation to ensure compliance of the applicable rules, regulations, processes, customs and practices.

Corporate Governance relates to compliance at the time when such compliance is contemplated and

reporting such compliance / non-compliance to the stakeholders. Therefore, it is said that Corporate

Governance relates to integrity, accountability, transparency and disclosures. For the corporates, the

stakeholders include - shareholders, management, customers, suppliers, financiers, government and

the community.

Under the Companies Act, 2013, there are various provisions which makes the companies

(depending on applicability) and management more accountable, transparent and ensure that

stakeholders are provided with adequate disclosures for the purpose of decision-making. The article

is compilation of select provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 which provides a ‘tool for corporate

governance’. Few of these tools have been incorporated for the first time in the Indian Company Law,

while few of the provisions existed under Companies Act, 1956 but were not mandatory, but were

adopted as a good corporate practice. Few of the tools were mandatory under the Listing Agreement.

Synopsis: Under Companies Act, 2013, there are various provisions which makes the companies and

management more accountable, transparent for ensuring that stakeholders are provided with

adequate disclosures for the purpose of decision-making. The article is compilation of select

provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 which provides a ‘tool for corporate governance’. Few of

these tools have been incorporated for the first time in the Indian Company Law, while few of the

provisions existed under Companies Act, 1956 but were not mandatory, but were adopted as a good

corporate practice. Few of the tools were mandatory under the Listing Agreement.
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SECRETARIAL AUDIT:

Secretarial Audit can be an effective multi-pronged weapon to assure the regulator, generate

confidence amongst the shareholders, the creditors and other stakeholders in companies, assure

Financial Institutions and instill self-regulation and professional discipline in companies. It is a tool of

risk mitigation and will allow companies to effectively address compliance risk issues. It helps the

companies to build their corporate image.

Secretarial Audit is an independent and objective assurance intended to add value and improve

operations of the company. The exhaustive exercise by Practicing CS and CS of the company helps in

accomplishing the organisation’s objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to

evaluate and improve effectiveness of risk management, control, and governance processes.

Under the Companies Act, 1956 the Secretarial Audit was not mandatory, however, few listed

companies adopted the process and the Secretarial Audit Report was attached as an annexure to the

Directors’ Report. The scope of the Secretarial Audit was discussed between the CS of the Company

and Practising CS, which was limited to corporate laws only.

SECRETARIAL STANDARDS:

Depending upon the philosophy of the promoters, compliance level of the company and overall

volume of transactions requiring approval of the board of directors and the shareholders, the

companies followed diverse corporate secretarial practices. These practices include: Issuing notice of

meeting, mode of issue of sending notice of meeting, conducting meetings, maintaining minutes of

meetings etc. Secretarial Standards aim to integrate, harmonise and standarise the corporate

secretarial practices for various class the companies. It can be said that, after July 1, 2015 (date of

implementation of Secretarial Standards) the documentation and compliance w.r.t the corporate

secretarial records for closely-held private company, unlisted public company and listed company –

will be at par i.e. standardized.

The adoption of Secretarial Standards by the corporate sector will have a substantial impact on the

quality of secretarial practices being followed, making them comparable with the best practices in the

world. It will also ensure observance of uniform practices across Board, while strengthening the

Board processes, protecting individual directors, preventing oppression & mismanagement, building

up investor confidence and better monitoring of compliances, thereby achieving the common goal of

better corporate governance.

Under the Companies Act, 1956 the Secretarial Standards were not mandatory, however, few listed

companies adopted the Secretarial Standards and made the requisite disclosure in the Directors’

Report about its compliance.
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INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS:

Section 149 of the Companies Act, 2013 relates to composition of the Board of Directors for the

company, wherein Section 149(4) states that every listed public company shall have at least one-third

of the total number of directors as independent directors and the Central Government may prescribe

the minimum number of independent directors in case of any class or classes of public companies.

The latter of Section 149(4) is defined in the Companies (Appointment and Qualifications of

Directors) Rules, 2014. Section 149(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 prescribes the criterias and

qualifications a person to be eligible to be appointed as independent director of proposed company.

Considering the roles, responsibilities, duties and liabilities of the directors in the company, the

Independent Directors plays a significant role in decision-making at Board-level and audit committee

level, in spite of being an ‘outsider’ / ‘watchdog’. It will not be an over-statement that the

‘involvement’ of Independent Director in the documentation, procedures, processes, compliances,

risk-management is much higher than the actual promoters of the company. This is because of the

enhanced roles and responsibilities of the independent directors in the company. The role of

Independent Directors in fraud prevention and fraud detection has come under the direct scanner of

the regulatory authorities, members and other stakeholders due to the recent exposure of high-profile

instances of fraud in India.

Under the Companies Act, 1956 the appointment of independent director was not mandatory. Such

appointment was mandatory under the Listing Agreement. Under the Companies Act, 2013, even

unlisted public companies are under obligation to appoint independent director.

INTERNAL AUDIT:

Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (‘ICAI’) defines Internal Audit as an independent

management function, which involves a continuous and critical appraisal of the functioning of an

entity with a view to suggest improvements thereto and add value to and strengthen the overall

governance mechanism of the entity, including the its risk management and internal control system.

In accordance with the Standard on Internal Audit (‘SIA’) - 1 issued by ICAI, the internal auditor

should, in consultation with those charged with governance, including the Audit Committee, develop

and document a plan for each internal audit engagement to help him conduct the engagement in an

efficient and timely manner.

The internal audit aims at discovering errors and therefore when external audit (statutory or any

other audit) is done those errors which were discovered during internal audit would have been

rectified by then. There is reduction in the chances of frauds / plugging the loopholes which may be

conducted by cartel of employees, wherein the top management cannot look into the minute details.
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The internal audit is carried out by specialized professional, who present a report on the findings in

the audit to the top management for necessary action.

Internal Audit was mandatory under the CARO for certain companies under the Companies Act,

1956.

REPORT ON AGM:

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 121 of the Companies Act, 2013, every listed public company

shall prepare in the Form No. MGT – 15, a report on each Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’) including

the confirmation to the effect that the meeting was convened, held and conducted in accordance with

provisions of Companies Act and Rules made there under. The company is under obligation to file

with the Registrar of Companies a copy of the report on AGM within 30 days of the conclusion of

AGM.

Form No. MGT – 15, includes certain crucial points which are; (i) whether chairman of the meeting

appointed, (ii) Number of members attended the meeting, (iii) Business transacted at the meeting and

result thereof, (iv) Particulars with respect to any adjournment of meeting and change in venue, (v)

Particulars with respect of postponement of meeting and change in venue, (vi) Fair summary of

proceedings of the meeting. Such disclosures are crucial from the perspective of various stakeholders,

whereby the company is accountable for the information that is submitted vide Form No. MGT – 15.

The Form is to be digitally signed by Chairman of the meeting or in case of his inability to sign, then

by 2 directors (one of whom shall be MD, if appointed) and CS.

There was no provision under the Companies Act, 1956 with respect to the Report on AGM.

INDEPENDENCE OF AUDITORS:

The independence of the statutory auditors of the company was one of the most sought provisions in

the Companies Act, 2013. The principle envisaged with respect to the rotation of statutory auditors is

to ensure that the “friendly relations” between the company promoters and statutory auditors is not

developed, which if developed would jeopardize stakeholders’ interest and dilute the statutory

auditors’ independence.

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 139(2) of Companies Act, 2013, a listed company or prescribed

class of companies shall not appoint or re-appoint an individual as auditor for more than one term of

5 consecutive years and an audit firm as auditor for more than 2 terms of 5 consecutive year.

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 144 of the Companies Act, 2013, the auditor shall provide to the

company only such other services as are approved by the Board of Directors or the audit committee,
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as the case may be, but which shall not include certain services (rendered directly / indirectly to the

company or its holding company or subsidiary company). The certain other services include: (a)

Accounting and book keeping services, (b) Internal audit, (c) Designing and implementation of

any financial information system; (d) Actuarial services, (e) Investment advisory services, (f)

Investment banking services, (g) Rendering of outsourced financial services; (h) Management

services; and (i) any other kind of services as may be prescribed.

There was no specific provision under the Companies Act, 1956 with respect to independence of

Auditors and restriction on rendering certain services. However, with respect to the rendering certain

kind of services, MCA had issued circulars / clarifications to provide more precision on the

provisions and its compliance.

AUDIT COMMITTEE:

Section 177 of the Companies Act, 2013 related to “Audit Committee”, whereby the Board of

Directors of every listed company and prescribed class of company shall constitute such Committee.

The Audit Committee shall consist of minimum of 3 directors, with independent directors forming

majority. There are no specific ‘educational’ requirements criteria, however, majority of members of

Audit Committee (including its Chairperson) shall be persons with ability to read and understand the

financial statement.

The role and terms of reference of the Audit Committee has been defined to include:

(i) Recommendation for appointment, remuneration and terms of appointment of statutory

auditors company;

(ii) Review and monitor the auditor’s independence and performance, and effectiveness of audit

process;

(iii) Examination of the financial statement and the auditors' report thereon;

(iv) Approval or any subsequent modification of transactions of the company with related parties;

(v) Scrutiny of inter-corporate loans and investments;

(vi) Valuation of undertakings or assets of the company, wherever it is necessary;

(vii) Evaluation of internal financial controls and risk management systems;

(viii) Monitoring the end use of funds raised through public offers and related matters.

Audit Committee is under obligation to investigate into the above mentioned matters or the can be

referred to it by the Board and for this purpose Audit Committee shall have the power to obtain

professional advice from external sources and have full access to information contained in the records

of the company.

Under the Companies Act, 2013, the Audit Committees plays a significant role in corporate

governance to maintain stakeholder confidence. The Audit Committee members encounter range of
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new challenges as they are given the responsibility of overseeing critical aspects of the complexities of

financial reporting, regulatory compliance and risk management.

The role, responsibilities and duties of the Audit Committee has substantially increased under the

Companies Act, 2013 and almost at par with role, responsibilities and duties under the Listing

Agreement. Therefore, unlisted public companies will have to ensure compliance of such provisions,

as good as the public company is listed. The compliances under the Companies Act, 1956 were not as

burdensome as prescribed under the Companies Act, 2013.

VIGILANCE MECHANISM:

The provisions relating to the vigil mechanism are applicable to listed companies and certain class of

companies (companies which have accepted public deposits or companies which have borrowed

money from banks and public financial institutions in excess of Rs. 50 crores).

With respect to the operating part of the vigil mechanism, the Audit Committee is under obligation to

oversee the same. Where the company is not required to form an audit committee, but where the

provisions relating to vigil mechanism are applicable, then in such cases, the company shall nominate

a director to oversee the implementation.

Companies may consider developing a fraud response plan and obtaining Audit Committee's

approval. The Audit Committee member is under obligation to recue in case of conflicts. The vigil

mechanism should provide for adequate safeguards against victimization. The Audit committee or

the director is authorized to take suitable action (including reprimand) against repeated frivolous

complaint. The vigil mechanism acts as a buffer for the management.

CONCLUSION:

The above-mentioned are few of the tools of corporate governance that are to be adopted by

companies, depending upon its applicability. Some of the tools have been proved successful in

developed countries, and its application in India will be challenging. There has been resistance from

the corporates with respect to adoption of few tools and its practical implementation. As

professionals, it is our responsibility to ensure that requisite compliances are fulfilled with ease and

the person / committee complying the provisions are communicated and convinced with the

importance of the same. Compliance burden is eased when the concerned person / committee are

‘educated’ and critical aspects are deliberated with the probable outcome.
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Introduction

“The Commerce and Industry Ministry declared on 15.07.2015 that the Foreign Direct Investment

(FDI) into equity jumped 48% after the launch of the “Make In India” Programme. The “Make in

India” initiative, which seeks to make the country a global manufacturing hub, was launched on

September 25, 2014. Between October 2014 and April 2015, equity FDI rose 48 percent, according to

the Ministry. Total FDI saw fresh equity inflows and reinvested earnings of foreign investors. The

Ministry also said that in 2014-2015, investment by FII’s rose 717 percent to $40.92 billion. (The

Economic Times 16.07.2015)”

The above statistics show that foreign investors are gaining confidence in the Indian Economy and

are finding India as a very attractive place to park their funds, both in terms of returns and safety;

thanks to the liberal and dauntless measure by the Government to encourage foreign investments.

Understanding FDI

Foreign Direct Investment -FDI, as per the Consolidated FDI Policy has been defined as “Investment

by non-resident entity/person resident outside India in the capital of an Indian Company under

Schedule I of the Foreign Exchange Management (Transfer or Issue of Security by a Person Resident

Outside India) Regulations, 2000.

Regulatory Framework

Foreign Investments in India is governed by Sec.6 (3) of The Foreign Exchange Management Act,

1999 read with Notification No.FEMA 20/2000-RB dated 3/5/2000 as amended from time to time. The

Department of Industrial Policy and Promotion (DIPP), Ministry of Commerce and Industry,

Government of India, makes policy pronouncements on FDI through Press Notes/Press Releases

which are notified by the Reserve Bank of India as amendments to the Foreign Exchange

Management (Transfer or Issue of Security be Persons Resident Outside India) Regulations, 2000.

These notifications take effect from the date of issue of Press Notes/Press Releases, unless specified

otherwise therein. In case of any conflict, the relevant FEMA Notification will prevail. The Procedural

Instructions are issued by The Reserve Bank of India vide A.P.(DIR Series) Circulars.

The company accepting foreign Investments against issue of capital instruments should also comply

with the relevant section of the Companies Act, 2013 and The Companies (Share Capital and

Debentures) Rules, 2014 and any other Rules , if applicable and file the requisite forms with The
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Registrar of Companies. It should also ensure the compliance with the internal regulations of the

company by verifying its Articles of Association.

The regulatory framework thus consists of Acts, Regulations, Press Notes, Press Releases,

Clarifications etc;

The Department of Industrial Policy and Promotion, Ministry of Commerce and Industry,

Government of India recently issued the Consolidated FDI Policy of 2015 which has become effective

from 12th May 2015, which can be viewed at www.dipp.nic.in/FDI Circular 2015.

Recent Policy Measures towards FDI:

The Ministry of Commerce and Industry, Government of India, has recently introduced the following

measures by issue of Press Notes from time to time, thereby increasing the Sectoral Cap in the

following Sectors of FDI, which is a move to attract Foreign Investments:

1.100% FDI allowed in Medical Devices

2. FDI Cap increased in insurance & sub-activities from 26% to 49%

3. 100% FDI in telecom sector

4. 100% FDI in single brand retail

5. FDI in commodity exchanges, stock exchanges and depositories, power exchanges, petroleum

refining by PSU’s, courier services under the Government route has been brought under the

automatic route.

6. Removal of restriction in tea plantation sector.

7. FDI limit raised to 74% in credit information and 100% in asset reconstruction companies.

8. FDI limit of 26% in defence sector raised to 49% under Government approval route. Foreign

Portfolio Investment upto 24% permitted under automatic route. FDI beyond 49% is also allowed on

a case to case basis with the approval of the Cabinet Committee on Security.

9. Construction, operation and maintenance of specified activities of Railway Sector opened to 100%

Foreign Direct Investment under Automatic Route.

Recent amendments to the Companies Act, 2013 to simplify the incorporation of companies in India

by making some amendments to The Companies (Amendment) Act, 2015, viz; a) No requirement of

Minimum Paid up Capital for Private/ Public Limited Companies b) Use of Common Seal made

optional. c) No requirement of Certificate of Commencement of Business to be obtained by

companies etc; also persuade foreign investors to commence business activities in India.

Hence, the Government is taking all steps to make India a most sought after place for making

investments by foreign investors.

Business Structure in India for FDI:

The foreign company planning to invest in the Capital of the Indian Company can either:
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Incorporate a company in India under the Companies Act, 2013 as a Joint Venture or a Wholly

Owned Subsidiary, or

Set up an extension of Foreign Entity (Liaison Office/Project /Branch Office) These offices can

undertake only activities specified by RBI. Approvals are granted under the Government and

RBI route. Automatic Route is available for Branch/Project Office meeting certain conditions.

Other Structures: Foreign Investment or contribution in other structures like not for profit companies.

Citizen or Entity from Bangladesh and Pakistan can invest only under the government route also

investor from Pakistan cannot invest in defence, space, atomic energy and sectors prohibited for

foreign investment.

FDI – Investment Sectors:

I. Prohibited Sectors:

FDI is not permitted in the following industrial sectors:

1. Arms and Ammunition

2. Atomic Energy

3. Railway Transport

4. Coal and Lignite

5. Mining of iron, manganese, chrome, gypsum, Sulphur, gold, diamonds, copper, zinc.

II. Permitted Sectors:

General Permission is available for investment in rest of the sectors, subject to sectoral caps

prescribed.

The permission may be under the Approval Route or the Automatic Route:

1. Automatic Route:. FDI is allowed under Automatic Route without prior approval of either the

Government or the Reserve Bank of India in all activities/sectors as specified in the

consolidated FDI Policy issued by the Government of India from time to time. No prior

regulatory approval is required. Only post facto intimation has to be done by the company

accepting FDI, to the RBI through an Authorised Dealer. Automatic Approval is granted

depending on the category of industry and the sectoral cap applicable.

2. Approval/Government Route: All cases which do not meet the parameters under automatic

route are approved within 4 to 6 weeks under Approval Route. FDI activities not covered

under the automatic route requires the prior approval of the Government which are

considered by the Foreign Investment Promotion Board (FIPB), Department of Economic

Affairs, Ministry of Finance. Application can be made in Form FC-IL .
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FDI – Type of Instruments:

Types of Instruments that can be issued against FDI:-

The following types of instruments can be issued by Indian Companies accepting FDI.

1. Equity Shares

2. Fully, mandatorily and compulsorily convertible preference shares

3. Fully, mandatorily and compulsorily convertible debentures

4. Foreign Currency Convertible Bonds

5. Depository Receipts (ADR/GDR)

FDI in also includes within its ambit issue of Rights Shares/Bonus Shares/Issued by way of Private

Placement/Preferential Allotment of securities to foreign investors.

Further, the foreign investor can also acquire securities from a person resident in India by way of

gift/transfer of securities.

General Permission of RBI (Notification No.FEMA dtd 03.05.2000) is also available for:

x Issue of shares under ESOP (Employees Stock Option Plan) by Indian Companies to its

employees or employees of its joint venture or wholly owned subsidiary abroad who

are resident outside India directly or through a Trust, upto 5% of the paid up capital

of the Company.

(The RBI has said on 17.07.2015, that Indian Companies may issue shares under

ESOP/Sweat Equity Shares to its employees or directors of their overseas firms only if

it complies with the SEBI Regulations or Companies Act, besides adhering to the

sectoral cap – Hindu Business Line dtd 18.07.2015)

x Issue and acquisition of shares by non-residents after merger or demerger or

amalgamation of Indian Companies.

x Issue of shares or Fully and Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares or Fully and

Compulsorily Convertible Debentures on rights basis by and Indian Company to a

person Resident Outside India.

Whenever making issue of securities, the company accepting FDI should also ensure compliance

with the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rules thereunder and also SEBI

Regulations.

Issue of Debentures to Non-Residents:-

Issue of Debentures are governed by Foreign Exchange Management (Transfer or Issue of Security by

a Person Resident outside India) Regulations, 2000 and Companies Act, 2013.
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Issue of Depository Receipts ( ADR/GDR):-

Depository Receipts are negotiable securities issued outside India by a Depository Bank, on behalf of

an Indian company, which represent the local Rupee denominated equity shares held as deposit by a

Custodian bank in India. Depository Receipts traded in US markets are called American Depository

Receipts (ADR) and those traded in other markets are called Global Depository Receipts (GDR).

Indian companies can raise foreign currency through issue of ADR’S/GDR’s as per the Scheme for

Issue of Foreign Currency Convertible Bonds and Ordinary Shares (Through Depository Receipt

Mechanism) Scheme, 1993 and guidelines issued by the Government of India. Unlisted Companies,

which have not yet accessed the ADR/GDR Route for raising capital in the international market,

would require prior or simultaneous listing in the domestic market, while seeking to issue such

overseas instruments. Unlisted Companies, which have already issued ADR/GDR’s in the

international market, have to list in the domestic market on making profit or within 3 years of such

issue of ADR/GDR.

Pricing Guidelines of Issue of Shares/Convertible Debentures:-

The instrument issued by the Indian Company against FDI should meet the pricing guidelines under

FEMA Regulations.

As per (Issue/Transfer of Shares or Convertible Debentures) Revised Pricing Guidelines (A.P.Dir

Series) Circular No.4 dated 15.07.2014 issued by RBI, the issue and price of transfer of shares

including Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares and Compulsorily Convertible Debentures,

the price of issue of shares issued shall not be less than:

a. The price worked out in accordance with SEBI Regulations, as applicable, when the shares of

the company is listed on any recognized stock exchange in India.

b. The fair valuation of shares done as per SEBI Guidelines for listed companies or as per any

internationally accepted pricing methodology on arm’s length basis for unlisted companies.

Further, the pricing has to be decided upfront as a figure or based on a formula that is decided

upfront at the time of issue of instruments. The price at the time of conversion should not in any case

be lower than the fair value worked out, at the time of issuance of instruments , in accordance with

the extant FEMA Regulation.

Partly paid equity shares and warrants issued by an Indian Company in accordance with the

provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI Guidelines, as applicable, shall be treated as eligible

FDI instruments w.e.f July 8, 2014, subject to compliance with FDI Scheme.

Any foreign investment into an instrument issued by an Indian Company which

a) Gives an option to the investor to convert or not to convert into equity; or

b) Does not involve upfront pricing of the instrument as date would be reckoned as ECB (External

Commercial Borrowings) and will have to comply with ECB (External Commercial Borrowing)

Guidelines stipulated by the RBI.
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Optionality clauses are allowed in equity shares, fully, compulsorily and mandatorily convertible

debentures and fully, compulsorily and mandatorily convertible preference shares under FDI

Scheme, subject to the following conditions:-

(a) There is a minimum lock-in period of one year which shall be effective from the date of

allotment of such capital instruments.

(b) After the lock-in period and subject to FDI Policy provisions, if any, the Non Resi dent

Investor exercising option/right shall be eligible to exit without any assured return, as per

pricing /valuation guidelines issued by RBI from time to time.

Where non residents are making investments in an Indian Company in compliance with the

provisions of the Companies Act, as applicable, by way of subscription to its Memorandum of

Association, such investments may be made at face value subject to their eligibility to invest under

the FDI Scheme.

Mode of Payment for receiving FDI in an Indian Company

An Indian Company issuing shares/convertible debentures under FDI Scheme to a person resident

outside India shall receive the amount of consideration required to be paid for such

shares/convertible debentures by :

(a) Inward remittance through normal banking channels

(b) Debit to NRE/FCNR account of a person concerned maintained with an AD category bank

(c) Conversion of royalty/lump sum/technical know how fee due for payment or conversion of

ECB , shall be treated as consideration for issue of shares with the approval of FIPB.

(d) Conversion of import payables/pre incorporation expenses/share swap can be treated as

consideration for issue of shares with approval of FIPB.

(e) Debit to non-interest bearing Escrow account in Indian Rupees in India which is opened with

the approval from AD Category – I bank and is maintained with the AD Category I Bank on

behalf of residents and non-residents towards payment of share purchase consideration.

Foreign Currency Account: Indian Companies which are eligible to issue shares to persons to

residents outside India under the FDI Policy may be allowed to retain the share subscription amount

in a Foreign Currency Account with prior approval of RBI.

Reporting Requirements:

As per RBI regulations, an India Company is required to report the details of FDI to RBI, whenever

such Indian Company issues shares/debentures /preference shares/warrants under the FDI Scheme

and raised Foreign Direct Investment. The Indian Company should report details of the amount of

consideration (Including each upfront /call payment) to the Regional Office concerned of the RBI

through its AD Category I Bank, within 30 days from the date of receipt of the money in the

Advance Reporting Form.
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1. Report on receipt of foreign investment:

An Indian Company receiving investment from outside India for issuing shares/convertible

debentures/preference shares under the FDI Scheme should report the details of the amount of

consideration received to the concerned Regional Office of the Reserve Bank within 30 days from

the date of receipt in Advance Reporting Form, through AD Category-I Bank, together with

copy(s) of FIRC(s) (Foreign Inward Remittance Certificate) evidencing the receipt of the

remittance along with KYC Report on the non-resident investor from the overseas bank

remitting the amount . The Report would be acknowledged by the concerned Regional Office of

RBI, which would allot Unique Identification Number (UIN) for the amount reported.

An Indian company issuing partly paid up equity shares shall furnish a report not later than 30

days from the date of receipt of each call payment.

2. Report on Issue of Shares:

After Issue of shares (including bonus shares issued on rights basis and shares issued under

ESOP) fully, mandatorily and compulsorily convertible debentures/fully, mandat orily and

compulsorily convertible preference shares, the Indian Company has to file Form FC-GPR within

30 days from the date of issue of shares. The FC-GPR forms has to be duly filled up and signed

by The Managing Director/Director/Secretary of the Company and submitted to the Authorised

Dealer , who will forward the same to RBI. The following documents have to be submitted with

form FC-GPR:-

1. A Certificate from Company Secretary certifying that:-

a) 1. All requirements of The Companies Act, 2013 have been complied with

2.Terms and conditions of Government Approval, if any, have been complied with.

3. The company is eligible to issue shares under the regulations.

4. The company has all original certificates issued by the Authorised Dealer in India

evidencing receipt of amount of consideration.

For companies with paid-up capital with less than Rs.5 Crores, the above mentioned certificate

can be given by a Practicing Company Secretary.

b) A certificate from SEBI Registered Merchant Banker or Chartered Accountant indic ating the

manner of arriving at the price of the shares issued to the persons resident outside India.

c) The report of receipt of consideration as well as Form FC-GPR have to be submitted to AD

Category-I Bank to the Regional Office concerned of the Reserve Bank under whose jurisdiction

the registered office of the company is situated.

Note: An Indian Company issuing partly paid up shares shall file a report in Form FC-GPR to

the extent they become paid-up.

(d) Annual Return on Foreign Liabilities and Assets should be filed on annual basis by the

Indian Company directly to RBI within 15th July every year. The details of investment to be
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reported would include all foreign investments made into the company which is outstanding as

on the balance sheet date.

(e) Issue of bonus/rights shares or stock options to persons resident outside India directly or on

amalgamation/merger/demerger with an existing Indian Company, as well as issue of shares on

conversion of ECB/royalty/lumpsum technical know-how fee/import of capital goods by units in

SEZ, has to be reported in Form FC-GPR.

Transfer of Shares/fully, mandatorily and compulsorily convertible debentures:

Where the transfer of Shares/Fully, mandatorily and compulsorily convertible debentures requires

the prior approval of FIPB, the same shall be obtained.

In other cases , the transfer of shares have to adhere with the pricing guidelines under The Foreign

Exchange Management Act, 1999 or SEBI Guidelines, as the case may be.

The transfer should be reported by submission of Form FC-TRS to the AD-Category I Bank within 60

days from the date of receipt/consideration along with certificate from a Chartered Accountant on

compliance with the pricing guidelines under FEMA/SEBI guidelines. The onus of reporting is on the

person resident in India.

Sale of Securities:

Sale proceeds of shares and securities and their remittance is governed by FEMA (Remittance of

Assets) Regulations, 2000.

AD Category-I bank can allow the remittance of sale proceeds of a security (net of Taxes) to the seller

of shares resident outside India, provided the security has been held on repatriation basis, the sale of

security has been made in accordance with the prescribed guidelines and NOC/tax clearance certified

from the income-tax department has been produced.

Repatriation of Dividend

Dividends are freely repatriable without any restrictions (After TDS or Dividend Distribution Tax) .

The repatriation is governed by provisions of FEMA (Current Account Transactions) Rules, 2000 as

amended from time to time.

Repatriation of Interest:

Interest on fully, mandatorily and compulsorily convertible debentures is also freely repatriable

without any restrictions (net of Taxes.)

An Indian Company taking on record in its books any transfer of its shares or Compulsorily

Convertible Debentures by way of sale from a resident to a Non Resident or vice versa, shall disclose

in its balance sheet for the financial year in which the transaction took place, details of the valuation

of shares or Compulsorily Convertible Debentures, the pricing methodology adopted for the same, as

well as the agency that has given/certified the valuation.
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Adherence to Guidelines/Orders

FDI is a Capital Account Transaction and thus any violation of FDI Regulations are covered by the

penal provisions of FEMA. The Directorate of Enforcement under the Ministry of Finance takes up

any investigation in contravention of FEMA.

Conclusion:

A company that goes on FDI could possible enjoy making incentives in the new country like low

corporate tax and income tax rates, cheap labour etc; The country accepting FDI can garner the

industrial development through funding of its industries by foreign capital, employment

opportunities, sharing of know-how with the investing country, better technology and management

etc;

As per the UNCTAD (Survey Project 2012) , India is the most important destination after China

attracting foreign investors. Mauritius, Singapore, The USA and The U.K. are the leading sources of

FDI into India. Amongst the developing countries, India and China are the two major economies that

have adopted market oriented economic policies designed to attract foreign inflows.

Some of the latest foreign investments proposals awaiting India Inc are:

“Oracle plans to open its tenth product development centre in India in Gujarat International Finance

Tec-City owing to Indian emerging as the second-largest product development workforce outside US.

(Times Business 17.07.2015)”.

“Japanese major Honda Motor Car Company planning to pump in Rs.4,000 Crores for a new factory

in Gujarat……..The headquarter in Japan sees India as a key strategic market, and the importance has

only gone up and the country has emerged as Honda’s 4 th largest car market globally (Times Business

18.07.2015)”.

India is slowly emerging as one of the robust economies of Asia. Thanks to the Government

initiatives such as “Make in India”, focusing on 25 vital sectors of the economy for job creation and

skill enhancement. Though FDI in certain sectors face domestic resistance, the Government is

supporting the domestic industries on the one hand and also embracing unprecedented foreign

investments into the country, thereby fostering the overall economic development of the country.

In the scenario where foreign investments are pouring into the country, we as professionals have

immense opportunities to explore, and also guide the investors towards good compliance practices.

References:
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A BIRD’S OVERVIEW OF EMERGING AREAS OF PRACTICE FOR PCS

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

CS Jagdish Ahuja B.Com, ACS, ACMA, LLB

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Introduction:

For practising professionals good news seems to be flowing from several directions. Gone are the

days when CS profession was in great demand only due to Section 383A of the Companies Act, 1956

(Old Act1956). This section mandated appointment of a Company Secretary in employment on whole

time basis in all companies having paid up capital of RS 5 Cr. and above. Even the Companies Act,

2013 (New Act 2013) contains the similar provision under Section 203 read with Companies

(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules 2014. However, in today’s complex

regulatory regime, it is correct to say that “only a Company Secretary (CS) does what he does”. In

other words, none other than a CS can discharge the duties expected of a compliance officer. It may

not be out of place to state here that appointment of a whole time CS is also mandated as per clause

47a of the equity listing agreement. This clause requires a listed company to appoint a Compliance

Officer who shall be the member of our esteemed Institute. As a Compliance Officer he has to deal

with all the shareholders requests and to deal with Stock Exchange. The point which I want to

emphasise here is that there is a great level of acceptance and recognition to the roles played by CS

and it is practically impossible to think of running businesses without the support of company

secretary professionals. It is indeed proud to say that members of our institute in employment are

treated as Key Managerial Personnel (KMP). With this recognition, we are now at par with other key

professionals in organisation such as CEO, CFO, Whole time director, etc.

With the growing business needs and expanding horizons across the world, the need for Company

Secretaries in practice is also increasing manifold. A number of lucrative avenues are now thrown

open to practicing company secretary professionals. Today, a skilled Company Secretary in practic e is

in great demand in the corporate sector. Be it a case of corporate restructuring (such as mergers,

amalgamations or takeovers) or corporate advisory services related to Company

law/FEMA/SEBI/IPR/ etc. a CS in practice is always preferred compared to other professionals due to

his sound knowledge of corporate and economic laws. He is an expert and considered as panacea for

all worries in the corporate sector. A CS can choose to be a generalist who can provide wide range of

services as per need or he may also become a ‘Specialist’ who will provide exclusive services such as

Specialist in Corporate Laws/FEMA/Tax, etc. matters. A professional always has to remain vigilant

and opportunist. He needs to keep a close watch on the development happening around him.

Example, when annual Union Budget is announced in the month of February, he needs to closely

study to find out if there are any opportunities present which can be capitalized in time. Similarly, he

must study the amendment to FDI policy, changes in FEMA regulations, RBI circulars, change in

Government at Centre or State level and its impact on business and commerce in general and specific

with reference to his practice etc. He must also study the impact of such changes on his client’s
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business and provide suitable alerts to all his clients from time to time. A true professional’s duty is

not clerical but managerial.

It seems that the change is the only constant. In the past, the frauds like Satyam has led to a situation

of excessive regulation with more emphasis now being given on self-regulation. In case any non-

compliance//irregularity or fraud is established or brought to the notice of regulators, strict action in

the form of penalty/or imprisonment as the case may be is envisaged. Recently, the Bombay Stock

Exchange has fined 530 companies for failing to appoint at least one women director which is a

mandatory requirement. SEBI is expected to impose a scheduled fine ranging from RS 50,000 to RS

142,000 on companies who fail to comply and an additional fine of RS 5,000 per day till the date of

compliance. The corporate sector has off late realized the fact that the cost of non-compliance is

expected to be much higher than the cost of compliance. This is expected to provide a big fillip to the

PCS as well as CS in employments who are now gearing up to grab such opportunities.

In the following discussion, an attempt is made to list out the emerging services that a PCS can

provide.

1. NCLT

Recently, the Supreme Court has upheld the constitutional validity of the National Company

Law Tribunal (NCLT), clearing the way for a significant reform in the framework for resolving

corporate insolvency. The National Company Law Tribunal (NCLT) will replace the Company

Law Board and the Board for Industrial and Financial Reconstruction, and be an overarching

body for resolving insolvencies.

Once the NCLT is set up it will not just replace the Company Law Board (CLB) but will also

take care of cases that are with the High Courts, the Board for Industrial and Financial

Reconstruction (BIFR) and the Appellate Authority for Industrial and Financial

Reconstruction (AAIFR).

This is one development which is eagerly awaited by the PCS as they will be allowed to

represent their clients before NCLT/NCLAT who would be eligible to appear for matters such

as mergers, amalgamations, winding up, reduction of capital procedure, etc. Such matters are

currently reserved for High Courts where only advocates are allowed to represent. Thus the

PCS now have to sharpen their advocacy skills as they are now recognized under the New Act

to appear before NCLT and NCLAT.

2. SECRETARIAL AUDIT

Secretarial Audit is an audit to check compliance of various legislations including the Companies

Act and other corporate and economic laws applicable to the prescribed companies. As per

Section 204(1) of the CA 2013, only a member of the Institute of Company Secretaries of India

holding certificate of practice can conduct Secretarial Audit and furnish the Secretarial Audit
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Report to the company. As per this Section, ‘Every listed company and a company belonging to

other class of companies as may be prescribed shall annex with its Board’s report made in terms

of sub-section (3) of section 134, a Secretarial Audit Report, given by a company secretary in

practice, in such form as may be prescribed’. As per the relevant rule, for the purpose of Section

204(1), the other class of companies include every public company having a paid up share capital

of RS 50 Crore or more or every public company having a turnover of RS 250 Crore or more.

At present, a CS in practice, based on his number of years of experience, can conduct from 5 to 20

Secretarial audits in a Financial Year. This will ensure that small time Practising members too

have Secretarial audit mandates so that they do not miss the bus. This limit may be enhanced or

reduced in future depending upon the quality of Secretarial Audit Reports issued by our

Practising members.

3. PROJECT PLANNING AND CORPORATE RESTRUCTURING

Project Planning covers the specialized work such as promotion, formation and incorporation of

companies and matters related therewith including choice of type of company, availability of

name, drafting of Memorandum and Articles of Association and other documents, their stamping

and registration with the Registrar of Companies. Corporate Restructuring covers the activities

such as mergers, acquisition, amalgamations, etc. It also includes activities such as change of

name, change of objects and shifting of registered office of a company. A PCS helps his clien t

companies in complying with necessary legal and procedural requirements and advising the

management on post restructured scenario.

There are numerous opportunities for PCS associated with project planning. As per the Ministry

of Corporate Affairs (MCA) Annual Report for 2014-15, as on 31st December 2014, a total

of1,447,128 companies were on the Registry. Of them 1,007,637 companies are active(comprising

of 943,012 private companies and 64,625 public companies).Again going by the data available

from MCA Annual Report for 2014-15, during the financial year 2014-15 (upto 31.12.2014), a total

of 44,324 companies were registered with collective authorized capital of over R 25,257 crore. Out

of these, 49were Government companies with authorized capital of over R 6,030 crore and 44,275

were Non-Government companies with authorized capital of R 19,226crore.The following

statistics reveals the volume of work involved:

Source: Compiled based on inputs from MCA website

Fig in Number

Month
Indian

Companies

Foreign

Companies
LLPs Foreign LLPs

Jun-15 7,200 14 2,276 -

May-15 6,857 10 2,026 -

Apr-15 6,052 10 1,666 -

Qtr Total 20,109 34 5,968 -

New entities Registered
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The statistics reveals the volume of work involved for PCS. As per the table given above, a total of

20,109 Indian companies, 34 foreign companies and 5,968 Limited Liability Partnerships (LLPs)

were incorporated during the quarter ended Jun 2015. Thus on an average 6,703 number of Indian

Companies, 11 Foreign Companies and 1,989 LLPs were incorporated every month during the

period. There were no Foreign LLPs incorporated during the period. A PCS is not only engaged

for incorporation but also such entities once registered require services of a qualified and

experienced PCS for ongoing compliances on a regular basis. Thus, such entities tend to become

permanent client of the PCS adding to his source of revenue. The MCA issued a notification dated

5th June 2015 whereby certain provisions of Companies Act, 2013 are now relaxed for private

companies. Some of these exemptions are no minimum capital requirement, no need to file Form

MGT 14 in certain cases as listed in Section 179(3), borrowing in excess of paid up capital and free

reserves need not be supported by a special resolution, loan to directors now allowed subject to

certain conditions and so on. Moreover, with a view to improve India’s image in the world on

globally monitored parameter of ease of doing business, the Government has recently introduced

a Single MCA form INC 29 for incorporation of companies which will replace earlier eight

separate forms. Consequently, the time taken for incorporation of companies is now drastically

cut down. This development too is expected to encourage more and more entrepreneurs to opt for

company form for doing business and consequently boost the scope of work of professionals like

PCS.

4. Intellectual Property Rights (IPR)

A PCS can act as a Trade Mark/Copy Right Agent and offer services such as registration of Trade

Mark/Copy Right, appearing before Trade Mark/Copy Right Registrar on behalf of clients, in the

matter of office objection, public opposition, etc. matters. As can be seen from the below table,

there is an overall increase of around 2.16% in filing of IPR applications during the year 2013-14

(251,564) compared to the previous year 2012-13. (246,251)

Source: Trade Mark Annual Report – 2013-14 available on http://ipindia.nic.in/

This demonstrates the volume of work involved and scope for PCS. A PCS, having sound

knowledge on IPR can also offer advisory services to his clients on various related matters.

Similarly, he can also render his valuable services on other aspects of IPR such as under Patent

Act & Geographical Indication. It is now high time that PCSs can take up this untapped potential

practice area.

Trends in fiing of IPR applications:

Application 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14

Patent 34,287 39,400 43,197 43,674 42,951

Design 6,092 7,589 8,373 8,337 8,533

TM 141,943 179,317 183,588 194,216 200,005

Geographical Indication 40 27 148 24 75

Total 182,362 226,333 235,306 246,251 251,564

Fig in Number
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5. Annual Return Certification

As per Section 92(2) of the New Act read with the relevant notified rule, it is mandatory for every

company to file annual return with the Registrar. The prescribed form in which the Annual

Return is to be prepared is Form MGT-7. It may be noted that in case of Companies other than

One Person Company (OPC), the annual return is to be signed (authenticated) either by a director

or company secretary OR where there is no company secretary, by a PCS. In case of OPC and

small companies, the Annual Return shall be signed either by company secretary OR where there

is no company secretary by the director of the company. Further, the annual return filed by a

listed company or, by a company having paid-up capital of Rs.10 Crores or more OR turnover of

Rs.50 Crores or more shall be certified by a PCS in Form No. MGT-8 stating that the annual return

discloses the facts correctly and adequately and that the company has complied with all the

provisions of this Act. In addition to the above, an extract of the annual return in Form No MGT-9

shall form part of the Board’s report. Thus it is evident that the services of PCS will be in great

demand. The electronic version of the MCA annual forms such as MGT-7, AOC-4, etc. are still not

available therefore many companies, especially the companies whose financial year ends on 31st

December 2014 has already filed MGT-7 as an attachment to earlier version of Form 20B. These

forms are learnt to have been approved by MCA and taken on its record. Interestingly, MCA has

recently vide its notification dated 13th July 2015 relaxed the additional fees payable on Forms

AOC-4, AOC-4 XBRL and Form MGT 7 up to 31st October 2015. The relaxation is given in view of

the delay in making available electronic versions of the above forms which are expected to be

launched by MCA by 30th September 2015. Thus PCS will enjoy enough time to plan and file these

documents on behalf of his client companies without attracting any penalties for late filing.

6. Direct & Indirect Tax Planning and Management including income tax, service tax, VAT,

Excise Duty, etc.

In my opinion, there is huge potential for knowledgeable PCS to take up work as direct and

indirect tax practitioners. The income tax department has extended the return filing date for

individuals from 31st July 2015 to 31st August 2015. The new ITR forms for online filing are now

made available at the income tax website ‘www.incometaxindiaefiling.gov.in’ . The Practising

professionals including PCS must grab this opportunity for filing of income tax return on client’s

behalf. One can use JAVA or Excel utilities on the website which are user friendly for filing

income tax return.

In Maharashtra, the process of VAT registration has become fully online. No more manual

document submissions. Thus, PCS can avail this opportunity. In certain States, (e.g. Uttar Pradesh,

Kerala, Goa and Bihar) the Government has recognised PCS who is authorised to appear before

any VAT authorities in connection with any proceedings. Thus there is a great opportunity for

PCS as VAT practitioners. In certain States, Government has even recognised PCS for conducting

VAT audits.
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A PCS can also render his valuable services with respect to Service Tax Compliances. He can

become a service tax practitioner which is currently very lucrative area of practice. It may kindly

be noted that with the increasing role of service sector and its contribution to GDP, the

Government felt the need to tax this sector. In our country, the service tax started from 1st July,

1994 with only 3 services viz., telephone, general insurance and stock broking. Today, there are

very few services which are not taxable as we have recently switched over from selective

approach to comprehensive approach to service tax. A PCS can offer services such as advising the

client on the applicability of service tax, getting the client registered under service tax, Payment of

service tax as per due dates and filing of timely service tax returns. He can also represent his

clients before the regulatory authorities in case there is any dispute concerning payment of service

tax by his client.

A CS possesses multi-dimensional personality as he plays a varied role as can be noticed from the

above discussion.

References:

9 https://www.icsi.edu

9 MCA annual report for 2014-15 available at MCA website www.mca.gov.in

9 Trade Mark Annual Report – 2013-14 available on http://ipindia.nic.in

9 http://dipp.nic.in/
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Introduction:

Employment practices vary from country to country, and from time to time. It is essential to know

various methods adopted to employ personnel, so that the best practice suitable to the type of

employment can be adopted to safeguard the interest of both the parties (the employer and the

employee) and that of the business. The odd situation, in India Inc , is that in the case of employment

of managerial persons, practically the employer and employee happens to be the same person

.Invariably, the promoter is a family group holding majority shares , and thereby enable the family

members to hold the managerial positions for decades together.

In India, the appointment and remuneration of Managerial Persons is subject to the provisions of

Sections 196 to 202 of the Companies Act 2013 (the Act). If the procedure adopted for appointment of

managerial persons falls under the four walls of Schedule V of the Act, then there need the no further

compliance. The contract of employment of Managerial person is Statute-based and not agreement-

based. Schedule V of the Act contains all key terms and conditions relating to the work - be it

compensation, designation, place of work, list of benefits during employment over a period for

exchange of service.

The Act has brought in many new concepts including “One Person Company” , “Small Company”,

“Corporate Social Responsibility “ and many more. At the same time, some new concepts have been

carried half way through. One such area is the “tenure” of the appointment of managerial persons.

Only old wine has been served in new bottle. Somehow our legislators have omitted to take the kind

of care that has been in the appointment of Independent Directors/ Auditors. The term of Auditors/

Independent Directors cannot exceed the term fixed under the new Act. But tenure of managerial

persons can be renewed any number of times. A glance at different employment practices will be

useful to understand the impact of each practice and select the best .A simple classification of the

different practices are given hereunder;

Employment -at-will

Implied Contracts

Agency Staff

Freelancers & consultants

Zero-hour Contract

Employees under fixed term contract

Tenure System of appointment
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Employment-At-Will

Employment-at-will means that the employee can quit at any time, for any reason, and the employer

can terminate the employee at any time and for any reason. This type of arrangement offers immense

flexibility for the employee. That was especially important in times when relocating for more

plentiful food or work opportunities was common. However, this arrangement doesn't offer job

security. That's become more important as fewer families have migrant workers.

Employment-at-will arrangements still exist.. In fact, all employees are presumed to be at-will-

employees unless the employee has a legally binding agreement with the employer that the employee

can only be fired for good cause.

Implied Contracts

Generally speaking, an implied contract is a legally enforceable agreement assumed to exist due to

the parties' conduct and because it would bring the fairest result. This type of implied contract is

always construed in favor of the employee. Employers unknowingly create implied employment

contracts every day, then , uses the mistake as a reason to fire employee .

Agency staff

An employer can hire temporary staff through Agencies. It is the agency’s responsibility to make sure

workers get their rights under working time regulations. At the same time, employer must make sure

that the agency staff can access the facilities (such as canteen and childcare facilities).

After some months’ continuous employment in the same role, agency workers get the same terms

and conditions as permanent employees, including pay, working time, rest periods, night work,

breaks and annual leave.

Freelancers and consultants.

Freelancer or consultant refer to self-employed or are part of other companies. They might not be

entitled to the same rights as workers, eg minimum wages.

Zero hour contracts

Zero hour contracts are also known as casual contracts. Zero hour contracts are usually for ‘piece

work’ or ‘on call’ work, eg interpreters.

They are on call to work when the employer need. Hirers don’t have to give them continuous work.

The employee also don’t have to do work when asked Zero hour workers are entitled to statutory

annual leave and the National Minimum Wage in the same way as regular workers.
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Fixed-term contracts

Fixed-term contracts refer to employment- arrangement that last for a certain length of time and are

set in advance. The contract ends when a specific task is completed or when a specific event takes

place.

Fixed-term employees must receive the same treatment as full-time permanent staff. Very few

individuals pay attention to the legal provisions in the fixed term employment contract. The

appointment letter is invariably prepared by the employer.

Once an employee accepts the terms and conditions of the employment, there is a presumption that it

is a valid contract and is binding on the individual. But it may so happen that some of the provisions

contained in the contract of employment are ambiguous at best or downright illegal. The

enforceability of the contract under such circumstances becomes impossible.

Tenure Appointment:

Tenure appointments are also normally for a fixed term. There need not be a separate contract for

service under tenure system. But still letters of appointment are issued with pre-fixed service

conditions that are applicable to the ‘tenure’ employments. Instances of top political appointments

elected by the public such as that of a President provide good example. In the Indian corporate

context, a managerial person can be appointed as Managing Director, by the share holders, for a

‘tenure’ consisting of 5 years. This is as per Company Law. No notice need be given on completion of

the tenure. After the completion of the tenure, renewal for another term can be done. There is no

limit for the tenure. There are instances where the concerned Law limits the numbers of tenures. For

instance the tenure of appointment (on election) of American President is 4 years. One can be

President only for a Maximum of two tenures.

Indian Company Law permits a free-run for managerial positions with no ceiling on the tenure of

appointments. When one tenure ends- up automatically the next tenure is again thrust with the

managerial persons coming-up. This is justified as the major investor’s stake is higher. The term can

neither be extended nor be shortened. But the tenure is renewed providing for long- term for

managerial persons. In the case of the employment of managerial persons the ‘option’ of continuing

with the institutions is the ‘choice’ of the management. This invites problems.

Difference between ‘Tenure’ Employment and Fixed Term Contract

Tenure system of employment in India is not recognized in isolation, as in USA and Canada, where it

is a specialized form of employment designed for Educational Institutions and Hospitals. Separate

regulations have been enacted to safeguard the interest of employer and employee. The concept is

very much clear under the Indian Companies Act. Even though, appointment of managerial person

under tenure system is term-based, it differs from fixed term contract in some respects as briefed

below
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SN Matter Tenure system Fixed Term Contract

1. Regulating Act Indian Companies Act-2013 in case

of Managerial appointments

Indian contract Act, 1872

2. Manner of

appointment

Selected or Elected according to the

laws providing for the appointment

A contract is prepared by

employer after

discussions with

employee.

3. Signatories Normally respective regulations

provide for term of employment.

No separate signature. A letter is

issued as required by the said rules.

Both employer and

employee sign the

contract.

4. Term Subject to the rules framed. For

instance, a single tenure is a period

of 5 years under Company Law.

May be for one year or

up to retirement -age.

5. Notice period Tenure automatically expires as per

rules and no notice required

Normally a notice period

of one month to three

months on both sides is

enforced

6. Evaluation As per the regulations Governance

Report analyses

Subject to review by the

employer.

From the above, it can be assumed that the ‘tenure’ system is much different from fixed term contract.

Advantages and Disadvantages of Tenure Employment

For years there has been debate about publicly elected officials’ tenure and whether term limits ought

to be enforced to prevent their becoming to entrenched and too distant from the people they were

meant to represent. Now this type of debate seems to be bleeding over into the ‘Board Room’. Most of

the Boards-members tend to have the longest tenured directors by getting re-elected every time their

tenure gets ended, as there is no restriction over the number of tenures. This indicates that some

board members have potentially been overstaying their useful lives. Such companies undoubtedly

are in need of new blood.

While tenure probably shouldn’t be called out as a significant criterion for continued Board -

membership, Boards do need to keep their talent refreshed. Organizations may want to consider the

best range of tenure for the future, given the unique characteristics, and include length of service as

one element they assess to enhance overall Board effectiveness.

More important, however, companies could benefit from being more strategic about managing their

Board talent, just as they are becoming more conscious of managing their employee talent.
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Benefits of limitless Tenure

Until recently, long tenure was rarely a concern. In fact, it was often a source of pride, particularly for

Boards with elite membership. Directors joined Boards and simply stayed until there was an inciting

reason to leave, such as a change in management, a change to the corporate structure, or a change in

their personal situation and this system provided benefits, such as continuity of organizational

knowledge; Credibility in the market; Improved Board dynamics and collegiality.

In some instances, these benefits have clearly led to improved performance.

With the recent scandals and new governance expectations, however, the risks associated with longer

Tenure have become more visible and critical. Many of these risks are the flip side of the benefits. As

members of the board become more entrenched, they may fail to keep up with changes to the

business; they may be constrained to defend decisions and polices that they supported in the past,

that are now of questionable applicability; they may lack new insights and solutions to the company’s

challenges; they may cease to operate independently because of the strong personal ties that they

develop.

Visible Risks of Long tenures

Businesses are becoming more complex and changing more rapidly, so that it is increasingly difficult

for directors to keep abreast of changes to technology, financial dealings, and business strategies.

Recent scandals and legislation put additional pressures on directors and have: increased demands

for specific expertise (i.e. financial); required more time for key decisions and interactions, especially

in committee work; increased scrutiny of all activities resulting from the disclosure and compliance

requirements. Despite these environmental changes, many companies have the same directors.

Optimum Tenure

The current environment calls into question whether these long stretches of service are always in a

company’s best interests, since businesses are becoming more complex and changing more rapidly,

so that it is increasingly difficult for directors to keep abreast of changes to technology, financial

dealings, and business strategies.

Recent scandals and legislation put additional pressures on directors and have increased demands

for specific expertise (i.e. financial);required more time for key decisions and interactions, especially

in committee work; increased scrutiny of all activities resulting from the disclosure and compliance

requirements. Despite these environmental changes, many companies have the same Directors on the

board as a decade ago, even though most experts agree that 10 to 15 years of service is probably long

enough for most directors.” It is difficult to nail down an optimum years of service that could apply

to every board. In fact, an optimum tenure presumes that up to that time, board members add value

and enhance performance, but beyond that period, their value contribution declines. This is

frequently not the case. In reality, the answers to this question are likely to vary according to

company leadership, culture, history, business situation , board dynamics, and board talent needs.
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Use of tenure limits

Some companies have tried to use tenure limits to enforce an optimum tenure and ensure a regular

infusion of new thinking into the board. Tenure limits have appeal because they are relatively easy to

implement politically.

However, they carry some risk: Tenure limits may result in the departure of board members who are

making significant contributions and whose departure would be a significant loss to the company.

“Although establishing li mits on the number of times a director may be elected to the board provides

a mechanical or ‘bloodless’ means for addressing ‘real’ or’ potential’ performance-issue with a

director, it does not take into considerations the fact that a board member’s effectiveness does not

necessarily correlate with the length of board-service.”

Ideally, tenure can serve as a checkpoint that companies can use to monitor their current mix of

director talent rather than a rigid limit imposed to assessment of the board’s current and upcoming

talent needs, including regular performance evaluations. With the new requirements on governance

imposed by the major stock exchanges, performance valuations are no longer an option, even though

up to this point only a minority of companies actually conducted them.

Conclusion

There are benefits and risks in lengthy director tenure, but the biggest risk lies in not being strategic

in your board talent management.

Continually assessing the mix of skills and experience required by the board now falls mainly to

governance committees. As these committees become stronger and more accountable, the evaluation

and rotation of board members will likely increase. Criteria like tenure will be placed in a broader

context of strategic succession management, for the board as well as the CEO. Some board members

may indeed be overstaying. For that matter companies should not become arbitrarily fixated as the

culprit. Boards will do well to articulate their board composition strategy and ensure that they are

using those valuable board seats to enhance the reputations of their organizations as well as they do

for the other assets of their companies.

The provisions of the Act such as code for independent director, Auditor -rotation requirements,

debut of class action suits are a fast march towards an investor friendly India Inc.

(Reference: Article by Judy Canavan, Blair Jones, and Mary Jo Potte.)
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STRENGTHENING CORPORATE GOVERNANCE WITH INTERNAL

AUDIT- COMPANIES ACT 20131

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
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---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Introduction

Today, the biggest challenge facing companies is keeping the focus on good governance over the long

term. An uncertain economic environment punctuated by financial scandals has pushed the idea of

corporate governance to the forefront. Good corporate governance is a journey that begins with a

broad, organizational perspective. Making steady progress requires committed senior leadership,

integrated planning, coordinated execution, and constant monitoring. Internal audit performs critical

roles in all aspects of corporate governance. Internal Audit involves a continuous and critical

appraisal of the functioning of an entity with a view to suggest improvements thereto and add value

to and strengthen the overall governance mechanism of the entity, including the en tity's strategic risk

management and internal control system. Internal audit’s responsibilities are growing due to

increased regulatory scrutiny as well as directives from executives to strengthen controls and

improve risk management.

The Companies Act 2013 marks a new era of corporate governance and transparency in the Indian

corporate sector by making internal audit mandatory for certain classes of companies. The new

requirements of adequacy of internal financial controls, effective risk management processes, anti-

fraud controls and effective legal compliance framework etc. in the Act will be an important vehicle

and an enabler of good corporate governance. An emphasis on internal controls, stemming from

legislation will have the biggest impact on strengthening good corporate governance in the Indian

corporate sector in coming times.

What is internal audit?

Internal Audit is an independent appraisal activity within an organization for the review of systems,

procedures, practices, compliance with policies for accounting, financial and other operations as a

basis for service to management. It is a tool of control –

• To measure and evaluate the effectiveness of the working of an organization

1 CS Nishita Singhal, Assistant Education Officer, ICSI. View expressed by the Author is her personal views and

not necessarily the views of the Institute.
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• To ensure that all the laws, rules and regulations governing the operations of the organization

are adhered to

• To identify risks and also suggests remedial measures, thereby acting as a catalyst for change

and action.

The role of internal audit is to provide independent assurance that an organisation's risk

management, governance and internal control processes are operating effectively. An effective

internal audit function plays a key role in assisting the board to discharge its governance

responsibilities. Thus, it contributes in accomplishment of objectives and goals of the organisation

through ethical and effective governance.

The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India has defined Internal Audit –

“Internal audit is an independent management function, which involves a continuous and critical appraisal of

the functioning of an entity with a view to suggest improvements thereto and add value to and strengthen the

overall governance mechanism of the entity, including the entity's strategic risk management and internal

control system.”

Modern definition of Internal Audit

The new modern definition of internal audit is given by Institute of Internal Auditors. “Internal

auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an

organization's operations. It helps an organization accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic,

disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control, and governance

processes.”

There are following four main elements in the modern definition of internal audit.

• Reliability and integrity of financial and operational information

• Effectiveness and efficiency of operations

• Safeguarding of assets

• Compliance with laws, regulations and contracts

Evolution of the internal Audit as an Extension of external audit

Internal audit developed as an extension of the external audit role in testing the reliability of

accounting records that contribute to published financial statements. The nineteenth century saw the

proliferation of owners who delegated the day-to-day management of their businesses to others.

These owners needed an independent assessment of the performance of their organizations. They
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were at greater risk of error, omissions or fraud in the business activities and in the reporting of the

performance of these businesses. This first gave rise to the profession of external auditing. External

auditors examine the accounting data and give owners an opinion on the accuracy and reliability of

this data. More slowly the need for internal auditing of business activities was recognized. Initially

this activity focused on the accounting records. Gradually it has evolved as an assurance and

consulting activity focused on risk management, control and governance processes.

Paradigm Shift in Internal Audit:

The controls landscape within organizations today is quite different from those existing in the

industrial-era traditional organizations for most of the 20th century. In this radically changed

business environment, the internal audit function has become a major support function for

management, the audit committee, the board of directors, the external auditors, as well as key

stakeholders.

The traditional internal audit model has been transaction-based and cost-driven. Today, internal

audit is undergoing significant change in migrating from a reactive, historically focused function to a

proactive group that takes a risk based focus.

Today the internal audit is in the unique position of being able to see the organisation as a whole.

The properly conceived and implemented, the internal audit function can play a critical role in

promoting and supporting effective organizational governance. Internal Audit functions are now

more committed to providing an assurance function that is aligned with business priorities. The role

of Internal Audit has undergone significant growth and now includes a variety of requirements,

including an increased focus on:

¾ Risk Management

¾ Internal Controls

¾ Overall Compliance Framework

¾ Fraud detection

¾ Consulting and operations

Companies Act 2013 – The New Internal Audit Charter

The Companies Act 2013 has enhanced the scope of internal audit to a great extent. There are many

new requirements warranting organisations to provide assurance to the Board of Directors and Audit

Committees on adequacy of internal financial controls, effective risk management processes, anti-
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fraud controls and effective legal compliance framework etc. which has increased the role of internal

audit in the organisation.

1. Mandatory internal Audit: The Act has made it mandatory for following class of companies to

conduct internal audit of the functions and activities of the company and to appoint an internal

auditor for conducting the internal audit of the company who may or may not be an employee

of the company under section 138(1).

I. Every listed company

II. Every unlisted public company having –

x paid up share capital of fifty crore rupees or more during the preceding financial

year; or

x turnover of two hundred crore rupees or more during the preceding financial year; or

x outstanding loans or borrowings from banks or public financial institutions

exceeding one hundred crore rupees or more at any point of time during the

preceding financial year; or

x outstanding deposits of twenty five crore rupees or more at any point of time during

the preceding financial year; and

III. every private company having –

x turnover of two hundred crore rupees or more during the preceding financial year; or

x outstanding loans or borrowings from banks or public financial institutions

exceeding one hundred crore rupees or more at any point of time during the

preceding financial year.

The Audit Committee or the Board is given the responsibility to formulate the scope,

functioning, periodicity and methodology for conducting the internal audit. Through the

audit committee, the internal audit function is accountable to the board for maintaining

ongoing, constructive relationships and for regular reporting of assurance related issues.

An internal auditor may be chartered accountant or a cost accountant, or such other

professional as may be decided by the Board to conduct internal audit of the functions and

activities of the company.

2. Mandatory reporting on internal financial controls: The Companies Act 2013 requires the

Directors Report and auditor’s report to comment on whether the company has adequate

internal financial controls system in place and operating effectiveness for such controls.
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Section 134 of the Companies Act, 2013, has added the following new requirements to be included

in “Directors’ Responsibility Statement”: The directors, in the case of a listed company, had laid

down internal financial controls to be followed by the company and that such internal financial

controls are adequate and were operating effectively. Explanation – For the purpose of this clause, the

term “internal financial controls” means the policies and procedures adopted by the company for

ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to company’s policies,

the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and

completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information;

Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2015: The Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2015 notified

on 10th April 2015, also requires the auditor to report –

y Whether there is an adequate internal control system commensurate with the size of the

company and the nature of its business, for the purchase of inventory and fixed assets

and for the sale of goods and services.

y Whether there is a continuing failure to correct major weaknesses in internal control

system.

Every report made by the auditor under section 143 of the Companies Act, for the financial year

commencing on or after 1st April, 2014, shall contain the matters specified above.

Thus, the Act has significantly expanded applicability of internal financial controls to cover all

aspects of operations of the company. Business leaders would now need to embed internal controls

monitoring their operations, reporting and compliance processes within the business processes as

opposed to financial reporting only. Organisations would need to shift from point in time testing to

ongoing testing which would be facilitated by effective internal audit in the organisation.

3. Risk Management: Risk management is a central part of any organisation’s strategic

management. Successful organisations seek to integrate risk management and internal control

into all activities, through a framework of risk identification, risk assessment and risk response.

Internal audit is third line of defense, which through its risk based approach provides reasonable

independent assurance to the organisation’s board of directors and senior management on the

effectiveness of risk management processes. In organisations where risk management

implementation is in its initial stages, the role of internal audit is often that of a catalyst or

facilitator to help foster development of the organisation’s risk management process. Further, the

more risk mature the organization is, it is better for the internal audit function to provide a

realistic picture to the board on risk management against its strategic objectives.
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Section 134 of the Companies Act, 2013, has introduced the following new requirement to be

included in the Report by the Board of Directors presented before a company in general meeting –

“134 (3)(n) a statement indicating development and implementation of a risk management policy for the

company including identification therein of elements of risk, if any, which in the opinion of the Board may

threaten the existence of the company.”

Section 177(5), for the Audit Committee to evaluate internal financial controls and risk

management systems clearly states as follows: The Audit Committee may call for the comments of the

auditors about internal control systems, the scope of audit, including the observations of the auditors and

review of financial statement before their submission to the Board and may also discuss any related issues

with the internal and statutory auditors and the management of the company.

Schedule IV of the Companies Act, 2013 specifies that the Independent directors should satisfy

themselves that systems of risk management are robust and defensible.

There are specific requirements in the Act that a company needs to comply with in respect to

Enterprise Risk Management. In addition, the board and audit committee have been vested with

specific responsibilities in assessing the robustness of risk management policy, process and

systems. The Act places a stronger emphasis than before on the role of the Audit Committee on

internal financial controls and risk management. Given the importance of these areas, the role of

internal audit is very important in helping audit committee directors fulfill their oversight

responsibility and legal duties.

4. Overall Compliance Framework: In order to ensure compliance with laws and regulations

prevailing in our country, the Companies Act 2013 is a step in this direction for making

corporate India more accountable. Together with Clause 49 of the listing agreement, the

government is seeking to make Directors of companies responsible for devising proper system

to help ensure compliance with ‘Provisions of All Applicable Laws’ and that such systems are

adequate and operating effectively. The Boards now need to periodically review compliance

reports of all laws applicable to the company, prepared by the company, as well as steps taken

by the company to rectify instances of non-compliance.

Now, the Directors’ Responsibility Statement” under section 134 of the Companies Act, 2013

will also include that – “the directors had devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the

provisions of all applicable laws and that such systems were adequate and operating effectively.”

The Board of Directors, and in particular, the independent directors will increasingly look upon

to the internal auditors to give reasonable assurance that the Legal Compliance process is
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adequate and operating effectively and is suitably evidenced. With these new expectations, it

will be necessary for Internal Auditors to ensure a framework to check comprehensive

compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.

5. Fraud Detection: Globalisation has also increased the scale and complexity of today’s business

environment. It has further been complicated by continual changes in the business environment,

mounting competition and multitude of regulations creating significant pressures on

management to effectively maintain oversight of all operations. These challenging scenarios

create various vulnerabilities in systems, procedures and frameworks for manipulation and

frauds.

Fraud negatively impacts the organisation in many ways including financial, reputational,

psychological and social implications. Depending on the severity of loss, organisations can be

irreparably harmed due to the financial impact of the fraudulent activity.

The new Act proposes vital changes in this context for the first time - it defines fraud, lays down

severe penalties for delinquency, fixes extensive responsibility for senior management,

independent directors and auditors, introduces the establishment of vigil mechanism and

accords statutory status to Serious Fraud Investigation Office (SFIO).

x Section 447 of the Act provides a specific definition of fraud and also makes extensive

provisions for penalising fraudulent activities.

x Under the act, liability and punishment for fraud is extended to every individual who

has been a party to it deliberately, including the auditors of the company.

x Companies are also required to establish a vigil mechanism for directors and employees

to report genuine concerns, even directly to the chairperson of the Audit Committee for

appropriate cases.

x The mechanism should provide for adequate safeguards against victimisation of persons

who use such mechanism. Importantly, the details of such mechanism are required to be

disclosed by the company on its website and in the Board’s report.

x The directors' responsibility statement is required to include a confirmation regarding

proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate accounting records for

safeguarding the assets of the company and for preventing and detecting fraud and

other irregularities. The companies will have to make sure they have adequate processes,
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controls and oversight mechanisms to ensure that there are adequate fraud prevention

controls.

The primary responsibility for prevention and detection of fraud rests with management and those

charged with governance. Establishing a fraud risk management procedures would be of importance

for preventing fraudulent situations and enabling timely and due monitoring and oversight by the

directors. Internal audit is in a suitable position to identify potentially fraudulent situations during

the course of the audit and thus plays a strong role in preventing fraud and other illegal acts. Internal

auditors are often in a better position to detect the symptoms that accompany fraud. Internal auditors

usually have continual presence in the organisation that provides them with a better understanding

of the organisation and its control systems.

Clause 49 of Listing Agreement

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) with the objective to align its provisions to the

Companies Act, 2013 has specifically reviewed clause 49 of the Listing Agreement, to adopt leading

industry practices on corporate governance and to make the corporate governance framework more

effective.

The mandatory requirements of Clause 49 pertaining to internal audit are as follows:

¾ The audit committee shall mandatorily review with the management

(a) the performance of statutory and internal auditors and

(b) adequacy of the internal control systems.

¾ The audit committee shall mandatorily review the adequacy of internal audit function, if any,

including

(a) the structure of the internal audit department,

(b) staffing and seniority of the official heading the department,

(c) reporting structure coverage and frequency of internal audit;

¾ The audit committee shall discuss with internal auditors of any significant findings and

follow up there on.

¾ It shall also review the findings of any internal investigations by the internal auditors into

matters where there is suspected fraud or irregularity or a failure of internal control systems

of a material nature and reporting the matter to the board;

¾ It shall also review internal audit reports relating to internal control weaknesses.
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¾ The appointment, removal and terms of remuneration of the Chief internal auditor shall be

subject to review by the Audit Committee.

¾ The CEO and the CFO is required to certify to the Board of Directors that:

(a) They accept responsibility for effectiveness of internal controls and that they have

disclosed to the Auditors and the Audit Committee deficiencies in the design and

operation of the internal controls and steps taken for rectification of the same.

(b) They have indicated to the Audit Committee and the internal as well as external

auditors as to the following aspects:

(c) Any significant changes in internal controls.

(d) Any significant changes in the accounting policies and instance of significant fraud, if

any, and that the same have been disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

(e) Instances of any significant fraud and involvement, if any, therein of the management

or any employee having a significant role in the internal control systems of the

company.

The non-mandatory requirements of Clause 49 pertaining to internal audit are as follows:

¾ The Internal auditor may report directly to the Audit Committee.

Internal Audit as an enabler of good corporate governance

Keeping in view the enhanced role of Internal Audit under Companies Act 2013 and Clause 49 of

Listing Agreement, an Internal Auditor now needs to review and re-define its role and fulfill its role

as an important vehicle and an enabler of good corporate governance. Internal Audit function is

suitably positioned to be an enabler of good corporate governance because-

• Internal audit is recognised as the third line of defense as it provides the governing body and

senior management with comprehensive assurance based on the highest level of

independence and objectivity within the organization. Internal audit provides assurance on

the effectiveness of governance, risk management, and internal controls, including the manner

in which the first and second lines of defense achieve risk management and control objectives.

This high level of independence is not available in the second line of defense.

• Internal audit function has sound understanding of business strategy and the associated risks,

ability to challenge the control environment and infrastructure supporting the strategy,

visibility across the various functional areas/ business units.
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• Internal audit is more than a compliance function. It is recognised by business leaders as a

function providing quality challenge.

• Internal audit builds a strategic (two to three years) plan, developed in collaboration with the

management, aligned to the organisation's risk profile.

• Internal audit is structured to enable both the maintenance of independence and objectivity,

as well as proximity to the business, to establish and maintain relationships with an in-depth

understanding of the business.

• Internal audit is a dynamic process with integrated quality assurance and learning programs.

Company Secretary as Internal Auditor

Company Secretaries are governance professionals who facilitate the process of good governance in

the organisation. They have a significant impact on the level and quality of corporate governance and

governance culture within an organisation, including a pivotal role in assisting the board to achieve

the organisation’s vision and strategy. Their role is to enforce a compliance framework to safeguard

the integrity of the organisation and to promote high standards of ethical behavior.

Company Secretary is a key functionary in the corporate pyramid. A Company Secretary is a Key

Managerial Personnel and an expert in Corporate Laws, Securities Laws, Competition Laws and

Corporate Governance. With increasing emphasis on the principles of good governance and on

compliances, responsibilities of Company secretary have increased manifolds towards safeguarding

the interests of all stakeholders.

Section 138 (1) of the Companies Act 2013, states that the internal audit can be conducted by a

chartered accountant or a cost accountant, or such other professional as may be decided by the Board.

The Company Secretaries being governance professionals are aptly suitable to perform the role of

internal auditor. The Company Secretaries can utilize the internal audit as a professional opportunity

as an area of practice. Keeping in view the expanding responsibilities of internal audit and,

consequently, the changing requirements of skill sets, the internal audit professionals like Company

Secretaries should -

x Focus on the future—take a proactive approach to risk identification

x Integrate Enterprise Risk Management to develop a mix of risk and compliance based audit

efforts

x Augment skill sets (increasing the role of IT) and leverage resources

x Focus on fraud, control environment, hotline activities, fraud risk assessments

x Establish the role of an adviser

x Build continuous audit capability and influence continuous monitoring techniques

x Maintain independence and objectivity
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x Provide value-added assurance services beyond compliance

Conclusion

The Companies Act 2013 has brought into the forefront, many requirements which necessitate the

internal audit function. The new purpose, authority, and responsibility of the internal audit activi ty

must be formally defined in the new internal audit charter and presented to the senior management

and the board for approval for good corporate governance. There are costs to improving governance

and the returns may not be immediately measurable, but the long-term results of a successful

governance program include better brand and reputation management, enhanced market value,

compliance with regulations, sound business practices, and a more solid foundation for growth.

Currently, internal audit is synonymous to risk management and compliance. The future of audit lies

in continuous risk monitoring, continuously updated audit plan, auditing at the speed of the

business, providing assurance when it is needed and continuous reporting. To help meet

expectations, the corporate world needs strategic thinkers who understand business issues, perceive

the risks to the achievement of business objectives, can evaluate related control implications and

communicate these effectively to senior management. Internal Audit Function is set to evolve into a

more extensive, outward, forward looking and continuous activity playing an enhanced role in

'Integrated Assurance'.
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NATIONAL COMPANY LAW TRIBUNAL AND NATIONAL COMPANY

LAW APPELLATE TRIBUNAL – THE GENESIS AND CHALLENGES1

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

CS Lakshmi Arun, Deputy Director, ICSI

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Eradi Committee – The Beginning(1999)

In the year 1999, the Government of India set up a High Level Committee headed by Justice

V.B. Eradi, to examine and make recommendations with regard to the desirability of changes in

existing law relating to winding up of companies so as to achieve more transparency and avoid

delays in the final liquidation of the companies; The Committee recognized after considering

international practices that the law of insolvency should not only provide for quick disposal of assets

but in Indian economic scene, it should first look at the possibilities of rehabilitation and revival of

companies. The Committee also recommended that the jurisdiction, power and authority relating to

winding up of companies should be vested in a National Company Law Tribunal instead of the High

Court as at present. The Committee strongly recommended appointing Insolvency Professionals who

are members of Institute of Chartered Accountant of India (ICAI), Institute of Company Secretaries of

India (ICSI), Institute of Cost and Work Accountants of India (ICWAI), Bar Councils or corporate

managers who are well versed in corporate management on lines of U.K. Insolvency Act.

The Committee addressed and recommended the following key points:

— The Committee recognized after considering international practices that the law of

insolvency should not only provide for quick disposal of assets but in Indian economic scene, it

should first look at the possibilities of rehabilitation and revival of companies.

— The Committee noted that there are three different agencies namely,

(i) the High Courts, which have powers to order winding up of companies under the

provisions of the Companies Act, 1956;

(ii) the Company Law Board to exercise powers conferred on it by the Act or the powers

of the Central Government delegated to it and

(iii) Board for Industrial and Financial Reconstruction (BIFR) which deals with the

references relating to rehabilitation and revival of companies.

— The committee revealed data of time taken to wind up a company – it may run on an

average upto 25 years; Eastern region being the worst.

1 CS Lakshmi Arun, Deputy Director, ICSI. Views expressed by the Author are her personal views and not

necessarily the views of the Institute.
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Recommendations By N L Mitra Advisory Group (2001)

The Advisory Group examined the details of conflicting decisions on tribunalisation of justice.

Tribunalised justice is a special character of civil law system. In a common law culture, there is an

emphasis on judicial form and formalities. The conflict between the two systems is nothing new in

India. Both the systems, that is the common law and the civil law systems, are now coming closer,

common law systems adopting structure of administrative authority including administrative justice

for the management of various state functions; and the civil law system on the other hand,

incorporating the principles of accusatorial system and judicial process. In India, we have under the

present constitutional paradigm partially adopted tribunalised form of justice under article 323 A and

323 B20. But there are also judicial observations. It is true that in L. Chandrakumar 21, Supreme Court

finally gave its nod in favour of tribunalised system of justice. But the reservation of judiciary against

the erosion of judicial power especially at the High Court level is quite evident. It is not possible to

oust the jurisdiction of the High Court under Articles 226 and 227 without amending the provision of

Article 323B.

The Advisory Group discussed in details the possibility of avoiding the dualism in the system so that

the whole process can be put into a straight line to avoid delay. In that context the following two

methods have been discussed.

x Constituting a National Tribunal with benches at the jurisdiction of each High Court to

receive and deal with all petitions for bankruptcy, restructuring and finally for insolvency

with an appeal lying to the High Court and SLP to the Supreme Court; and

x Having a completely dedicated bench in each High Court dealing with the entire matter of

bankruptcy; reorganization ( similar to reorganization under Chapter 11 of the US code); and

insolvency proceedings ensuring fast track liquidation, the only appeal being by way of a

special leave petition to the Supreme Court.

The proposal (i) has two problems. Firstly, no question can be finalized at the stage of tribunal.

Litigation may travel up and down in interlocutory matters. Secondly, it attracts a constitutional

design in which avoidance of High Court’s power is not possible without amending Article 323 B.

Article 323B of the Constitution enables the appropriate Legislature to provide for adjudication or

trial by Tribunals of disputes, complaints or offences with respect to all or any of the matters

specified in clause (2). Clause (2) enumerates the matters in regard to which Tribunals can be

constituted. The said list is exhaustive and not illustrative. The list does not provide for constitution

of Tribunal for insolvency, revival and restructuring of the company. In the absence of any
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amendment to Article 323B providing for a National Tribunal for revival of companies and winding

up companies, there is no legislative competence to provide for constitution of NCLT and NCLAT.

Another matter has to be seriously discussed. Tribunalised justice as envisaged in (i) has not been

taken in India in the way as has been designed in civil law society. The tribunals in the civil law

society not only comprise of legal experts but also have specified professional experts in it (like the

structure of Income Tax Tribunal in India, which has been functioning satisfactorily). But

unfortunately in India, tribunals are constituted with retired High Court judges. Therefore, these are

as good or as bad as our court systems.

J J IRANI COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATIONS (2005)

x As per Companies (Second Amendment) Act, 2002, the National Company Law Tribunal (NCLT)

is envisaged as the forum to address Insolvency issues. It is hoped that this forum is constituted

speedily. The Committee however takes this opportunity to focus on some important aspects

widely considered important for proper functioning of such a body.

x The Insolvency Tribunal should have a general, non -intrusive and supervisory role in the

rehabilitation and liquidation process. Greater intervention of the Tribunal is required only to

resolve disputes by adopting a fast track approach. The Tribunal should adopt a commercial

approach to dispute resolution observing the established legal principles of fairness in the

process.

x The Tribunal should set standards of high quality and be able to meet requisite level of public

expectations of fairness, impartiality, transparency and accountability. Selection of President and

Members of the Tribunal should be such so as to enable a wide mix of expertise for conduct of its

work.

x The Tribunal will require specialized expertise to address the issues referred to it. The law should

prescribe an adequate qualification criterion for appointment to the Tribunal as well as training

and continuing education for judges/members.

x Rules should be made in such way that ensure ready access to court records, court hearings,

debtors and financial data and other public information.

x Standards to measure the competence, performance and services of the Tribunal should be

framed and adopted so that proper evaluation is done and further improvements can be

suggested.

x The Tribunal should have clear authority and effective methods of enforcing its judgments. It

should have adequate powers to deal with illegal activity or abusive conduct.
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Decision of Supreme Court in Union of India Vs R. Gandhi, President, Madras Bar Association on

constitutional validity of NCLT and NCALT – May 11, 2010

In the about case, Supreme court upheld the decision of the High Court that the creation of National

Company Law Tribunal and National Company Law Appellate Tribunal and vesting in them, the

powers and jurisdiction exercised by the High Court in regard to company law matters, are not

unconstitutional and declared that constitution of NCLT and NCALT under Parts 1B and 1C of

Companies (Amendment) Act 2002 as presently structured, are unconstitutional. However, Parts IB

and IC of the Act, may be made operational by making suitable amendments. This case discusses in

detail about tribunalisation, points in favour of tribunalisation, difference between the court and

tribunals etc.,

Supreme Court Decision dated May 14 2015 on NCLT and NCALT

Though the verdict came in the year 2010, upholding the creation of NCLT and NCLAT, these two

bodies could not be created and made functional immediately thereafter and the matter got stuck in

imbroglio of one kind or the other. Writ Petition No.267/2012 was also filed by this very petitioner

and was pending consideration. Said writ petition was listed before this Bench along with the present

writ petition (2013 petition on which Supreme Court gave its judgment in 2015) and arguments to

some extent were heard in petition as well. However, since the issues raised in the said petition

necessitate further response from the Union of India, with the consent of the parties, it was deemed

proper to defer the hearing in that petition, awaiting the response.

Adverting to the present writ petition, it so happened that the Parliament has passed new company

law in the form of Indian Companies Act, 2013 which replaces the earlier Act, 1956. In this Act, again

substantive provisions have been made with regard to the establishment of NCLT and NCLAT. The

cause for filing the present petition by the petitioner was the allegation of the petitioner that

notwithstanding various directions given in 2010 judgment, the new provisions in the Act, 2013 are

almost on the same lines as were incorporated in the Act, 1956 and, therefore, these provisions suffer

from the vice of unconstitutionality as well on the application of the ratio in 2010 judgment. It is, thus,

emphasized by the petitioner that these provisions which are contained in Sections 408, 409, 411(3),

412, 413, 425, 431 and 434 of the Act, 2013 are ultra vires the provisions of the Constitution and, therefore,

warrant to be struck down as unconstitutional.

The issues

(i) Challenge to the validity of the constitution of NCT and NCLAT;

(ii) Challenge to the prescription of qualifications including term of their office and salary allowances

etc. of President and Members of the NCLT and as well as Chairman and Members of the NCLAT;
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(iii) Challenge to the structure of the Selection Committee for appointment of President/Members of

the NCLT and Chairperson/ Members of the NCLAT.

Challenge to the validity of the constitution of NCT and NCLAT

The Court specifically affirmed the decision of the High Court which held that creation of NCLT and

NCLAT was not unconstitutional. In view of this, it is not open to the petitioner even to argue this

issue as it clearly operates as res judicata.

Qualification/Rank of members of NCLT/NCLAT

It was pointed out that in the 2010 judgment, the Constitution Bench took the view that since the

NCLT would now be undertaking the work which is being performed, inter alia, by High Court, the

technical Members of the NCLT/NCLAT should be selected from amongst only those officers who

hold rank of Secretaries or Additional Secretaries and have technical expertise. Having regard to the

aforesaid clear and categorical dicta in 2010 judgment, tinkering therewith would evidently have the

potential of compromising with standards which 2010 judgment sought to achieve, nay, so zealously

sought to secure. Thus, it was held that Section 409(3) (a) and (c) are invalid as these provisions suffer

from same vice. Likewise, Section 411(3) as worded, providing for qualifications of technical

Members, is also held to be invalid.

Why only Secretaries and Additional Secretaries?

As the NCLT takes over the functions of High Court, the members should as nearly as possible have

the same position and status as high court judges. This can be achieved not by giving the salary and

perks of a high court judge to the members but by ensuring that persons who are as nearly equal in

rank, experience or competence to high court judges are appointed as members.

This issue pertains to the constitution of Selection Committee for selecting the Members of NCLT and

NCLAT. Provision in this respect is contained in Section 412 of the Act, 2013. Sub -section (2) thereof

provides for the Selection Committee consisting of:

(a) Chief Justice of India or his nominee-Chairperson;

(b) A senior Judge of the Supreme Court or a Chief Justice of High Court Member;.

(c) Secretary in the Ministry of Corporate Affairs—Member;

(d) Secretary in the Ministry of Law and Justice—Member; and

(e) Secretary in the Department of Financial Services in the Ministry of Finance— Member.
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The Court specifically remarked that instead of 5 members Selection Committee, it should be 4

members Selection Committee and even the composition of such a Selection Committee was

mandated as follows;

(a) Chief Justice of India or his nominee – Chairperson (with a casting vote);

(b) A senior Judge of the Supreme Court or Chief Justice of High Court – Member;

(c) Secretary in the Ministry of Finance and Company Affairs - Member; and

(d) Secretary in the Ministry of Law and Justice – Member.”

There is a deviation in the composition of Selection Committee that is prescribed under Section 412

(2) of the Act, 2013. The deviations are as under:

Though the Chief Justice of India or his nominee is to act as Chairperson, he is not given the power of

a casting vote. It is because of the reason that instead of four member Committee, the composition of

Committee in the impugned provision is that of five members.

The Court had suggested one Member who could be either Secretary in the Ministry of Finance or in

Company Affairs. Now, from both the Ministries, namely from the Ministry of Corporate Affairs as

well as Ministry of Finance, one Member each is included. Effect of this composition is to make it a

five members Selection Committee which was not found to be valid in 2010 judgment.

Out of these five Members, three are from the administrative branch/bureaucracy as against two from

judiciary which will result in predominant say of the members belonging to the administrative

branch, is situation that was specifically diverted from.

Supreme Court held that provisions of Section 412(2) of the Act, 2013 are not valid and direction is

issued to remove the defect by bringing this provision in accordance with 2010 judgment.
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INDIA INC. CALLING FOR GOODS AND SERVICES TAX 1

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

CS Saurabh Jain, Deputy Director, ICSI

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Goods and Services Tax (GST) is one of the biggest indirect tax reforms in the country since

independence slated to be made applicable in the country from April 2016. It is expected to bring

about a 2% incremental GDP growth of the country. So GST is the need of the hour.

Why we need GST?

Presently in terms of Article 24 – Schedule VII of the Constitution of India we have got three lists, the

Union List, the State List and the Concurrent List. Under the Union list only the Central Government

can levy taxes. In respect of the items contained in the State List only the State Government can levy

taxes. And under the Concurrent List both the Centre as well as the State Government can levy taxes.

A look at the Central Taxes reveals a list that includes Customs duty, Central Excise , Service Tax and

to top it all we have education cess and secondary higher education cess. We have got product

specific cess like automobile cess, research and development cess, etc., all central levy driven by

Union List.

Coming to the State List we have value added tax (VAT) along with Central Sales Tax (CST). We have

entry levy tax, octroi, entertainment tax, luxury tax and at the same time local body tax in some states

such as Maharashtra. So we have multiple taxes both at the Central and State Level.

India Inc. is looking at some simplification, clarification and uniformity in indirect taxes. Hence GST

is the need of the hour.

Issues in Central Excise, Service Tax and VAT -

Under Central levy we start with the customs duty when we import goods, we pay basic customs

duty (BCD), we pay countervailing duty which is the equivalent of excise duty and applicable on like

goods manufactured in India. We pay customs cess, we pay special additional duty (SAT) in lieu of

sales tax. The existing problem in customs duty is that the manufacturer can claim the credit of CVD

and SAT but he can’t avail the cre dit of BCD and customs duty which become cost of production for

the manufacturer.

1 CS Saurabh Jain, Deputy Director, ICSI. Views expressed by the Author are his personal views and not

necessarily the views of the Institute.
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At the same time service provider can avail the credit of countervailing duty only. He can’t avail t he

credit of SAT. So for the service provider BCD, Customs Duty and SAT be come cost. This is just one

of the problems from the credit perspective and the additional problems arise from inverted duty

structure and accumulation of standard credit in the hands of the manufacturer in view of low value

addition because they avail the credit of CVD and SAT but as there is not enough value addition,

they are not able to utilize the credit and thereby there is accumulation. They can’t go for the refund

which is applicable to the importer of goods for the trading of imported goods. To find out a solution

all manufacturers are looking for all these aspects in GST.

Moving from Customs duty to excise duty, we see that the taxable event is manufacturing of goods in

India. So the term “manufacture” is very important. Manufacture means any activity which is

incidental or ancillary to the completion of manufactured products or any activity which is defined in

section note or chapter note of 1st Schedule to CETA. At the same time we have got deemed

manufacture, which is any activity which may be packing, re-packing, labeling, re-labelling,

alteration of retail sale price pertaining to the product specified in Schedule 3.

Then we have variable rates under Excise Duty such as 2% without CENVAT, multiple rates such as

6%, 10%, 18%, 24%, 27% and even 30%. We have multiple valuation system majorly which is

followed on the basis of production capacity or on the basis of Maximum Retail Price (MRP). Under

Section 4A of the Excise Act, we have transaction value which got a different dimension in view of

the judgment of the Hon’ble Supreme Court in the case of Fiat India. Transaction Value is applicable

on the price, i.e., sole consideration and the time and place of removal and the buyer and assessee are

not related but in the Fiat judgment the concept of transaction value got changed and now

transaction value should not be driven by any direct or indirect consideration flowing from the buyer

to the assessee. Some exemptions under excise are absolute while some are conditional exemptions.

At the same time we have excise free zones such as Uttaranchal and Himchal Pradesh, where there is

absolute exemption. We have excise free zones by way of refund mechanism like in the State of

Jammu and Kashmir and then we also have classification of Central Excise by way of Central Excise

Tariff Act, 1985.

Service Tax

Service tax came into effect from 1st July 1994 on three services at the rate of 5%. Until 1st July 2012,

service tax was applicable under the positive list regime of service tax. There has been paradigm shift

from 1st July 2012 with the coming into being of the negative list regime of service tax. The taxable

event for applicability of service tax is rendering of service. After 18 years of applicability of service

tax we got the definition of service.
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What would be service under GST scenario?

Under the 122nd Constitutional Amendment Bill the term, “Services” means anything other than

goods. This broad definition of the term 'service' will altogether remove the disputes on the aspect

whether something is goods or services (unless Government proposes different rates for GST on

goods or services or both).

The law provides for reverse charge and partial reverse charge under service tax. Under the partial

reverse service charge both the service provider and the service receiver have to pay service tax.

There are four partial reverse service charge, viz., renting of vehicle for carrying passengers, supply

of manpower, security services and works contract. It is applicable when the service provider is an

individual, firm, HUF providing services to a body corporate registered as an entity in taxable

territory.

Service Tax is a happening issue for Government of India and now service tax forms a major portion

of the indirect taxes collected by the government as compared to excise duty and customs duty.

Moving on to State Taxes we have Value Added Tax (VAT), which is applicable on the value of the

transfer of property in goods and then we have deemed sale concept. In terms of Article 366 (29A)

deemed sale concept includes works contracts, air conditioned restaurants, etc. At the same time

when VAT was implemented in the country, the respective Finance Ministers of all the states agreed

to keep a uniform VAT rate - floor rates like 1%, 4%, 5% and 20%. But what is happening today is that

the same states are charging VAT at different rates, we have some states charging 5% or 6% wherein

the floor rate is 4%. Some of the states as against the floor rate of 12.% are charging 13.5% and even

18.5%, which is creating imbalance of trade between the states. At the same time under VAT we have

multiple diversities. There is no uniformity in terms of registration, due date of payment, return

filing, etc. The forms to be filed in various states are altogether different, thus, complicating the

whole mechanism.

A business establishment having offices in three different states in the country has to follow the laws

of the respective states. At the same time the assessment process is different, there is difference in the

appellate process, difference in refund mechanism and different Input Tax Criteria (ITC) as given by

the respective state provision.

There is diversity in the VAT procedures across the country, difference in rates of VAT, difference in

forms and procedures from state to state, differences in determining the taxable event for charging

VAT all complicate the system.
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Central Sales Tax -

Central Sales Tax (CST) is applicable for inter-state sale of goods. No credit is available for CST. And

it has been having a cascading effect on the cost of goods parallel to our indirect tax system.

Having seen the major indirect taxes from the Central Government’s perspective and from the

perspective of the states, we conclude that we have double taxation as the main problem in our

indirect taxes system.

Comparing Excise and Service Tax – double taxation is applicable on software, designing, erection

and commissioning equipment along with supply of goods. “Double Taxation” disputes are

persisting for excise and service tax.

Comparing Service Tax and VAT – there are multiple line items wherein double taxation is

applicable. Starting with construction, before completion both VAT as well as Service Tax are

chargeable.

Take the case of Intellectual Property Rights (IPRs), e.g., software both VAT as well as Service Tax are

chargeable.

In the case of dining at air conditioned restaurants, a buyer buying a coffee for Rs. 30/- has to pay

VAT on Rs. 30/ - and at the same time has to pay service tax on 40% of Rs. 30/-. Which is nothing but

double taxation.

Looking back at the cascading effect of indirect taxes – customs duty, customs cess are cascading in

the hands of the manufacturer as he cannot avail any credit for the same, and at the same time he has

to pay excise duty on manufacture for which no credit is available at the hands of the VAT dealer.

And to top it all there are entry tax and octroi. States allow credit of entry tax with a VAT liabil ity. If

there is not octroi, there is no credit available.

GST is clearly the need of the hour and solution to the cascading effect of so many indirect taxes.

With GST coming into being, it is expected to give an incremental 2% in the GDP of the country.

Some important events in the evolution of Goods and Services Tax (GST):

x In 1974 the L K Jha Committee suggested implementation of GST in the country.

x In 1991 the Chelliah Tax Reforms Committee suggested either GST or VAT for the country.

x On 1st July 1994 – Service Tax was implemented on three services at the rate of 5%.

x During 1999-2000 the Empowered Committee of all States’ Finance Ministers was formed and

they prescribed a uniform floor rate for the VAT chargeable at the rate of 1%, 4% and 12.5%.

x In 2003, Haryana became the first State in the country to implement VAT.
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x In 2004, MODVAT was abolish ed and the credit account was merged with service tax and

excise to provide for cross utilization.

x During 2005-2006 more than 25 states implemented VAT in the country.

x In 2007, the Finance Minister of the country spoke about GST for the first time and on that

premise the Central Sales Tax rate was reduced from 4% to 3%.

x On 10th November, 2009 the first discussion paper on GST was released.

x On 15th December, 2009 the Commission gave its report on GST.

x In January 2010, the Department of Revenue commented on the first discussion paper on GST.

x April 2010, the then Finance Minister suggested the probable GST rate.

x In February 2011, a team was set up for laying down the road map for GST.

x In March 2011, the 115th Constitutional Amendment Bill for GST was placed before the

Parliament.

x On 1st July 2012 the negative list regime of service tax was implemented.

x In July 2013, the Parliamentary Standing Committee submitted its report on the 115th

Constitutional Amendment Bill.

x During April 2014, the 115th Constitutional Amendment Bill lapsed and was reintroduced as

the 112nd Constitutional Amendment Bill on 19th December, 2014.

GST Models

A look at the various models of GST functioning across the world reveals that Austra lia and China

levy a National GST with a provision for sharing the same amongst the states. Some countries follow

the State GST model wherein the States levy GST. In countries like Brazil and Canada, the concurrent

dual GST model is followed, wherein both the centre and the states levy taxes on Goods and Services.

Another model known as the Cubic model involves States levying taxes on goods and the centre

levying taxes on services. Only a few countries follow the cubic model and separate legislations are

made by the centre and state governments for their tax collection, procedures, administration and

amount of tax to be collected, etc.

India too can follow the concurrent dual GST model, wherein both the State as well as the Centre will

levy taxes on both goods and services, provided there is political will for the same.
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NATIONAL COMPANY LAW TRIBUNAL (NCLT)

&

NATIONAL COMPANY LAW APPELATE TRIBUNAL (NCLAT) 1

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Chittaranjan Pal & Dheeraj Gupta, Assistant Education Officers, ICSI

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Introduction

In the corporate structure of our country, Judicial Forums play a very important role in the life of a

company. There is discernible trend around the world towards rationalization of business processes

and simplification of legislations governing them. This trend is being driven partly by the use of

electronic communication and information technology that has speeded up business transactions as

well as making them international. Time is, therefore, ripe to ensure that dispensation of justice and

disposal of business matters by the court and authorities should be in tune with the speed with which

business is being transacted. Further certain business matters require specialized domain knowledge

for dealing with the matters justifiably. Keeping in view the pendency of legal matters and need for

specialized knowledge of the persons discharging the responsibility of adjudicating the matters

involving intricate issues relating to the subjects, the process of setting up of specialized tribunals has

gained acceptability over a period of time.

Establishment of NCLT & NCLAT under the Companies (Second Amendment) Act, 2002 &

Madras High Court Judgement

There was a growing need for empowering the Company Law Board and reducing the burden of

High Courts by constituting a high-power Tribunal, which could take up all matters relating to

Company Law and other Corporate Laws at one Forum.

In 2000 the Justice Eradi Committee was the first to recommend the creation of a National Company

Law Tribunal & Appellate Tribunal that would subsume the company law board, BIFR and winding

up cases in high courts. The rationale - to avoid long, drawn court proceedings.

Keeping this in view, the 2002 Amendment inserted new Parts IB & IC in the Principal Act for

formation of National Company Law Tribunal (NCLT or Tribunal) and National Company Law

1 Chittaranjan Pal & Dheeraj Gupta, Assistant Education Officers, ICSI. Views expressed by the Authors are

their personal views and not the views of the Institute.
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Appellate Tribunal (Appellate Tribunal) respectively. Necessary Section - Section 10FA was also

inserted to provide for dissolution of the present Company Law Board.

The Companies (Second Amendment) Act, 2002 provides for the setting up of a National Company

Law Tribunal and Appellate Tribunal to replace the existing Company Law Board and Board for

Industrial and Financial Reconstruction. It also provides for dealing with various matters, which fall

presently under the jurisdiction of High Court pursuant to various provisions contained in the

Companies Act, 1956.

The Madras High Court in the matter of R. Gandhi, President, Madras Bar Association v. Union of India

held that the Parliament’s power to create National Company Law Tribunal and National Company

Law Appellate Tribunal is clearly traceable to Entries 43 and 44 of List I. The Court also viewed that

Parliament is thus competent to enact law with regard to the incorporation, regulation and winding

up of Companies. The power of regulation would include the power to set up adjudicatory

machinery for resolving the matters litigated upon, and which concern the working of the companies

in all their facets.

The Madras High Court, however, declared that until the provisions in parts 1B and 1C of the

Companies Act introduced by the Companies (Amendment) Act, 2002, which have been found to be

defective in as much as they are in breach of the basic constitutional scheme of separation of powers

and independence of the judicial function, are duly amended, by removing the defects that have been

pointed out, it would be unconstitutional to constitute a Tribunal and Appellate Tribunal to exercis e

the jurisdiction now exercised by the High courts or the Company Law Board.

Supreme Court Judgement on NCLT & NCLAT (2010)

Appeals filed by the President of Madras Bar Association before the Supreme Court challenging the

constitutional validity of Chapters 1B and 1C of the Companies Act, 1956 inserted by Companies

(Second Amendment) Act 2002 providing for the constitution of National Company Law Tribunal

(‘NCLT’ or ‘Tribunal’) and National Company Law Appellate Tribunal (‘NCLAT’ or ‘Appellate

Tribunal’).

Supreme Court in the matter of R. Gandhi, President, Madras Bar Association v. Union of India vide its

Judgment dated 11th May, 2010 has upheld the establishment of the National Company Law Tribunal

and the National Company Law Appellate Tribunal, but has suggested certain amendments to be

carried out in the Companies Act to make the NCLT and its Appellate Authority functional. In

paragraph 56 of the Judgment, the Supreme Court tabulated the defects in Parts IB and IC of the Act

and held that
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(i) Only Judges and Advocates can be considered for appointment as Judicial Members of the

Tribunal. Only the High Court Judges, or Judges who have served in the rank of a District Judge for

at least five years or a person who has practiced as a Lawyer for ten years can be considered for

appointment as a Judicial Member. Persons who have held a Group A or equivalent post under the

Central or State Government with experience in the Indian Company Law Service (Legal Branch) and

Indian Legal Service (Grade-1) cannot be considered for appointment as judicial members as

provided in sub-section 2(c) and (d) of Section 10FD. The expertise in Company Law service or Indian

Legal service will at best enable them to be considered for appointment as technical members.

(ii) As the NCLT takes over the functions of High Court, the members should as nearly as possible

have the same position and status as High Court Judges. This can be achieved, not by giving the

salary and perks of a High Court Judge to the members, but by ensuring that persons who are as

nearly equal in rank, experience or competence to High Court Judges are appointed as members.

Therefore, only officers who are holding the ranks of Secretaries or Additional Secretaries alone can

be considered for appointment as Technical members of the National Company Law Tribunal.

Clauses (c) and (d) of sub-section (2) and Clauses (a) and (b) of sub-section (3) of section 10FD which

provide for persons with 15 years experience in Group A post or persons holding the post of Joint

Secretary or equivalent post in Central or State Government, being qualified for appointment as

Members of Tribunal is invalid.

(iii) A ‘Technical Member’ presupposes an experience in the field to which the Tribunal relates. A

member of Indian Company Law Service who has worked with Accounts Branch or officers in other

departments who might have incidentally dealt with some aspect of Company Law cannot be

considered as ‘experts’ qualified to be appointed as Technical Members. Therefore Clauses (a) and (b )

of sub-section (3) are not valid.

(iv) The first part of clause (f) of sub-section (3) providing that any person having special knowledge

or professional experience of 15 years in science, technology, economics, banking, industry could be

considered to be persons with expertise in company law, for being appointed as Technical Members

in Company Law Tribunal, is invalid.

(v) Persons having ability, integrity, standing and special knowledge and professional experience of

not less than fifteen years in industrial finance, industrial management, industrial reconstruction,

investment and accountancy, may however be considered as persons having expertise in

rehabilitation/revival of companies and therefore, eligible for being considered for appointment as

Technical Members.
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(vi) In regard to category of persons referred in clause (g) of sub-section (3) at least five years

experience should be specified.

(vii) Only Clauses (c), (d), (e), (g), (h), and later part of clause (f) in subsection (3) of section 10FD and

officers of civil services of the rank of the Secretary or Additional Secretary in Indian Company Law

Service and Indian Legal Service can be considered for purposes of appointment as Technical

Members of the Tribunal.

(viii) Instead of a five-member Selection Committee with Chief Justice of India (or his nominee) as

Chairperson and two Secretaries from the Ministry of Finance and Company Affairs and the

Secretary in the Ministry of Labour and Secretary in the Ministry of Law and Justice as members

mentioned in section 10FX, the Selection Committee should broadly be on the following lines:

(a) Chief Justice of India or his nominee - Chairperson (with a casting vote);

(b) A senior Judge of the Supreme Court or Chief Justice of High Court – Member;

(c) Secretary in the Ministry of Finance and Company Affairs – Member; and

(d) Secretary in the Ministry of Law and Justice – Member.

(ix) The term of office of three years shall be changed to a term of seven or five years subject to

eligibility for appointment for one more term. This is because considerable time is required to achieve

expertise in the concerned field. A term of three years is very short and by the time the members

achieve the required knowledge, expertise and efficiency, one term will be over. Fur ther the said term

of three years with the retirement age of 65 years is perceived as having been tailor-made for persons

who have retired or shortly to retire and encourages these Tribunals to be treated as postretirement

havens. If these Tribunals are to function effectively and efficiently they should be able to attract

younger members who will have a reasonable period of service.

(x) The second proviso to Section 10FE enabling the President and members to retain lien with their

parent cadre/ministry/department while holding office as President or Members will not be

conducive for the independence of members. Any person appointed as members should be prepared

to totally disassociate himself from the Executive. The lien cannot therefore exceed a period of one

year.

(xi) To maintain independence and security in service, sub-section (3) of section 10FJ and Section

10FV should provide that suspension of the President/Chairman or member of a Tribunal can be only

with the concurrence of the Chief Justice of India.

175



(xii) The administrative support for all Tribunals should be from the Ministry of Law & Justice.

Neither the Tribunals nor its members shall seek or be provided with facilities from the respective

sponsoring or parent Ministries or concerned Department.

(xiii) Two-Member Benches of the Tribunal should always have a judicial member. Whenever any

larger or special benches are constituted, the number of Technical Members shall not exceed the

Judicial Members.

Hon’ble Apex Court uphold the decision of the High Court that the creation of National Company

Law Tribunal and National Company Law Appellate Tribunal and vesting in them, the powers and

jurisdiction exercised by the High Court in regard to company law matters, are not unconstitutional

and declared that Parts 1B and 1C of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 2002 as structured, are

unconstitutional. However, Parts IB and IC of the Act, may be made operational by making suitable

amendments, as indicated above, in addition to what the Union Government has already agreed in

pursuance of the impugned order of the High Court.

Further the Supreme Court in paragraph 18 of the Judgment support tribunalisation and stated that

“the courts function under archaic and elaborate procedural laws and highly technical Evidence Law.

To ensure fair play and avoidance of judicial error, the procedural laws provide for appeals, revisi ons

and reviews, and allow parties to file innumerable applications and raise vexatious objections as a

result of which the main matters get pushed to the background. All litigation in courts get inevitably

delayed which leads to frustration and dissatisfaction among litigants. In view of the huge pendency,

courts are not able to bestow attention and give priority to cases arising under special legislations.

Therefore, there is a need to transfer some selected areas of litigation dealt with by traditional courts

to special Tribunals. As Tribunals are free from the shackles of procedural laws and Evidence Law,

they can provide easy access to speedy justice in a ‘cost affordable’ and ‘user-friendly’ manner.

Tribunals should have a Judicial Member and a Technical Member. The Judicial Member will act as a

bulwark against apprehensions of bias and will ensure compliance with basic principles of natural

justice such as fair hearing and reasoned orders. The Judicial Member would also ensure impartiality,

fairness and reasonableness in consideration. The presence of Technical Member ensures the

availability of expertise and experience related to the field of adjudication for which the special

Tribunal is created, thereby improving the quality of adjudication and decision-making.”

Supreme Court Judgement on –NCLT & NCLAT (2015)

Chapter XXVII of the Companies Act, 2013 consisting of section 407 to 434 deals with NCLT and

Appellate Tribunal. Companies Act, 2013 replaces the High Court with a Tribunal to be known as

NCLT, which will consists of Judicial and Technical members.
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The Madras Bar Association had challenged constitutional validity of provisions in the Companies

Act, 2013 relating to setting up of NCLT and NCLAT alleging that it has proceeded to enact sections

which are plainly contrary to requirements laid down by the apex court in 2010. The bench relied on

the 2010 verdict of the apex court saying “it had specifically affirmed the decision of Madras High

Court which held that creation of NCLT and NCLAT was not unconstitutional. In view of this, it is

not open to the petitioner even to argue this issue as it clearly operate as res judicata.”

The Supreme Court in the matter of R. Gandhi, President, Madras Bar Association v. Union of India vide

its Judgment dated 14th May, 2015 upheld the constitutional validity of provisions of the Companies Act

of 2013 relating to setting up of National Company Law Tribunal and National Company Law

Appellate Tribunal but struck down provisions which permitted inclusion of civil servants of the

level of Joint Secretary as technical members. The Hon’ble Supreme Court quashed Section 409(3)(a)

and (c) and Section 411(3) of the Act providing for qualifications of technical members and held them

to be invalid saying for appointment of technical members to NCLT, directions contained in 2 010

judgment will have to be “scrupulously followed”.

The Supreme Court held that the Apex Court’s 2010 order holding that persons below the rank of a

Secretary or Additional Secretary should not be appointed as a technical member to NCLT must not

be tinkered with as it would have the potential of compromising with standards which it “so

zealously sought to secure”. It also held as invalid Section 412 of the new Act which contemplates

selection by a committee consisting of two Judges and three Secretaries, saying this very issue stands

concluded by the 2010 judgment which is now a binding precedent.

“We are of the opinion that this again does not constitute any valid or legal justification having

regard to the fact that this very issue stands concluded by the 2010 judgment which is now a binding

precedent and, thus, binds the respondent equally. “The prime consideration in the mind of the

bench was that it is the Chairperson, viz. Chief Justice of India, or his nominee who is to be given the

final say in the matter of selection with right to have a casting vote,” it said while maintaining the

2010 verdict which had held that a selection committee must consist of four members.

The Supreme Court directed the Centre to ensure that the bodies are adequately manned and start

functioning at the earliest. “Since, the functioning of NCLT and NCLAT has not started so far and it’s

high time that these Tribunals start functioning now, we hope that respondents shall take remedial

measures as per the directions contained in this judgment at the earliest, so that NCLT

and NCLAT are adequately manned and start functioning in near future ”.

The court said the only step which is left to make the Tribunals functional is to appoint NCLT’s

President and members and NCLAT’s Chairpe rson and members. The Madras Bar Association had

challenged constitutional validity of provisions in the 2013 Act relating to setting up of NCLT
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and NCLAT alleging that it has proceeded to enact sections which are plainly contrary to

requirements laid down by the apex court in 2010. The bench relied on the 2010 verdict of the apex

court saying “it had specifically affirmed the decision of Madras High Court which held that

creation of NCLT and NCLAT was not unconstitutional. In view of this, it is not open to the

petitioner even to argue this issue as it clearly operate as res judicata.”

Rejecting the lawyers body’s argument that the setting up of NCLT and NCLAT should be held

unconstitutional for the same reasons as was done in the case of National Tax Tribu nal (NTT), the

bench said the two situations are different. “The NTT was a matter where power of judicial review

hitherto exercised by the High Court in deciding the pure substantial question of law was sought to

be taken away to be vested in NTT which was held to be impermissible. “In the instant case, there is

no such situation. On the contrary, NCLT is the first forum in the hierarchy of quasi - judicial fora set

up in the Act, 2013. The NCLT, thus, would not only deal with question of law in a given case coming

before it but would be called upon to thrash out the factual disputes/aspects as well,” it said.

The bench added that NCLAT which is the first appellate forum provided under the Act, 2013 to

examine the validity of the orders passed by NCLT, will h ave to revisit the factual as well as legal

issues and “therefore, situation is not akin to NTT”. “We would like to point out that apart from

giving other reasons for limiting the consideration for such posts to the Secretary and the Additional

Secretary, there was one very compelling factor in the mind of the Court viz. gradual erosion

of independence of judiciary, which was perceived as a matter of concern,” it said.

Powers of NCLT

The NCLT has been empowered to exercise the following powers:

Most of the powers of the Company Law Board

All the powers of BIFR for revival and rehabilitation of sick industrial companies;

Power of High Court in the matters of mergers, demergers, amalgamations, winding up, etc.;

Power to wind up companies;

Power to Review its own orders.

The Tribunal and the Appellate Tribunal can formulate their own procedures and regulations

for dealing with the cases and since the cumbersome procedures prescribed in the Civil

Procedure Code will not be automatically applicable to the proceedings before the Tribunal or

the Appellate Tribunal, protracted delays can be avoided and speedy decisions can be made.

Tribunal and Appellate Tribunal will have the power to punish the contemnors, the orders of

the Tribunal will receive the seriousness it deserves and such orders will be effectively

implemented and this power to punish contemnor will act as a deterrent. Besides, this will

avoid filing of affidavits to the Tribunal in a casual and lackadaisical manner.
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Power to order repayment of deposits

Allow issue of redeemable preference shares

Order in case of Reduction of share capital by companies

Order in case of Variation of class rights

Order in case of Refusal to register transfer of shares by companies

Order redemption of debentures

Order convening general meeting

Order investigation of affairs

Order in case of prevention of oppression and mismanagement

Order in case of class action suit

Enhanced Role of Company Secretaries

The establishment of NCLT/NCLAT shall offer various opportunities to Practicing Company

Secretaries as they have been authorized to appear before the Tribunal/ Appellate Tribunal.

Therefore, Practicing Company Secretaries would for the first time be eligible to appear for matters

which were hitherto dealt with by the High Court viz. mergers, amalgamations, reduction of share

capital and winding up proceedings under the Companies Act.

Practicing Company Secretaries have been permitted to act as Liquidator in case of winding up of

company by the Tribunal and can be appointed as a Technical Member of NCLT.

Conclusion

In view of vast opportunities emerging with the establishment of National Company Law Tribunal,

the Practising Company Secretaries should utilize this opportunity and provide services in assisting

the Tribunal in dispensation of justice and speedier disposal of matters like merger, amalgamation,

restructuring, revival and rehabilitation of sick companies and winding up of companies.
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GUIDELINES FOR COMPULSORY ATTENDANCE OF

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMMES

BY THE MEMBERS1

In exercise of the powers conferred by Clause (1) of Part II of the Second Schedule to the Company

Secretaries Act, 1980 (56 of 1980), as amended by the Company Secretaries (Amendment) Act, 2006,

the Council of the Institute of Company Secretaries of India hereby issues the following guidelines :-

1. INTRODUCTION

The Company Secretaries Act, 1980 was enacted to make provisions for the regulation and

development of the profession of Company Secretaries. The Institute of Company Secretaries of India

set up under the said Act has been conducting examinations and prescribing standards for adherence

by its members.

Members of the Institute in employment occupy important positions in industry. The concept of

whole-time practice, which gained its initial recognition in 1988, has gained momentum after the

enactment of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 2000 which required Compliance Certificate to be

issued by Practising Company Secretary for certain category of companies. Our members in practice

are also being recognized for issuing various certificates by various regulatory authorities.

In the present day scenario, a profession cannot maintain its cutting edge competencies unless its

members regularly update their knowledge. Attendance and participation in Professional

Development Programs, Participative Certificate Programs organized by the Headquarters and

Centre for Corporate Governance Research and Training (CCGRT), and Seminars, Conferences,

Study Circle Meetings organised by the Council, Regional Councils, Chapters and other recognised

bodies enable members to –

1. Constantly upgrade professional competence and skills.

2. Sensitize them to new and emerging opportunities for service.

3. Assure users of professional services that they possess adequate skills commensurate

with their professional responsibilities.

4. Improve their level of confidence to meet ever-changing demands on the profession.

1 As amended by the Council in its 223rd Meeting held at New Delhi on March 14, 2014.
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The Perspective Planning Group constituted by the Council had recommended compulsory

attendance by members at Professional Development Programmes as a means of ensuring constant

updation of knowledge and skills of members. The ICSI, drawing strength from these

recommendations, has now decided that the following guidelines are required to be followed for

giving and recording credit as well as eligible programmes and the number of Program Credit Hours

to be given for each program.

2. KEY DEFINITIONS

2.1 “Approve d Learning Program” means any Professional Development Program, Continuing

Education Program, Participative Certificate Program of the ICSI, Programmes organised

through electronic / distance mode* or any other program, Seminar or study circle meeting

organised by the Council, Regional Council, Chapter or Satellite Chapter of the Institute, and

programmes organised [jointly with professional bodies or Chambers of Commerce].

2.2 “Year” for the purposes of these guidelines shall mean the period commencing from 1st day of

April and ending on 31st day of March following.

2.3 “Learning Program Centre” (LPC) means any wing of the ICSI which conducts programs and

includes the Council, any Committee of the Council, Regional Councils, Chapters and shall

include any other centre, wing or any other entity as may be recognized by the Council from

time to time for this purpose.

3. AUTHORISATION AND METHOD OF REGULATION

3.1 Under Section 9 of the Company Secretaries Act, 1980, the responsibility for management of

the affairs of the Institute and for discharging the functions assigned under the said Act vests

with the Council.

3.2 The Council considers that in the context of the liberalised economy and the competitive

environment, proper regulation and maintenance of the status and standards of the Members

is necessary for ensuring competency of the members.

3.3 Pursuant to the above-mentioned authorizations, these guidelines are therefore being issued

for implementation.

3.4 Compliance with these guidelines is mandatory for the members in practice and

recommendatory for other members.

* Amended by the Council in its 192nd Meeting held on March 18-19, 2010 at New Delhi.
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3.5 For the removal of doubts, it is clarified that all issues relating to the implementation and

interpretation of terms used in these guidelines shall be the responsibility of the Professional

Development Committee constituted by the Council. The Committee may discharge its duties

in this regard (including issue of supplementary guidelines from time to time) for

implementation within the limits of its authority as specified or prescribed by the Council.

4. POWER TO MODIFY GUIDELINES

To ensure that these guidelines are dynamic, the requirements, conditions or terms specified in

these guidelines may be modified from time to time at the discretion of the Council on the

recommendations of the Professional Development Committee of the Council.

5. APPLICABILITY OF THE GUIDELINES

5.1 It is mandatory for all members in practice of the Institute, except those specified in para 5.2 to

secure 15 Program Credit Hours (PCH) in a year or 50 Program Credit Hours in a block of 3

years by attendance of approved learning program. However, no carry forward for excess

Program Credit Hours from block of three years to another block of three years will be

allowed.

5.1.1 It would be sufficient if a member obtains atleast fifteen credit hours in a year or 50 credit

hours in a block of three years. If a member takes a Certificate of Practice during the block,

the requirement for obtaining Credit Hours shall be as under :

Certificate of Practice taken during The requirement of Credit Hours

1st April of the first year of the block to 31st No requirement of Credit Hours in the

March following. First Year of the block

Fifteen Credit Hours each in the second

and third year of the block or 30 Credit

hours in the block of three years

1st April of the second year of the block to No requirement of Credit Hours in the

31st March following second year of the block

Fifteen Credit Hours in the third year of

the block

1st April of the third year to 31st March No requirement of Credit Hours in that

following block

No credit hours will be given to a participant who attends the programme partially.

Members whose reply to prize queries is published in the Chartered Secretary will be entitled to four

Programme Credit Hours.

189



Members above the age of 60 years shall be required to obtain 50% of the PCH required to be

obtained by the members below 60 years w.e.f. April 01, 2011 2.

5.1.2 Members in employment i.e. members in whose name Form 32 (in terms of the provisions of

the Companies Act, 1956) / DIR -12 (in terms of the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013)

has been filed by the Companies shall be required to obtain 10 Programme Credit Hours in

each year or 35 Programme Credit Hours in a block of three years.

5.2 The requirement specified above shall not apply to :

(a) A member who attains the age of 65 years during a particular calendar year.

(b) A member, for the year during which he gets his Certificate of Practice for the first time.

(c) A member or class of members to whom the Council may in its absolute discretion grant

full/partial exemption either specific/general, on account of facts and circumstances in

case of :

(i) Maternity / Paternity Leave

(ii) Accident/Medical Emergencies

(iii) Unemployment

(iv) Any other case, as may be deemed appropriate by the Council on a case to case

basis.

6. FUNCTIONS OF THE LEARNING PROGRAM CENTRES

6.1 To conduct programs on current topics for the benefit of the members.

6.2 To maintain attendance record of the member attending the program in a manner which

will be prescribed.

6.3 To furnish periodic Activity and Attendance Report to the Headquarters of the ICSI for

updation in the master database.

7. OBLIGATIONS OF THE MEMBER

7.1 A personal record of compliance with the requirements of Program Credit Hours is required

to be maintained by each member on an annual basis. This record shall be open to

verification by the Institute.

2 Amended by the Council in its 200th Meeting held on March 18, 2011.
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7.2 At the time of payment of annual membership fees, every member is required to confirm

that they have secured the minimum annual Program Credit Hours (PCH) and that the

record can be produced to the Institute for verification on request.

8. MANNER OF CALCULATION OF PROGRAM CREDIT HOURS (PCH)

8.1 No Program Credit Hours will be awarded for any learning program whose duration is less

than 1 hour.

8.2 The basis of calculation of Program Credit Hours will be as under:

No. of hours of Learning Program Program Credit

attended by the member Hours (PCH)

Beyond 1 hour and upto 2 hours 1

Beyond 2 hours and upto 4 hours in a single day 2

Beyond 4 hours in a single day 4

Program spanning 1 ½ days 6

Program spanning 2 days 8

Program spanning 2 ½ days and above/National

Convention 10

8.2.1 Members attending programmes in non-core areas such as Service Tax, Indirect Taxes,

Accounting Standards, Labour Laws, Intellectual Property Rights, Competition Law and

NCLT etc. shall be entitled for grant of 50% extra PCH than eligible for other programmes of

the same duration.

8.3 A member whose article is published in the “Chartered Secretary” will be entitled to 4

Program Credit Hours.

In respect of joint authorship of the article, the two credit hours be awarded to each author.

However, the joint authorship should be limited to two authors only.

The article published in the Souvenir of National Convention be treated at par with the article

published in the Chartered Secretary for the purposes of grant of credit hours.

8.4 If the Course Coordinator attends the full program, full credit of the Program Credit Hours

allotted for the program will be given.

8.5 No Program Credit Hours shall be given to a member for acting as a faculty in Oral Tuition

Classes.
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8.6 There may be cases of members contributing articles in newspapers, working on research

projects, preparation of or vetting of background or technical material, participating in

interactive media programs, etc. All such cases will be decided by the Committee on case to

case basis until fresh guidelines covering such instances are drawn up.

8.7 A member who acts as a Chairman or Speaker in any technical session at a Workshop, Seminar

or Conference organised by the Program Learning Centre will be entitled to equivalent

number of Program Credit Hours as is available for the said technical session.

8.8 For Members who reside in places beyond 100 km from the nearest Regional Council/Chapter

and attend a program at any Program Learning Centre, they shall be awarded double the

Program Credit Hours for which the concerned Program is entitled. However this will not

apply to attendance at the National Convention/National Conference of Practising Company

Secretaries/Regional Conferences organised by the Regional Councils. Such members have also

the option to prepare a research paper on a topic recommended by the Secretariat.

Where the members in practice residing in remote places are not able to attend the professional

development programmes, they may write to the Institute for approving a topic on which they

can prepare research paper to get the exemption from securing programme credit hours.

The Research paper includes :

(i) A concept paper on emerging areas of practice for Company Secretaries

(ii) A Referencer/backgrounder on contemporary topics relevant to Company Secretaries

(iii) A booklet on any topic relating to the areas of practice for Company Secretaries

(iv) A monograph on any contemporary topic relevant to the Practising Company

Secretaries

(v) An empirical study of practical relevance to the Practising Company Secretaries

Members whose research paper is approved by the Professional Development Committee of

the Council, will be exempted from the requirement of securing programme credit hours for a

block of three years.

Members who reside in places beyond 100 Kms. from the nearest Regional Council/Chapter

will be entitled for Eight Programme Credit Hours if their article/reply to prize query is

published in the Chartered Secretary.
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8A. Programme Credit Hours for Unstructured Learning Activities

The members shall be granted Programme Credit Hours (PCH) under these Guidelines for

undertaking any of the following unstructured learning activities subject to a maximum of ten

PCH in each year of the block:

Learning Activity PCH

1 Web based learning including elearning, subject to the

production of Certificate, per year. 4

2 Publication of article in a journal of repute other than the

Chartered Secretary Journal. 4

3 Publication of book(s). 8

4 Revision of Published Book 4

5 Acting as Guide / Supervisor for M.Phil. / LL.M. / Ph.D. 6

6 Suggestions on Questionnaires / Consultative Papers /

Exposure Draft, etc. sought by the Institute. 2

7 Reviewing of Articles / Guideline Answers / Study Material

and other publications of the Institute. 4

8 Publication of Research findings / Studies on the areas

relevant to Corporate Sector, Capital Markets and Professional

interest. 4

9 Publication of articles of professional interest in national

dailies. 4

10 Visit to foreign countries as part of government delegation. 4

11 Acting as visiting faculty or guest faculty at the various

Universities / Management Institutions / Institutions of

National importance. 4

9. MONITORING REQUIREMENTS

9.1 The Professional Development Committee will monitor and review the programs conducted by

the various Program Learning Centres from time to time and appraise the Council of the

progress.

9.2 The said Committee shall set up an appropriate monitoring mechanism and provide clarifications

(as it considers necessary) to all concerned for effective implementation of these guidelines as per

Annexure.

10. These Guidelines are effective from 1st January, 2008.
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Annexure

MECHANISM FOR MAINTENANCE OF ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF MEMBERS AT

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMMES AND ISSUANCE OF CERTIFICATES

FOR PROGRAMME CREDIT HOURS (PCH)

The Council has considered and approved the following mechanism for maintenance of attendance

records of members at professional development programmes and issuance of certificates for Program

Credit Hours under the Guidelines for Compulsory Attendance of Professional Development

Programmes by Members:

1. The Program Centre shall ensure the quality of the programmes organized by it by inviting

faculty having adequate knowledge, expertise and experience in the given subject/topic for

discussion.

The brochure for every professional development programme should indicate the programme Credit

Hours to be awarded to the participants.

2. The Program Centre will record the attendance of the participants and maintain the same for

future reference and issue the certificates for Program Credit Hours in the prescribed format.

3. The Directorate of Information Technology in the Headquarters will develop software for

recording and maintaining the attendance of members at the Professional Development

Programmes and send to all Regional Councils/Chapters.

4. The headquarters will initially provide to Regional Councils printed blank formats of

certificates, which will be serially numbered.

5. Regional Councils/Chapters will maintain the list of names and membership numbers of the participants

as well as faculty/Chairman/Speaker and Program Credit Hours given to each of them together with

their signatures duly authenticated by competent authority for this purpose.

Explanation : Competent authority means (i) in the case of Regional Council Chairman or Secretary of

the Regional Council or Executive Officer (ii) in the case of Chapter/Satellite Chapter, Chairman or

Secretary or Executive Officer, if any, of the Chapter/Satellite Chapter.

A Register be prepared for recording names of participants and obtaining thei r signatures both at the

beginning as well as at the end of the programme.

6. At the time of renewal of membership every year, the members will send a declaration stating

the name of the programmes attended, program learning centre, place, date, duration and

number of Program Credit Hours secured during the calendar year to the Directorate of

Training and Membership of the ICSI.
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THE INSTITUTE OF COMPANY SECRETARIES OF INDIA

Northern/Eastern/Western/Southern India Regional Council

CERTIFICATE FOR PROGRAM CREDIT HOURS

Name of the Program Learning Centre: ...........................................

This is to certify that Ms./Mr. ..........................................................

attended .............................. (Name of the Programme) held on

............................ at ................................. for .................................

days/hours ................................. as a participant/faculty/

speaker/ course coordinator/chairman in a technical session.

According to the Institute’s Guidelines for Compulsory

Attendance of Professional Development Programmes by

Members, she/he is hereby awarded

................................................................. Program Credit Hours.

Competent Authority

Date

Place
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THE INSTITUTE OF COMPANY SECRETARIES OF INDIA

CERTIFICATE FOR PROGRAM CREDIT HOURS

This is to certify that Ms./Mr. .................................................. has

contributed an article in Chartered Secretary/Convention

Souvenir, which was published in the Month of

................................. .

According to the Institute’s Guidelines for Compulsory

Attendance of Professional Development Programmes by

Members, she/he is hereby awarded ................................. Program

Credit Hours.

Competent Authority

Date

Place
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THE INSTITUTE OF COMPANY SECRETARIES OF INDIA

CERTIFICATE FOR PROGRAM CREDIT HOURS

This is to certify that Ms./Mr. ………………………………..............

has contributed an article in ................................................ a

Newspaper/worked on research project/prepared or vetted

backgrounder or technical material/participated in interactive media

programs ......................................... .

According to the Institute’s Guidelines for Compulsory Attendance

of Professional Development Programmes by Members and as per

the decision of the Professional Development Committee at its

meeting held on ........................ she/he is hereby awarded

.................................... Program Credit Hours.

Competent Authority

Date

Place
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THE INSTITUTE OF COMPANY SECRETARIES OF INDIA

(Constituted under the Company Secretaries Act, 1980)

ICSI Guideline No.2 of November, 2007

[Pursuant to clause (1) of Part II of the Second Schedule to the

Company Secretaries Act, 1980 as amended]

New Delhi, the 27th November, 2007

GUIDELINES FOR REQUIREMENT OF MAINTENANCE OF A REGISTER OF

ATTESTATION[/CERTIFICATION] 1 SERVICES RENDERED BY PRACTISING

COMPANY SECRETARY/FIRM OF PRACTISING COMPAN Y SECRETARIES

In exercise of the powers conferred by clause (1) of Part II of the Second Schedule to the Company

Secretaries Act, 1980 (56 of 1980), as amended by the Company Secretaries (Amendment) Act, 2006,

the Council of the Institute of Company Secretaries of India hereby issues the following guidelines:-

1. For the purpose of maintaining quality of attestation [/certification]1 services provided by

Company Secretaries in Practice, every Practicing Company Secretary/Firm of Practicing

Company Secretaries shall maintain a register regarding attestation [/certification]1 services

provided by him/her/it, which shall be open for inspection by such person as may be authorised.

2. The format of the register to be maintained by a Practising Company Secretary/Firm of

Practising Company Secretaries regarding attestation[/certification]1 services is as under :

Sl. No. Name and

Registration No. of

the company to

which attestation[/

certification]1

services* provided

Services

rendered

Date of

signing of

Certificate/

Return/ Audit

Report

Signature of

the PCS

Signature of the

person authorised for

verification

1 2 3 4 5 6

*The various attestation[/certification]1 services mean :

(i) Signing of Annual Return pursuant to proviso to subsection (1) of section 161 of the

Companies Act, 1956.

1 Inserted by the Council in its 178th Meeting held on 29th December, 2007.
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(ii) Issue of Compliance Certificate pursuant to proviso to sub-section (1) of section 383A of

the Companies Act, 1956.

(iii) Issue of certificate of Securities Transfers in compliance with the Listing Agreement with

Stock Exchanges.

(iv) Certificate of reconciliation of capital, updation of Register of Members, etc. as per the

Securities & Exchange Board of India’s Circular D&CC/FITTC/Cir-16/2002 dated

December 31, 2002.

(v) Conduct of Internal Audit of Operations of the Depository Participants.

(vi) [Certification under Clause 49 of the listing agreement.]1

3. These Guidelines are effective from 1st January, 2008.
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GUIDELINES FOR PROFESSIONAL DRESS OF COMPANY SECRETARIES

With a view to enhance the visibility and brand building of the profession and ensuring

uniformity, the Council of the Institute of Company Secretaries of India at its 148th Meeting held

on 27th & 28th March, 2004 at New Delhi, has prescribed the following guidelines for

professional dress for members while appearing before judicial / quasi-judicial bodies and

tribunals:

(a) The professional dress for male members will be Navy Blue suit and white shirt with a

tie (preferably of the ICSI) or navy blue buttoned-up coat over a pant or a navy blue safari

suit.

(b) The professional dress for female members will be saree or any other dress of a sober

colour with a Navy Blue jacket.

(c) Members in employment may wear the dress/uniform as specified by the employer for

all employees or if allowed the aforesaid professional dress.

(d) Practising Company Secretaries appearing before any tribunal or quasi-judicial body

should adhere to dress code if any prescribed for appearing before such tribunal or

quasi-judicial body or if allowed the aforesaid professional dress.
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GUIDELINES FRAMED BY THE COUNCIL RELATING TO APPROVAL

OF PROPRIETORSHIP CONCERN/FIRM’S NAME UNDER

REGULATION 169 OF THE COMPANY SECRETARIES REGULATIONS, 1982

1. A trade or firm name shall be restricted to the name(s) of the proprietor/partners or a

name which is already is use;

2. A trade/firm name may include the name(s) of the member(s) as it/they appear in

the Register of Members in the following manners:

(i) For Sole proprietorship concern

(a) Name comprising surname, first name and/or middle name of the member

(b) Full first name or its initial and surname of the member

(c) Initials of the first name and/or middle name with full surname

(d) Initials of full name

(e) Any combination as permissible above.

(ii) For Partnership

(a) Full surname of two or more partners

(b) Full first name of two or more partners

(c) Combination of first names and/or surnames of two or more partners

(d) Combination of initials of first names and/or middle names or surnames of the

two or more partners

(e) Combination of first names, middle names, surnames or initials of two or more

partners

(f) Initials of names of two or more partners.

3. General

(i) A trade or firm name shall not be approved if the same or similar or nearly similar

name is already used by a Company Secretary in practice or which resembles the

name of Company Secretary in practice or firm of such Company Secretaries and has

been entered in the Register of offices of firms.
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(ii) The trade or firm name shall be suffixed by the suffixes “& Co.”, “& Company”

or “& Associates” or their equivalents. Suffixes like “& Partners”, “& Fellows” and

other words as may be considered undesirable shall not be allowed by the Council.

(iii) A trade/firm name, which has no relationship with the name of member(s) as

above, shall not be allowed.

(iv) Descriptive trade/firm names shall not be allowed.

(v) Trade/firm names, which denote publicity, shall not be allowed.

(vi) The name, middle name and surname of the member shall conform to the name,

middle name and surname as they appear in the register of members.

(vii) In case any change in the status of the firm i.e. from individual firm to partnership

firm or vice-versa, the firm name already been in use by any of the partner or

individual could be approved provided there is no objection by any of the partners

or individual.

(viii) A trade/firm name which was in use by a proprietor or partners shall not be allowed

to any other member or members for a period of three years of the closure of

firm. The name may be re-allotted to the same member or members upto a period of

three years of the closer of the firm. In event or removal of name of a practicing

member, the firm name shall be reserved for a period of three years from the date of

approval. After expiry of period of three years, the said trade/firm name may be

allowed to any member or members who are eligible for allotment of such name

under the guidelines.

(ix) After various permutations and combinations under guidelines 2(i) and (ii) have

been exhausted and the member is not able to get approval of Firm/trade name in

accordance with the same, he may be permitted to adopted or coin a Firm/ trade

name out of the names of his/her family members provided that such name was

not already registered by some other members. The term “family” for this purpose

means husband, wife, father, mother, son and daughter. An affidavit or other

evidence to the satisfaction of the Secretary is to be produced in such cases.

(x) Any reconstitution of the firm with the same firm name shall not have effect except

with the prior approval of the Council pursuant to Regulation 170.”
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GUIDELINES FOR ADVERTISEMENT BY COMPANY SECRETARY IN

PRACTICE

THE INSTITUTE OF COMPANY SECRETARIES OF INDIA

(Constituted under the Company Secretaries Act, 1980)

ICSI Guideline No. 4 of December, 2007

In exercise of the powers conferred by Clause (1) of Part II of the Second Schedule to the Company

Secretaries Act, 1980 (56 of 1980), as amended by the Company Secretaries (Amendment) Act,

2006, the Council of the Institute of Company Secretaries of India hereby issues the following

guidelines:-

1. Introduction

1.1 The Institute of Company Secretaries of India, (the Institute) constituted under the

Company Secretaries Act, 1980 (the Act) is a statutory body to develop and regulate the profession

of company secretaries in India. Members of the Institute who hold the Certificate of Practice

issued by it are authorised to practise the profession of Company Secretaries and these members

are known as Company Secretaries in Practice.

1.2 The areas in which the Company Secretaries in Practice can and do render their

services and the names, addresses and other particulars of Company Secretaries in Practice are

displayed on the website of the Institute.

1.3 Members of the Institute are required under the Act to maintain high standards of

professional conduct.

1.4 Part I of the First schedule of the Company Secretaries Act, 1980, enumerates

professional misconduct in relation to a member in practice and inter-alia includes if such a

member :

(6) solicits clients or professional work, either directly or indirectly, by circular,

advertisement, personal communication or interview or by any other means :

Provided that nothing herein contained shall be construed as preventing or prohibiting–

(i) any company secretary from applying or requesting for or inviting or securing

professional work from another Company Secretary in Practice; or

(ii) a member from responding to tenders or enquiries issued by various users of

professional services or organizations from time to time and securing professional

work as a consequence;

(7) advertises his professional attainments or services, or uses any designation or

expressions other than Company Secretary on professional documents, visiting

cards, letterheads or sign boards, unless it be a degree of a University established
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by law in India or recognized by the Central Government or a title indicating

membership of the Institute of Company Secretaries of India or of any other

institution that has been recognized by the Central Government or may be recognized

by the Council :

Provided that a member in practice may advertise through a write up setting out

— the services provided by him or his firm and

— particulars of his firm subject to such guidelines as may be issued by the Council;

1.5 The Council of the Institute of Company Secretaries of India at its 178th meeting held

on 29th December, 2007 approved the following Guidelines for Advertisement by Company

Secretary in Practice.

1.6 The Guidelines herein, as issued by the Central Council of the Institute on 29th

December, 2007 deal with the manner in which a Company Secretary in Practice can advertise

the services provided by him or his firm and the particulars of his firm through a write-up.

1.7 Any non compliance or violation of these Guidelines as may be in force from time

to time in any manner whatsoever shall be deemed to be an act of professional misconduct and the

concerned member shall be liable to disciplinary proceedings under the Act.

2. Key Definitions

For the purposes of these Guidelines,

2.1 The “Act” means the Company Secretaries Act, 1980.

2.2 “Institute” means the Institute of Company Secretaries of India.

2.3 “Advertisement or advertising” means advertisement or advertising in any mode

including written, recorded, displayed communication through print or electronic mode or

otherwise including in newspapers, journals, internet, online, websites, banners, letters, circulars

issued, circulated or published in accordance with these guidelines.

2.4 “Company Secretary in Practice” means a member of the Institute who holds a

Certificate of Practice issued to him by the Institute.

2.5 “Firm of Company Secretaries” means sole proprietorship concern, the sole proprietor

of which is a Company Secretary in Practice or a firm, wherein all partners are Company

Secretaries and such firm is approved by the Council.
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2.6 “write up” includes any writing or display setting out services rendered by a

Company Secretary in Practice or firm of company secretaries and any writing or display of the

particulars of the Company Secretary in Practice or of firm of company secretaries issued,

circulated or published in accordance with these guidelines.

The terms not defined herein have the same meaning as assigned to them in the Company

Secretaries Act, 1980 and the rules and regulations made thereunder.

3. Prohibition to Advertise

3.1 No Company Secretary or a firm of Company Secretaries is permitted to advertise

the services as specified in the Act, rules, regulations framed thereunder except through a write-

up as defined in Clause 2.6.

4. The Write-up shall be made in compliance with the following:

4.1 Applicability

These guidelines shall apply to advertisements issued by a Company Secretary in

Practice not only in India but would also apply to those circulated, communicated,

published, issued or allowed to be issued abroad.

4.2 Permitted list of information

4.2.1 Name of Company Secretary, Membership number, Certificate of Practice Number

and date of issue (for each partner in case of firm)

4.2.2 Address and website (if any), telephone, mobile, e-mail, fax number of the member

4.2.3 Name of the firm in which the member is a partner

4.2.4 Year of Establishment

4.2.5 Date and place of Issue of Advertisement

4.2.6 Age

4.2.7 Gender

4.2.8 Additional recognized qualifications

4.2.9 Languages spoken by the partner(s)

4.2.10 Honours or awards in the field of teaching, research, authorship etc. conferred by

nationally accredited institutions

4.2.11 Current teaching or research appointments at a university or college of advanced

education or professional Institute

4.2.12 Name of firm in case of partnership

4.2.13 Details of networking through own office or through formal association in other places

within & outside India

4.2.14 Number, name of employees of the firm and their qualifications and other particulars

4.2.15 Business address, telephone numbers (including email, fax and other details) of the

firm
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4.2.16 Office hours and after office hours availability

4.2.17 Advertisement about setting up of certified filing centers

4.2.18 Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) in conformity to these guidelines

4.2.19 Declaration indicating

(a) willingness to accept work, either generally or in particular areas ofpractice;

(b) unwillingness to accept work in particular areas;

(c) willingness or unwillingness to accept work directly from clients, either

generally or in particular areas of practice.

4.2.20 The write-up may display the passport size photograph of the member or partners of

the firm of Company Secretaries

4.2.21 Fees:

(a) Willingness to give written estimates of fees;

(b) Methods for determining fees;

(c) Mode of Acceptance of Fees.

4.2.22 Speed of Service

(a) willingness to give written estimates concerning completion of

particular work;

(b) maximum time within which specific services will be completed.

4.2.23 Write-up may include the names of clients and services rendered

4.2.24 Particulars of Services

(i) The write-up to be circulated, distributed, published, issued by or on behalf

of Company Secretary in Practice shall set out the professional services

rendered or to be rendered by the advertiser.

(ii) The write-up may explain the nature and usefulness of the professional

services rendered by the Company Secretary in Practice.

(iii) The write-up may include the names of clients and services rendered

provided that the Company Secretary in Practice shall maintain record of

his having provided such professional services.

4.2.25 In case of advertisement through website :

(a) A Company Secretary or a firm of Company Secretaries may display

photograph of the Company Secretary or partners of the firm of

Company Secretaries in Practice.

(b) While designing and/or hosting the particulars on the website, certain
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keywords should be provided so as to enable the search engine/s to locate

the website and these keywords will not be visible or displayed on the

website. Any one of the following key words may be used for this

purpose. Company Secretary/Company Secretary in Whole-time

Practice/Company Secretary in Practice/Practising Company

Secretary/Indian Chartered Secretary/Indian Certified Corporate

Secretary/Indian CS/Indian Company Secretary/Corporate Advisor /

Company Law Consultant/Secretarial Auditor/Secretarial

Consultant/Indian Certified Public Secretary/CS/ ACS/FCS/PCS/CSP.

However, the keywords shall not be materially different from the

designations used for a Company Secretary.

(c) The website may provide a hyperlink to the website of ICSI, its Regional

Councils and Chapters and other regulatory bodies of the Government,

after obtaining necessary permission from the concerned body.

(d) A Company Secretary in Practice may provide online advice to their

clients or other members/ firms of Company Secretaries who specifically

request for the same.

(e) A Company Secretary or a firm of Company Secretaries may disclose the

fact that he/she or their firm has been Peer Reviewed. Any such disclosure

shall clearly state the period for which the Peer Review has been

conducted and in case the member has more than one office or place of

practice, then it shall be mentioned that the Peer Review has been done for

which branch office.*

4.2.26 Changes in any of the above particulars.

4.3 Restrictions

The write-up shall :

(i) not be false or misleading ;

(ii) not claim superiority over any or all other Company Secretaries in Practice;

(iii) not be indecent, sensational or otherwise of such nature as to be likely to bring

the profession into disrepute;

(iv) not contain testimonials or endorsements concerning the Company Secretary in

Practice.

(v) not refer the Company Secretaries in practice in terms such as “specialists” or

“experts”.

* Inserted by the Council at its 216th Meeting held at New Delhi on June 21-22,2013.
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(vi) In case of advertisement through website :

(a) A Company Secretary in Practice or a firm of Company Secretaries shall ensure

that no information contained in the website is circulated to other websites/e-

mail accounts etc. through e-mail or otherwise without the same having

been specifically requested for.

(b) A Company Secretary in Practice or a firm of Company Secretaries shall not

use logo(s) unless otherwise permitted by the Institute.

4.4 Declaration

The Advertiser shall declare that the contents of the advertisement are true to the best

of his knowledge and belief and are in conformity with theseGuidelines.

4.5 Disclaimer

The Advertiser shall also include the following Statement of Responsibility and

Disclaimer in the Advertisement :

Disclaimer : The contents or claims in the Advertisement issued by the advertiser

are the sole and exclusive responsibility of the Advertiser. The Institute of Company

Secretaries of India does not own any responsibility whatsoever for such contents

or claims by the Advertiser.

5. Responsibility for the observance of these Guidelines

5.1 The responsibility for the observance of these guidelines lies with members who

commission, create, place or publish any advertisement or assist in the creation or publishing

of any advertisement covered under these guidelines. Members are expected not to commission,

create, place or publish any advertisement which is in contravention of these Guidelines. This is a

self-imposed discipline required to be observed by all those involved in the commissioning,

creation, placement or publishing of advertisements.

6. Effective Date

6.1 These guidelines become effective from 1st January, 2008 and consequently the

existing Guidelines for Display of Particulars on Website by Company Secretaries in Practice

stand repealed.

208



209



GUIDELINES FOR PEER REVIEW OF ATTESTATION SERVICES BY PRACTISING

COMPANY SECRETARIES*

1. Introduction

The Company Secretaries Act, 1980 (the Act) was enacted to make provision for the regulation and

development of the profession of Company Secretaries. The Institute of Company Secretaries of

India set up under the said Act has been conducting examinations and prescribing standards for

adherence by its members.

The concept of whole-time practice, which gained its initial recognition in 1988, has gained

momentum after the enactment of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 2000 which required

Compliance Certificate to be issued by Practising Company Secretary for certain size of

companies. Our members in practice are also being recognised for issuing certificates under various

laws.

Excellence is the hallmark of success in a competitive environment. The performance can be judged

and enhanced to that level of excellence only by evaluation by a competent professional. The

Council of the Institute, therefore, decided to introduce Peer Review for Practising Company

Secretaries to periodically review the PCS firms and evaluate the quality, sufficiency of systems,

procedures and practices, so that excellence in their performance is maintained.

The Council of the Institute of Company Secretaries of India has been constituted under the

Company Secretaries Act, 1980 for discharging the functions assigned to the Institute under the

Act. Section 15 of the Act provides that "the duties of carrying out the provisions of this Act shall

be vested in the Council" and enumerates various duties of the Council. With a view to regulate

the profession of Company Secretaries and in terms of the powers vested, the Council is thus

authorised to issue these guidelines for Peer Review. These guidelines serve as a mechanism

intended to further enhance the quality of professional work of Practising Company Secretaries

over a period of time, thereby ensuring that the profession of Company Secretaries continues to

serve the society in the manner envisaged.

2. Objectives

2.1 The main objective of Peer Review is to ensure that in carrying out their attestation

services and professional assignments, the PCS (a) comply with the Technical Standards laid

down by the Institute and (b) have in place proper systems (including documentation systems)

for maintaining the quality of the attestation services work they perform. The Council has

specified in these guidelines for Peer Review, the Technical Standards in relation to which peer

review is to be carried out. Peer review does not seek to redefine the scope and authority of the

Technical Standards specified by the Council but seeks to enforce them within the parameters

prescribed by the Technical Standards.

* ICSI Guideline No.1 of 2011. Approved by the Council in its 202nd Meeting held on 25-26

August, 2011.
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2.2 Peer Review is directed towards maintenance as well as enhancement of quality of

attestation services and to provide guidance to members to improve their performance and adhere

to various statutory and other regulatory requirements. Essentially, through a review of attestation

services engagement records, peer review identifies the areas where a practising member may

require guidance in improving the quality of his performance and adherence to various

requirements as per applicable Technical Standards.

2.3 These guidelines provide a framework of the peer review process and the requirements of

what is expected of a member during the conduct of a peer review.

3. Key Definitions - For the purpose of these guidelines.

3.1 Attestation Services - Means services involving the secretarial audit issuing of various

certificates, but does not include:

• Management consulting Engagement;

• Representing a client before the Authorities;

• Testifying as expert witness; and

• Providing expert opinion on points of principle, such as secretarial standards or

the applicability of certain laws, on the basis of facts provided by the client;

• The phrase 'Attestation Services’ is used in these guidelines interchangeably with

secretarial or compliance audit Services, Attestation Functions and secretarial audit

functions.

3.2 Member - Means a member of the Institute of Company Secretaries of India.

3.3 Practice Unit - Means members in practice, whether practicing individually or a firm of

Company Secretaries.

3.4 Peer Review - Means an examination and review of the systems, procedures and practices

to determine whether they have been put in place by the practice unit for ensuring the quality of

attestation services as envisaged and implied/mandated by the Technical Standards and whether

these were effective or not during the period under review.

3.5 Peer Review Board - Means a Board established by the Council in terms of these

Guidelines to conduct peer review. The expression "Peer Review Board" is hereinafter referred to

as "Board".

3.6 Regulator - Means Government or any regulatory body constituted by the Parliament or

State Legislature who is/are empowered to regulate the Acts which include various attestation

services which the Council may, from time to time, prescribe to cover as attestation services for the

purpose of peer review.

3.7 Reviewer - Means any member engaged to carry out peer review of practice unit from

the panel of reviewers.
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3.8 Technical Standards - Mean and include:

• Secretarial Standards issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India,

wherever mandatory;

• Guidance Notes on Secretarial Standards issued by the Institute of Company

Secretaries of India;

• Compliance of the Guidance Notes issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of

India;

• Notifications/Directions issued by the Council of Institute of Company Secretaries of

India; and

• Compliance of the provisions of the various relevant Statutes and/or Regulations,

which are applicable in the context of the specific engagements being reviewed.

3.9 Qualified Assistant - means a person assisting the reviewer for carrying out peer

review, who is a member of the Institute and has undergone adequate training in the manner

considered appropriate by the Board in terms of Clause 15.1 of the Guidelines.

3.10 Words and expressions used and not defined in these guidelines shall have the

meanings assigned to them under the Company Secretaries Act, 1980 and the Company

Secretaries Regulations. 1982 framed thereunder.

4. Authority of the Guidelines on Peer Review

4.1 The guidelines on Peer Review shall apply to all or any of the following cases :

(a) Whenever a peer review is mandated

(b) Whenever a peer review is requested

(c) Whenever peer review is conducted.

4.2 The Guidelines on Peer Review are issued in relation to conduct of members in

attestation services:

• to promulgate an appropriate mechanism for ensuring the quality of attestation

services and guide the members to conduct themselves in a manner that the Council

considers appropriate;

• to provide guidance in relation to the statutory powers and obligations with respect to

the parties involved in peer review;

• to prescribe the scope of peer review and the procedures to be adopted during

the conduct of a peer review; and

• to establish the expected conduct of members during a peer review.
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5. Powers of the Council

• To constitute the Board and to fill in the vacancies arising in the Board from time

to time.

• To decide upon, from time to time, the Technical Standards the implementation of

which fall within the purview of the peer review process.

• To refer such matters to the Board as the Council may deem fit.

6. Peer Review Board

6.1 Establishment and Appointment

(1) The Board shall be established by the Council.

(2) The Board shall consist of a maximum of seven members to be appointed by the

Council, of whom at least four shall be from amongst the Members of the Council.

(3) The balance members of the Board shall be drawn from amongst prominent members of

high integrity and reputation, including but not limited to, former public officials,

regulatory authorities etc.

(4) The Council shall appoint the Chairman and the Vice-Chairman from amongst the

Members of the Council.

(5) At least one-half of Council Members on the Board shall hold Certificate of Practice.

(6) The tenure of the Peer Review Board shall be co-terminus with the tenure of the

Council and the term of a member shall be for such period as may be prescribed by the

Council.

(7) Any vacancy(ies) on the Board shall be filled in by the Council.

(8) Members of the Disciplinary Committee of the Institute of Company Secretaries of

India shall not concurrently serve on the Board.

6.2 Meetings

(1) No business shall be transacted at a meeting of the Board unless there are present

at least three members, including the Chairman or, in his absence, the Vice-Chairman,

(2) If there is no quorum within half an hour of the time fixed for the meeting, the

meeting shall stand adjourned to a date, time and place fixed by the Chairman or, in

his absence, the Vice-Chairman.

(3) The Board shall meet not less than four times in a year.

6.3 Reporting

The Board shall submit proceedings of the meeting of the Board within 30 days from

the date of the meeting to the Council.
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7. Scope of Peer Review

7.1 The peer review process is directed at the attestation services of a practice unit.

(1) Once a practice unit is selected for review, its attestation engagement records

pertaining to the immediately preceding financial year shall be subjected to review.

Provided that the records of attestation services relating to years prior to the

financial year beginning 1.04.2004 shall not be subjected to review.

(2) The Review shall focus on:

(i) Compliance with Technical Standards.

(ii) Quality of Reporting.

(iii) Office systems and procedures with regard to compliance of attestation

services systems and procedures.

(iv) Training Programs for staff (including apprentices) concerned with attestation

functions, including appropriate infrastructure.

8. Powers of the Board

8.1 The duty of carrying out the provisions of these guidelines shall be vested in the Board.

8.2 In particular, and without prejudice to the generality, of the foregoing pow ers, the duties

of the Board shall include:

(1) To call for information from practice units in such form as it deem fit.

(2) To maintain a panel of Reviewers.

(3) To define the terms of appointment of the reviewers.

(4) To send a Panel of at least three reviewers (from the Board’s own panel) to the

practice unit and allow the practice unit to choose any one reviewer from the panel

so forwarded to it;

Provided that in case the practice unit would like to have reviewers from another

State/Region (and undertakes to bear the extra costs that would be incurred for

TA/DA etc.) and none of the reviewers as identified by the Board for the practice unit

are from outside the place of business of the practice unit, then the practice unit may

make a special request to the Board to provide names of reviewers from outside the

State/Region where the practice unit has his place ofbusiness.

(5) To examine the aspects of basis of selection of records pertaining to the attestation

services in terms of the appropriate Technical Standards.

(6) To arrange for such training programs for reviewers as may be deemed appropriate;

(7) To prescribe the system, practice and procedure to be observed in relation to peer

reviews; and

(8) On considering the Report of a reviewer, to do any or all of the following:
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(a) To issue recommendations to the practice unit;

(b) To order a further peer review to be carried out;

(9) After considering the report of the reviewer and compliance of recommendations by

the Practice Unit, wherever deemed appropriate by the Board, to issue Peer

Review Certificate.

(10) To guide the members on best practices on peer review.

8.3 Where deemed appropriate, after the conclusion of a cycle of reviews or at the end of

each such period as may be determined, the Board shall have the powers to make a Special Report

to the Council on:

(i) General issues regarding the level of implementation and adherence to Technical

Standards amongst practice units.

(ii) Its own suggestions for further improvement in quality of attestation services.

8.4 The Board may perform any other thing or act as may be incidental to, or, which it

considers necessary or expedient for the performance of its functions, or exercise of its powers

as delegated to it by the Council, including the formation of sub-committees and regional benches

of the Board for specific tasks.

9. Compliance with Peer Review Guidelines

9.1 Practice units are required to comply with the provisions of these guidelines. Practice

units failing in this regard will be required to undergo appropriate review of their quality controls

by the Board in terms of such specific directions as may be given to it by the Council in these

regards from time to time, and as notified to the members.

10. Qualifications of the Reviewer

10.1 The nature and complexity of peer review require the exercise of professional

judgement. Accordingly, an individual serving as a reviewer shall:-

(a) be a member;

(b) possess at least ten years experience; and

(c) be currently in the practice as Company Secretary in Practice.

10.2 The Board may examine the quality of the report and shall have powers to remove the

reviewer from the panel of reviewers in case the quality of the review/report fails to match the

desired standards.

11. Members/ Firms Subject to Review

11.1 Peer review will be implemented on the basis of random selections from the practice units

or at the request of practice unit.

215



11.2 If company/concern requests the Board for the conduct of peer review of its secretarial

auditor (practice unit), the Board shall take due cognizance of such request and in that case the cost

of the peer review shall be borne by such company/ concern.

11.3 If Council / Government or any regulatory body requests the Board for conduct of peer

review of any Practice Units, the Board shall take due cognizance of such request and in that case

the cost of peer review shall be borne by the referred practice unit.

11.4 The Peer Review Board may alter/change/modify the above method of selection with prior

approval of the Council.

12. Obligations of the Practice Unit

12.1 Provisions of access to any record or document to a reviewer:

(1) Any person to whom this clause applies and who is reasonably believed by a reviewer

to have in his possession or under his control any record or other document, which

contains or is likely to contain information relevant to the peer review shall:

(i) Produce to the reviewer or afford him access to, any record or document

specified by the reviewer or any other record or document which is of a class or

description so specified, and which is in his possession or under his control/ being

in either case a record or other document which the reviewer reasonably believes

is or may be relevant to the peer review, within such time as the reviewer may

reasonably require;

(ii) If so required by the reviewer, afford and provide to him such explanation or

further particulars in respect of anything produced in compliance with a

requirement under sub clause (i) above, as the reviewer shall specify; and

(iii) Provide to the reviewer all assistance in connection with peer review which he

is expected to provide.

(2) Where any information or matter relevant to a practice unit is recorded otherwise than

in a legible form, the practice unit shall provide and present to the reviewer a

reproduction of any such information or matter, or of the relevant part or it in a legible

form, with a suitable translation in English if the matter is in any other language,

and such translation is requested for by the reviewer.

(3) The practice unit shall ensure that the reviewer is given access to all documents

relevant to his review no matter which office of the practice unit these documents may

be available in, in case the practice unit has more than one office.

(4) A practice unit shall allow the reviewer to inspect, examine or take any abstract of

or extract from a record or document or copy therefrom which may be required by the

reviewer.

216



12.2 For the purpose of this clause a person means a Partner/ Sole Proprietor of the practice

unit to which the particular review relates or any person employed by or whose services

are engaged by such unit.

13. Periodicity of Peer Review

13.1 The peer review of every practice unit should be mandatorily carried out at least once

in a block of five years. However, if the Board so decides or otherwise at the request of the

practice unit, the peer reviews for a practice unit can be conducted at shorter intervals.

14. Cost of Peer Review

14.1 The cost of Peer Review for reviewer and his qualified assistant(s) as may be decided by

the Board from time to time, shall be borne by the Practice unit. In case reviewer has to conduct

second review, the same rate would apply to the second review also. Each of the branch/ office

under review would be considered separately.

15. Training and Development

15.1 To ensure that the objective of peer review is attained in letter and spirit, adequate

training facilities shall/be provided, from time to time, to the Reviewer(s) and other persons

who assist the Board as and when and in the manner considered appropriate by the Board.

Reviewers shall be expected to be fully familiar with all procedures, prescriptions, guidelines

and other decisions as may be issued by the Board from time to time.

16. Review Framework

16.1 Essentially, a peer review entails a review of attestation engagement records and

related financial/other statements to ascertain that the practice unit is adhering to Technical

Standards. Where a practice unit is not following Technical Standards in certain situations,

suggestions and recommendations for improvement may be made, and possibly followed by a

further review, in keeping with the primary thrust of peer review.

16.2 The methodological approach involved in peer review can be defined in terms of three

stages viz., planning, execution and reporting, which are summarized below:

(i) Planning

— Intimation - A practice unit will be intimated in writing about an impending

peer review and will be sent a Questionnaire for completion together with a

panel of three suggested names of reviewers. The practice unit will have to give

its choice of reviewer within a period of 15 days from the day of receipt of the

panel sent by the Board.

— Return of completed Questionnaire - The practice unit shall have to complete

and return the Questionnaire to the reviewer within one month of receipt. The
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information will be used for the planning of the review. In addition, practice

units will be required to enclose a complete list of their attestation services

clients, and to provide any other information the reviewer considers necessary to

facilitate the selection of a sample of attestation services engagements,

representative of the practice unit's client portfolio, for review.

(ii) Sample of Attestation Services Engagements

(a) From the complete attestation services client list, an initial sample will be

selected by the reviewer. Practice units will be intimated of the selection in

writing about two weeks in advance, requesting the relevant records of the

selected attestation services clients to be made available for review.

(b) At the execution stage, the initial sample may be reduced to a smaller actual

sample for review. However, if the reviewer considers that the actual sample

does not cover a fair cross-section of the practice unit's attestation services

engagements, he may make further selections.

(iii) Confirmation of visit

In consultation with the practice unit date(s) will be set for the on-site review to

be carried out. Flexibility will be permitted to ensure that members are not

inconvenienced at especially busy periods. The on-site review date(s) will be

arranged by mutual consent such that the review is concluded within sixty days of

intimation.

(i) Peer review visits will be conducted at the practice unit's head office or other

officially noted/recorded place of office. The complete on-site review of a

practice unit may take at least a full day depending upon the size of the practice

unit. This is based on the assumption that the practice unit concerned has made

all the necessary information and documentation available to the reviewer for

his review. However, in any case this on-site review should not extend beyond

three working days.

(ii) Initial meeting

An initial meeting will be held between the reviewer and a partner/ sole

proprietor of the practice unit designated to deal with the review (designated

partner). The primary purpose of this meeting is to confirm the accuracy of the

responses given in the Questionnaire. The description of the system in the

Questionnaire may not fully explain all the relevant procedures and policies

adopted by the practice unit and this initial meeting can provide additional

information. The reviewer should have a full understanding of the system and

be able to form a preliminary evaluation of its adequacy at the conclusion of

the meeting.

(iii) Compliance Review-General Controls

(a) The reviewer may carry out a compliance review of the General Controls and

evaluate the degree of reliance to be placed upon them. The degree of

reliance will, ultimately, affect the attestation services engagements to be
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reviewed. The following five key controls will be considered as General

Controls:

• Independence

• Maintenance of Professional Skills and standards

• Outside Consultation

• Staff Supervision and Development

• Office Administration

Practice units are expected to address each of the five key control areas.

(b) In each key control area there shall be supplementary questions and matters

to consider. These are intended to ensure that the kind of controls that are

expected to be maintained, are installed and operated within practice units.

(c) All questions in the questionnaire may not necessarily be relevant to

particular types of practice units because of the size and culture etc.

However, practice units should still assess their internal control systems to

ascertain whether they address the objectives under the five key control

areas.

(iv) Selection of Attestation Services Engagements to be Reviewed

(a) The number of attestation services engagements to be reviewed depends upon:

• the number of practicing members involved in attestation services

engagements in the practice unit;

• the degree of reliance placed, if any, on general quality controls; and

• the total number of attestation services engagements undertaken by the

practice units for the period under review.

(b) The engagements reviewed should be a balanced sample from a variety of

different types of companies. Accordingly, if the reviewer considers that the

actual sample is not representative of the practice unit’s attestation services client

portfolio, he-may make further selections from the initial sample or from the

complete attestation services client list.

(v) Review of records

The reviewer may adopt a compliance approach or substantive approach or a

combination of both in the review of attestation services engagementrecords.

(a) Compliance approach-Attestation services Engagements

• The compliance approach is to assess whether proper control procedures

have been established by the practice unit to ensure that attestation services

are being performed in accordance with Technical Standards.

• Practice units should have procedures and documentation sufficient to

cover each of the key areas. Members in smaller practices may find some of
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the documentation too elaborate for most of their clients and so should tailor

their attestation services documentation to suit their particular

circumstances with justification for doing so provided to the reviewer.

(b) Substantive approach-Attestation services Engagements

A substantive approach will be employed if the reviewer chooses not to place

reliance on the practice unit's specific controls on attestation engagements or is

of the opinion that the standard of compliance is not satisfactory. This approach

requires a review of the attestation working papers in order to establish whether

the attestation work has been carried out as per norms of Technical Standards.

16.3 Reporting

(i) Preliminary Report of Reviewer

• At the end of an on-site review, the reviewer shall, before making his report to

the Board, communicate a preliminary report to the practice unit. The

reviewer shall report on the areas where systems and procedures had been

found to be deficient or where he has noticed non-compliance with reference to

any other matter.

• The reviewer shall not name any individual in his reports.

• The practice unit shall have 21 days beginning the day after the day the

preliminary report is received, by the practice unit from the reviewer to make

any submissions or representations, in writing to the reviewer, concerning the

preliminary report.

(ii) Interim Report of Reviewer

(a) If the reviewer is satisfied with the reply received from the practice unit, he

shall submit an appropriate Report to the Board. In case the reviewer is not

satisfied with the reply of the practice unit, the reviewer shall accordingly

submit his Interim Report to the Board.

(b) In pursuance of the provisions contained in the above clause or on receipt

of a request from the practice unit, the Board may instruct the reviewer to - again

carry out the review after six months to verify that systems and procedures have

been streamlined and accordingly, on being satisfied, submit a report to the

Board.

(c) On receiving a report from a reviewer in terms of these, the Board, having regard

to the Report and any submissions or representations attached to it, may:

• make recommendations to the practice unit concerned regarding the

application by it of Technical Standards;

• if it is of the opinion that

(1) in case the review is related to a firm, any one or more or all of the

partners in the firm may have failed to observe, maintain or apply, as the
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case may be, Technical Standards;

(2) in case the review is related to a member practicing on his own account,

the member may have failed to observe, maintain or apply, as the case

may be, Technical Standards;

Then:

(3) issue instructions to the reviewer to carry out, within such period as may

be specified in the instructions (which period shall not commence earlier

than six months after the date on which the instruction is issued), a

further peer review as regards the practice unit to which the report

relates; and

(4) specify in the instruction, the matters as regards which the review is to

be carried out;

(d) The Board will make recommendations to the practice unit where:

based on the report of the reviewer, it appears that the practice unit has satisfied

all key control objectives, which the Board has determined and/or prescribed in

respect of maintenance of/ adherence to Technical Standards but where

further improvements could be made to internal quality control systems;and

based on the report of the reviewer, it appears that the practice unit has

satisfied the major key control objectives but some weaknesses exist in others.

The practice unit is expected to consider the recommendations for rectifying the

weaknesses thus identified and informed by the Board and take all necessary

actions to ensure that all key control areas are addressed.

(e) A follow up review will be required where the practice unit has not

satisfied the Board that all the key control objectives have been maintained

and where, in the view of the Board the deficiencies are likely to materially

affect the overall quality of an attestation services engagement of the practice

unit. In such cases the Board will also make recommendations, which it

expects the practice unit to implement in order to ensure the maintenance of

Technical Standards. The implementation of these recommendations will be

examined during the follow up review.

(f) In case the reviewer is not satisfied even at, the subsequent review, he shall

submit his Report to the Board incorporating his reasons for dissatisfaction.

(iii) Final Report of Reviewer

(a) The reviewer will prepare a final Report to the Board (the Reviewer's Report),

incorporating the findings as discussed with the practice unit. The final report

will be examined/inspected by the Board in terms of the degree of compliance

with the Technical Standards by the reviewed practice unit. The model forms

of such final Reports shall be communicated to the reviewer by the Board.

(b) The Board shall consider the reviewer's final report and the practice unit's

submissions. Thereafter, the Board may issue recommendations, if considered
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appropriate, to the practice unit and/or instruct the Reviewer to perform any

follow-up action. The Board may, if deemed fit, then issue Peer Review

Certificate to the practice unit.

(iv) The reviewer shall not communicate any Report(s) unless the examination of such

Report(s) and related records has been made by him or by a partner or an employee

of his firm.

17. Referral of Disputes and Appeal

17.1 Where a dispute arises over the powers of reviewers or the process or conclusions

reached after the review or to any other matter related to the review, the practice unit, the

reviewer or both may refer the dispute, in writing, to the Board. Such referral shall have to be

made within two months in such manner as may be prescribed by the Board in these regards.

17.2 Where a dispute is referred, after considering any submissions or representations

(which shall be made in writing) made by the relevant practice unit and/or the relevant

reviewer, the Board-

• shall decide the dispute within six months and communicate such decision to

each of the parties to the dispute;

• may issue directions relating to the matter in dispute to such practice unit or the

reviewer concerned and require such unit or reviewer to comply with them;

• shall convey its decision in these regards to the appellant within 15 days from the

date of the decision, so as to provide the appellant sufficient time to respond.

17.3 Where a practice unit is dissatisfied with the decision of the Board, it may refer the

matter to the Council within two months in such manner as may be prescribed.

18. Immunity

18.1 A practice unit, which makes available records or documents to a reviewer, shall not

incur any liability under the Code of Conduct under the Company Secretaries Act, 1980 and

the Regulations framed thereunder, by reason of compliance with these Guidelines on Peer

Review.

18.2 The reviewer, by virtue of carrying out the peer review shall not incur any liability

other than the liability arising out of his own conduct under the Code of Conduct under the

Company Secretaries Act, 1980 and Regulations framed thereunder as well as under the

relevant clauses of these Guidelines.

18.3 The members of the Peer Review Board shall not incur any liability by virtue of their

having discharged the responsibilities as given in these Guidelines and/or as may in future be

specified by the Council, other than the liability arising out of their own conduct under the

Code of Conduct under the Company Secretaries Act, 1980 and Regulations framed thereunder

as well as under the relevant clauses of these Guidelines.
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19. Confidentiality

19.1 Strict confidentiality provisions shall apply to all those involved in the peer review

process, namely, reviewers, members of the Board, the Council, or any person who assists any

of these parties.

19.2 Those persons subject to the secrecy provision:

(1) Shall at all times after his/ their appointment preserve and aid-in preserving

secrecy with regard to any matter coming to his/their knowledge in the performance

or in assisting in the performance of any function, directly or indirectly related to the

process and conduct of peer review.

(2) Shall not at any time communicate any such matter to any other person; and

(3) Shall not at any time permit any other person to have any access to any record,

document or any other material if any form which is in his/their possession or

under his/their control by virtue of his/their being or having been so appointed or

his/their having performed or having assisted any other person in the performance

of such a function.

19.3 Non-compliance with the secrecy provisions in the above clause shall amount to

professional misconduct as defined under Section 22 of the Company Secretaries Act,1980.

19.4 A statement of confidentiality (appended as Annexure 'A') shall be filled in by the

persons who are responsible for the conduct of peer review i.e., reviewers/ the members of

the Board and others who assist them.

20. Procedural Departures

20.1 Where the persons who are responsible for the conduct of peer review (reviewers, the

members of the Board and others who assist them) have not followed the prescribed procedures,

they shall have to justify significant departures and such justification shall have to be

mandatorily made known to the Council in the periodic Reports of the Board to the Council.
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Annexure 'A’

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY

To,

[In accordance with the Guidelines on Peer Reviews this statement of confidentiality is

to be filled in by the persons who are responsible for the conduct of peer review i.e.,

reviewers, members of the Board and others who assist them, individually. The

Reviewer shall be responsible for taking this undertaking from all those persons who

assist him or are likely to assist him in conducting peer reviews, and shall send the same

to the Board. This statement of Confidentiality should be renewed every year.]

The Chairman

Peer Review Board

The Institute of Company Secretaries of India

Sir,

I hereby declare that my attention has been drawn to the need for confidentiality in the

conduct of peer reviews. I therefore undertake and assure that in so far as any or all of the

following relate to me or are brought to my knowledge/attention, in any manner whatsoever,

whensoever, I will ensure that on my part

— Working papers shall always be kept securely so that unauthorised access is not gained

by anyone.

— The practice unit's attestation services procedures shall not be disclosed to thirdparties.

— Any information with regard to any matter coming to my knowledge in the

performance or in assisting in the performance of any function during the conduct of

peer reviews shall not be disclosed to any person.

Access to any record, document or any other material, in any form which is in my

possession, or under my control, by virtue of my being or having been so appointed or my

having performed or having assisted any other person in the performance of such a function,

shall not at any time be permitted to any other person.

I understand that any breach of the provisions regarding confidential information contained

in the Guidelines on Peer Review will be considered as gross negligence and, subject to

investigation, will result in appropriate action.

Signature :

Name :

Designation:

Date :

Place :
Taken on record on date) By

Signature :

Name :

Designation:
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the partners for their amazing support,
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